

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

The Relationship Between Advanced Payment Model Providers and Patient Behavior

Harry Petaway Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Health and Medical Administration Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Health Professions

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Harry B. Petaway III

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Jeanne Connors, Committee Chairperson, Public Health Faculty Dr. Peter Anderson, Committee Member, Public Health Faculty Dr. Vasileios Margaritis, University Reviewer, Public Health Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2021

Abstract

The Relationship Between Advanced Payment Model Providers and Patient Behavior

by

Harry B. Petaway III

MPA, Western Michigan University, 2001

BS, Western Michigan University, 1997

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Public Health

Walden University

May 2021

Abstract

Public health initiatives include vaccination and screening efforts to reduce the burden of disease. This study addressed colorectal cancer (CRC) screening behaviors of accountable care organization (ACO) patients with different social determinants of health and providers' ability to comply with the Medicare Shared Savings Plan (MSSP) quality measure ACO #19. This study followed the socioecological model and a cross-sectional quantitative design to assess data from the MSSP public use file 2019 across three manuscripts to expand on current literature. The purpose was to determine whether patient behavior was the primary driver to improve healthcare quality. Study results showed that performance rates increased in ACOs that had a greater number of patients. ACOs with more non-White patients and more Medicaid patients were less successful with CRC screening. Performance was highest when more patients were between 65-85 years of age as compared to patients under 65 or over 85 years old. The implications for positive social change in this study include data for policy makers, health, and public health care professionals to reduce disparities for CRC screening and incidence of CRC among vulnerable populations. The data also support population health initiatives beyond CRC-related illness.

The Relationship Between Advanced Payment Model Providers and Patient Behavior

by

Harry B. Petaway III

MPA, Western Michigan University, 2001

BS, Western Michigan University, 1997

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Public Health

Walden University

May 2021

Dedication

I dedicate this dissertation to my wife, mother, brother, sister, and late father. Your love and support are my inspiration for social change. I dedicate this work to my teachers, coaches, and professors for grounding me with a work ethic that was invaluable during the dissertation process. Lastly, I dedicate this work to the members of my diversity, equity and inclusion resource group and all aspiring change agents focused on making health and wellness equitable and inclusive.

Acknowledgments

I acknowledge my family by blood and other for their outstanding support, motivation, and encouragement. I acknowledge the faculty and staff of Walden University who guided me on my doctoral journey. A humble thank you to my chairperson Dr. Jeanne Connors and committee member Dr. Peter Anderson for your relentless support. Lastly a special thank you to my URR Dr. Vasileios Margaritis for your expertise and guidance to complete my journey.

List of Tables
List of Figures
Part 1: Overview1
Introduction1
Problem
Contribution to Social Change
Background4
Key Variables and Alignment7
Conceptual Framework9
Overview of the Manuscripts10
Manuscript 1 11
Manuscript 2 13
Manuscript 3 14
Significance16
Policy17
Social Change
Summary19
Part 2: Manuscripts
The Relationship Between Advanced Payment Model Providers and Patient
Behavior: Practice Size and Provider Influence on Patient Behavior20
Outlet for Manuscript21

Table of Contents

Abstract
Introduction
Problem
Significance of the Study
Framework
Background
Research Questions and Design
Methods
Operational Definitions
Bias and Limitations
Scope and Delimitations
Design
Instrumentation
Participants
Data Sources
Results
Execution
Descriptive Statistics for all ACOs
Tests of Assumptions
Inferential Statistics Manuscript 1 41
Linear Regression
Discussion

Interpretation	44
Interpretation in the Context of the Socioecological Model	45
Limitations	46
Implications	46
Recommendations	48
Conclusion	49
References	52
Provider Influence on Patient Behavior Related the Population's Race, Age,	
and Gender	64
Outlet for Manuscript	65
Abstract	66
Introduction	67
Problem	67
Significance of the Study	68
Framework	69
Background	71
Research Question and Design	75
Methods	76
Operational Definitions	76
Bias and Limitations	77
Scope and Delimitations	77
Design	78

Instrumentation
Participants79
Data Sources
Results
Execution
Descriptive Statistics for all ACOs
Tests of Assumptions
Inferential Statistics Manuscript 2 85
Linear Regression
Discussion
Interpretation
Interpretation in the Context of the Socioecological Model
Limitations
Implications
Recommendations
Conclusion
References
Provider Influence on Patient Behavior Related to Population Insurance
Coverage110
Outlet for Manuscript111
Abstract112
Introduction113

Problem
Significance of the Study114
Framework 116
Background
Research Question and Design 122
Methods
Operational Definitions
Bias and Limitations
Scope and Delimitations
Design
Instrumentation
Participants126
Data Sources
Results
Execution
Percent of Medicaid Patients
Descriptive Statistics for all ACOs 129
Tests of Assumptions130
Inferential Statistics
Linear Regression
Discussion
Interpretation

Interpretation in the Context of the Socioecological Model	
Limitations	
Implications	135
Recommendations	137
Conclusion	138
References	141
Part 3: Summary	154
Integration of the Studies	154
Conclusion	155
References	158

List of Tables

Table 1. Variables and Statistical Tests Used to Evaluate Research Questions 38
Table 2. ACO #19 Performance Range and Frequency
Table 3. Range and Frequency of Primary Care Providers in ACOs 39
Table 4. Range and Percentage of Attributions Across All ACOs 40
Table 5. Range and Percentage of Attribution
Table 6. Correlation Between ACO #19 Performance and Practice Size 43
Table 7. Variables and Statistical Tests Used to Evaluate Research Questions 82
Table 8. ACO #19 Performance Range and Frequency
Table 9. Range and Frequency of Primary Care Providers in ACOs 83
Table 10. Range and Percentage of Attributions Across all ACOs 84
Table 11. Range and Percentage of Attribution 84
Table 12. Correlation Between Attribution Age and Performance
Table 13. Correlation Between Attribution Race and CRC Screening
Table 14. Variables and Statistical Tests Used to Evaluate Research Questions
Table 15. ACO #19 Performance Range and Frequency
Table 16. Range and Percentage of Attribution Across all ACOs 129
Table 17. Range and Percentage of Attribution
Table 18. Correlation Between Medicaid and ACO #19 Performance

List of Figures

Figure 1. Normal Q-Q Plot for ACO #19 Performance	
Figure 2. ACO Practice Size Attribution	
Figure 3. Normal Q-Q Plot for ACO #19 Performance	85
Figure 5. Normal Q-Q Plot for ACO #19 Performance	131
Figure 6. ACO #19 Score and percent of Medicaid	

Part 1: Overview

Introduction

Health care delivery and public health have overlapping goals to improve health outcomes in their communities through vaccination and screening. The paths toward these goals are influenced by factors like policies, funding sources, and external demands that guide community-based organizations' and health care and public health organizations' decisions (Cunningham et al., 2020). To address rising healthcare costs in the United States (Shrank et al., 2019) as well as significant disparities in health outcomes across the population (Foo et al., 2017), public, community, and clinical health professionals in several communities have partnered to form organizations designed to improve public health by addressing social determinants of health and influencing individual behavior (Bachrach et al., 2016; Noble et al., 2014). For example, the Institute of Healthcare Improvement's Quadruple Aim outlined a framework to improve health outcomes, lower healthcare costs, improve patient experience, and improve clinician satisfaction (Wagner et al., 2018). Experimental alternative payment delivery models (APM) were created with varying success to influence components of the Quadruple Aim (Noble et al., 2014).

Additionally, population engagement can lead to behaviors that result in healthier outcomes, which may also reduce the overall cost of care (Grand et al., 2014; Simmons et al., 2014). Two population-based behaviors intended to reduce the burden of disease include vaccinations and screenings (Siewert et al., 2020). Over 34,000 Americans died from influenza during the 2018–2019 influenza season, which included nearly 500,000 hospitalizations and an estimated 35.5 million people who became sick; however, the general rate of behavior adoption for influenza vaccinations in the United States is less than 50%, with rates among people aged 65 year and older approximately 65% (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2019). But physicians are often the first line of defense to promote the behaviors that influence public health (Redwood et al., 2016).

Another example of population-based behavior is colon cancer screening. In 2016, colorectal cancer (CRC) was the third leading cancer diagnosed for U.S. citizens, excluding skin cancers, with an estimated 40,000 deaths attributed to colon cancer (Bachman et al., 2018). Individuals who are overweight, use alcohol, smoke, practice risky sex, and are physically inactive are at higher risk of CRC (Bachman et al., 2018). These risks are influenced by individuals' behavior; however, CRC screening can provide early identification of CRC and improve health outcomes (Bachman et al., 2018). But there are significant differences in CRC screening rates across, racial, and sociodemographic populations (Bachman et al., 2018). Cancer screening rates have also declined due to the COVID-19 pandemic especially for minority populations, which is expected to lead to increase cancer for all populations (Carethers et al., 2020). Before the pandemic, physicians enrolled in accountable care organizations (ACOs) were measured on the success rate of CRC screening for their patients through the performance measure ACO #19 of the standards of the Medicare Shared Savings Plan (MSSP) for CRC Screening (Smith et al., 2019). Medicare recognized four methods of CRC screening that vary in complexity and invasiveness: fecal immunochemical test, fecal occult blood test, multitarget stool DNA test and colonoscopy (Smith et al., 2019).

Problem

Health care delivery and public health have overlapping efforts like health screening activities to lower the burden of disease (Cunningham et al., 2020). Though patient behavior is the key to improve quality and health outcomes, there are barriers to influence individual behavior (Morge et al., 2019). Moreover, there are disparities in compliance among people with health behavior recommendations based on factors like age, gender, insurance coverage, and the size of their providers' practices (Kiviniemi et al., 2018; Manteuffel et al., 2014). Data on the patient experience are abundant and available through performance reporting, from sources like the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS, n.d.), and patient perspectives toward patient engagement are well documented in the literature (Rowland et al., 2017). However, provider success and strategies to engage community members attributed to their APMs has not been comprehensively explored (Andrealli et al., 2018; Bekmuratova et al., 2019; Berenson et al., 2016; Chen et al., 2016). Thus, there is an inability to replicate best practices for population engagement, which could improve health outcomes, participant experiences, lower costs, and improve job satisfaction.

Contribution to Social Change

Partnerships between community-based organizations, health care delivery, and public health organizations improve public health outcomes (Cunningham et al., 2020). My study addressed the gap in research by focusing on providers' abilities to influence APM participant behavior. The results may contribute to positive social change by providing meaningful data to public health partnerships that impact community health outcomes. Thus, my study could improve the ability to influence the behaviors and health outcomes of the community members they serve.

Background

ACOs are one of the APMs designed to alter the reimbursement of healthcare services from a traditional fee-for-service structure to a value-based care model. The initial performance under the Medicare ACO model reduced healthcare expenditures within the attributed population base when compared to traditional Medicare fee-forservice beneficiaries (Nywelde et al., 2015). CMS measures ACO providers across four domains: care coordination, patient safety, patient experience, and preventative health (Mod et al., 2018). Providers are rewarded for the decreased cost of patient care and achievement of various quality metrics outlined in their ACO contracts. Studies have shown that many healthcare providers including those in underserved areas saw ACOs as a means to achieve greater quality while improving population health (Bekmuratova et al., 2019; Berenson et al., 2016). Furthermore, some organizations believed that improving health outcomes outweighed financial incentives (Phipps-Taylor & Shortell, 2016). Conversely, some providers avoided ACO membership because they did not have the infrastructures or collaborative relationships in place to succeed (Bekmuratova et al., 2019), though there has been growing emphasis on preventative care and more collaboration between healthcare providers and traditional public health organizations (Ingram et al., 2015). This is particularly true for cancer prevention initiatives (Basch et al., 2016).

CRC is a leading cause of death in the United States and can be reduced with early detection (Lloyd, 2016). However, almost 25% of adults between 76 and 84 did not meet the U.S. Preventative Services Task Force recommendations for CRC screening before the advent of Medicare ACOs. Furthermore, the early rates of provider recommendations for appropriate CRC screening were very low (Klabunde et al., 2015).

Patient behavior may be the primary driver of improving screening rates, as there has been association between patient behavior, the patient-provider relationship, and adherence to suggested clinical guidelines (Gudzune et al., 2014; Manteuffel et al., 2014). Several studies offered anecdotal patient interventions that increased patient success (Nathan et al., 2016; Singal et al., 2017; Slyne et al., 2017). Moreover, culturally competent approaches are important (Alsayid et al., 2019; Brittain & Murphy, 2015; Chen et al., 2016). Studies also documented perceived barriers as articulated by the provider and provider characteristics that influenced their decision making and ability to succeed (Mastrokostas et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2018). This included the ability to verify the patient's CRC status or availability of specialists (Mastrokostas et al., 2018). For example, a provider recommendation is a primary influence on whether patients participate in CRC screenings (Bian et al., 2016; Bromley et al., 2015), which has been recommended more with health information technology to help alert a patient's CRC risk (Kim et al., 2017; Mankaney et al., 2019). Additionally, it is important to implement systems that support patient engagement activities that influence behavior like motivational interviewing, goal setting, and shared decision making (Mishra et al., 2018). However, some providers have lacked the depth of understanding and practice to

implement these concepts in a meaningful way, and some provider experiences with difficult patients have led to feeling anxious, frustrated, and uncertain with little preparation for how to handle difficult patients (Shapiro et all, 2018).

Ineffective communication and perceived provider uncertainty may also influence patient decision-making process (Beverly et al., 2016). Patients' expectations of providers based on provider characteristics like age, race, and gender also influence their decisions (Alspach, 2018; Mast & Kadji, 2018). For example, uncertainty among female providers was seen as a form of truthfulness, whereas the trait generated mistrust for male providers (Mast & Kadji, 2018). Trust has also been demonstrated to be a contributing factor behind non-compliance of CRC screening for Hispanic patients (Hong et al., 2018).

Fear is another influencer of compliance for all patients, especially for African American patients (Basch et al., 2016; Bromley et al., 2015; Hall et al., 2016; Kiviniemi, Klasko-Foster et al., 2018; Mastrokostas et al., 2018). Fear presents in the form of fear of the findings from the procedure as well as fear of the procedure itself (Bromley et al., 2015). Colonoscopy is the most popular form of CRC screening, which includes multiple steps like scheduling, bowel preparation, sedation and the procedure itself; some of which contain multiple levels of compliance (Powers & Keohane, 2018). Strategies such as enhanced written education, media campaigns, and videos improve compliance with bowel preparations (Andrealli et al., 2018; Cole et al., 2019; Essink-Bot et al., 2016). However, they have been less effective to improve patient health literacy and compliance for completing a colonoscopy (Clark et al., 2017; Enard et al., 2015; Mishra et al., 2018). Further, studies suggest CRC compliance varies with the type of test offered, which could impact how providers achieve patient compliance with their recommendations (Alsayid et al., 2019; Basch et al., 2016; Bian et al., 2016; Brenner & Chen, 2017; Bromley et al., 2015; Chambers et al., 2016). Medicare recognizes four methods of CRC screening to achieve compliance with the ACO #19 measure: colonoscopy, DNA, stool testing, and fecal occult blood test (Prince et al., 2017).

Key Variables and Alignment

I explored the preventative quality performance measure (ACO #19) for CRC screening under MSSP ACO guidelines as the dependent variable across all three manuscripts. I explored how the independent variables of patient demographic characteristics race, age, gender, and insurance coverage predict performance. I also examined the relationship between practice size (i.e., size of attribution and number of primary care providers) and ACO #19. Manuscript 1 quantified overall performance of ACO #19 based on practice size followed by the influence of patient characteristics in Manuscript 2 and insurance coverage in Manuscript 3.

Provider performance continues to be assessed by CMS (Preston et al., 2018). Most high performing ACOs have had positive collaboration with a hospital, established physicians focused on performance improvement, sophisticated information technology infrastructure, care coordinators, physician feedback, and an effective physician practice before joining the ACO (D'aunno et al., 2018). However, providers who had low quality metric measures before starting their ACO agreement had more room to improve and thus more to gain from their agreements (Green et al., 2015). Moreover, this range for improvement narrowed in subsequent years once the provider's performance level reached that of their peers. Assessments on the performance of the first ACOs also showed an increase in CRC screening for patients 65 years or older when compared to non-ACO patients or the start of the ACO model (Preston et al., 2018). Studies have also indicated that strategies to improve CRC screening rates include patient reminder programs (Gauci et al., 2018; Grimes et al., 2019), patient outreach programs (Singal et al., 2017), patient financial incentives (Mehta et al., 2019), embedded care coordinators and various patient decision aids (Reuland et al., 2017).

Despite these strategies to increase engagement, significant disparities for screening rates have been found between White and non-White ACO members (Bromley et al., 2015). Additionally, the trend to improve quality measures has not been the case for ACOs in underserved communities or those with a higher number of minority patients (Bromley et al., 2015; Lewis et al., 2017). Yet provider payments continue to be the direct result of their ability to meet established benchmarks, including those for CRC screenings, which are ultimately based on patient behavior.

Additionally, communication is a strategy often cited for improved patient outcomes (Ahmed & Bates, 2016; Alsayid et al., 2019; Beverly et al., 2016; Bientzle et al., 2015), but there are racial disparities in patient–physician communication (Foo et al., 2017). Physician's race has predicted the amount of time the physician spent talking with patients and the level of empathy they displayed. Research has also reported racial, socioeconomic, and gender bias among healthcare providers when making medical decisions (Williams, 2015), though some studies have found no relation to these characteristics and provider decisions (Haider et al., 2015). Regardless, tailored communication based on patient characteristics can improve communication and patient engagement (Hagiwara et al., 2018), and the disconnect for cancer screening between the patient and provider has been compounded by the lack of provider continuity for minority patients (Arnold et al., 2017).

Socioeconomic status is also a patient characteristic and determinant of CRC screening completion (Farrukh & Mayberry, 2019). Some ACO populations include underserved and vulnerable patients who are covered by Medicaid in addition to their Medicare coverage (Powers & Keohane, 2018). But studies have suggested that lower socioeconomic patients and Medicaid patients experienced bias when they pursued CRC screening (Davis et al., 2017). For example, Nymo et al. (2018) reported that patients with lower income experienced longer wait times when they scheduled CRC screening procedures, whereas patients with higher income were prioritized to enhance their patient experience and satisfaction. Though other studies have suggested Medicaid patients received more opportunities for CRC screening as care coordination improved for dual eligible patients (Craver et al., 2018), providers must be aware of both intentional and unintended bias when working with patients from different cultures and socioeconomic groups (Alspach, 2018).

Conceptual Framework

The socioecological model (SEM) guided my cross-sectional quantitative study in assessing data from the MSSP 2018 public use file (PUF). Under the SEM, provider performance is affected by factors that influence both their decision making and their

effectiveness to influence patient behavior (Rabarison et al., 2013). SEM posits five categorical levels that affect behavior change: the individual, interpersonal, organizational, community/environment, and society/policy levels (Lampard et al., 2013). Though the factors of the SEM are hierarchical, they are also integrated, and a change in one area could impact others (Coreil, 2009).

The positivist ontology also guided my study. Positivism implies that there is a single truth (Burkholder et al., 2016). Medicare reports ACO #19 measure attainment through a PUF; thus, these results reflect a single truth of their performance. In Manuscript 1 I determined how provider size correlates to ACO #19 measure attainment. In Manuscript 2 I determined how patients' race, age, and gender predicted providers' ACO #19 measure attainment. In Manuscript 3 I determined how insurance coverage predicted how effective providers were at achieving ACO #19 measure attainment. The findings for each manuscript were the source of truth under the positivist ontology for my study.

Overview of the Manuscripts

My study provides a more comprehensive assessment of the physicians' ability to influence patient behavior than quantitative data like those from CMS. The U.S. health care system is unsustainable with many health disparities across the population (Foo et al., 2017; Shrank et al., 2019). Thus, there is need to lower health care costs by influencing patient behavior protects vulnerable U.S. citizens at risk if the U.S. healthcare system collapses. A social justice perspective also applies to my study if findings can supplement previous research that shows differences in provider performance or experiences correlating to race, gender, or socioeconomic status of their patients (Foo et al., 2017). The manuscripts were tied by the overarching theme of physicians' influence on patient behavior. The manuscripts were framed as parallel projects where data collection was captured at the same time, then reported based on the research goals of each manuscript.

Manuscript 1

Problem

Health care delivery and public health professionals form partnerships to reduce the burden of disease and are influenced by policies, healthcare costs, funding sources, and external demand (Cunningham et al., 2020). The MSSP ACO is an APM designed to curb cost and improve patient outcomes for colon cancer among other disease measures. Since CRC is a leading cause of death in the United States (Loyd, 2016), more research is needed to determine the impact of MSSP ACO providers on CRC screening.

Research Question

Based on the performance measures of the MSSP, what is the relationship between practice size and compliance with MSSP performance measure ACO #19?

 H_0 : There are no statistically significant differences in the compliance of MSSP performance measure ACO #19 based on practice size.

 H_a : There are statistically significant differences in the compliance of MSSP performance measure ACO #19 based on practice size.

Nature of the Study

My cross-sectional quantitative study employed the MSSP PUF for secondary data analysis to examine the association between the independent variable practice size and the dependent variable of compliance with MSSP performance measure ACO #19. The 2019 MSSP PUF was used as a data source.

Limitations, Challenges, and/or Barriers

The MSSP PUF is a secondary data set and has a 1-year delay in reporting. A limitation to using the MSSP PUF file is that all quantitative data are restricted to the variables within the data set. For example, the Preventative Health Domain represents provider influence on patient behavior. These include public health initiatives presented by Healthy People 2020 like getting a flu shot during flu season, a plan to reduce unhealthy body weight, receiving help/information for tobacco use, getting a pneumonia vaccine, and screening for CRC (CMS, n.d.). My study examined ACO #19 or colon cancer screening, which is the most complex measure of behavior change captured by MSSP reporting (CMS, 2017). However, the MSSP PUF database provided an adequate sample size for successful compliance with ACO #19 to meet the statistical requirements of my study.

Other Information

My study assessed health professional's influence on complex patient behavior. The MSSP ACO PUF contains physician performance against 32 measures across four domains (CMS, n.d.). The results were the official CMS findings and used to pay provider incentives (Noble et al., 2014). Therefore, these measures were valid representations of physician performance.

Manuscript 2

Problem

CRC is a leading cause of death in the United States, with significant disparities between population groups (Loyd, 2016). The MSSP ACO is an APM designed to curb cost, improve patient outcomes for colon cancer and other disease measures. But more research is needed to determine the impact of MSSP ACOs on CRC screening for different types of patients.

Research Question

Based on the performance measures of the MSSP, what is the relationship between the ACO population's demographics race, age, and gender and compliance with MSSP performance measure ACO #19?

 H_0 : There are no statistically significant differences in compliance with MSSP performance measure ACO #19 based on the ACO population's demographics, race, age, and gender.

 H_a : There are statistically significant differences in compliance with MSSP performance measure ACO #19 based on the ACO population's demographics, race, age, and gender.

Nature of the Study

The nature of Manuscript 2 was a cross-sectional quantitative study and employed the MSSP PUF for secondary data analysis to examine the association between the independent variables race, age, and gender and the dependent variable of compliance with MSSP performance measure ACO #19. Again, the 2019 MSSP PUF was the primary data source.

Limitations, Challenges, and/or Barriers

The MSSP PUF is a secondary data set and has a 1-year delay in reporting. A limitation to using the MSSP PUF file is that all quantitative data are restricted to the variables within the data set. For example, the Preventative Health Domain represents provider influence on patient behavior. These include public health initiatives presented by Healthy People 2020 like getting a flu shot during flu season, a plan to reduce unhealthy body weight, receiving help/information for tobacco use, getting a pneumonia vaccine, and screening for CRC (CMS, n.d.). My study examined ACO #19 or colon cancer screening, which is the most complex measure of behavior change captured by MSSP reporting (CMS, 2017). However, the MSSP PUF database provided an adequate sample size for successful compliance with ACO #19 to meet the statistical requirements of my study.

Manuscript 3

Problem

CRC is a leading cause of death in the United States, with significant disparities between population groups (Loyd, 2016). The MSSP ACO is an APM designed to curb cost, improve patient outcomes for colon cancer and other quality measures. Studies suggest bias and disparities for patients based on sociodemographic status (Foo et al., 2017). Furthermore, research has demonstrated disparities in CRC screening based on insurance type (Kiviniemi et al., 2018). Thus, ore research is needed to determine the impact of MSSP ACO on CRC screening for patients with different types of insurance.

Research Question

Based on the performance measures of the MSSP, what is the relationship between insurance coverage and compliance with MSSP performance measure ACO #19?

 H_0 : There are no statistically significant differences in compliance with MSSP performance measure ACO #19 based on insurance coverage.

 H_{a} : There are statistically significant differences in compliance with MSSP performance measure ACO #19 based on insurance coverage.

Nature of the Study

The nature of Manuscript 3 was a cross-sectional quantitative study and employed the MSSP PUF for secondary data analysis to examine the association between the independent variable insurance coverage and the dependent variable of compliance with MSSP performance measure ACO #19. Again, the primary source of data was the 2019 MSSP PUF.

Limitations, Challenges, and/or Barriers

The MSSP PUF is a secondary data set and has a 1-year delay in reporting. A limitation to using the MSSP PUF file is that all quantitative data are restricted to the variables within the data set. For example, the Preventative Health Domain represents provider influence on patient behavior. These include public health initiatives presented by Healthy People 2020 like getting a flu shot during flu season, a plan to reduce

unhealthy body weight, receiving help/information for tobacco use, getting a pneumonia vaccine, and screening for CRC (CMS, n.d.). My study examined ACO #19 or colon cancer screening, which is the most complex measure of behavior change captured by MSSP reporting (CMS, 2017). However, the MSSP PUF database provided an adequate sample size for successful compliance with ACO #19 to meet the statistical requirements of my study.

Significance

Each manuscript provided data that may improve the strategies public health and health care delivery professionals use to reduce the burden of CRC. I addressed a gap in research in Manuscript 1 to show how ACOs with more patients were more compliant with CRC screening recommendations, though results indicated that more non-White patients were less compliant with screenings and the number of providers in an ACO did not influence compliance with the measure. In Manuscript 2, I expanded on current literature on disparities in CRC screening based on race, age, and gender. I found that ACOs with more Black patients were less compliant with ACO #19. I also demonstrated that ACOs with patients between the age of 65–85 more likely meet CRC recommendations. Lastly, I addressed a gap in research in manuscript 3 to show ACO #19 performance decreases as the number of Medicaid patients in the population increases.

My research can help decrease disparities for CRC screening and incidence of CRC among vulnerable populations. Furthermore, the data may help public health professionals, community advocates, and healthcare providers drive behavior adoption for their community members. Lastly, my study provides a foundation for population health initiatives beyond CRC related illness.

Policy

Alternative practice models incorporate value-based care methodologies that move health care away from a costly volume-driven fee-for-service structure toward quality incentivized population health management frameworks, many of which hinge on partnerships between primary care physicians and public health organizations (Nywelde et al., 2015). Manuscript 1 applies to policies that govern the minimum number of patients in ACOs that might influence CRC screening rates for elderly patients. Furthermore, the results can influence policy related to provider patient ratios. Manuscript 2 applies to policies that support health and wellness initiatives in communities of color and patients aged 65 year and older. Manuscript 3 can influence policy related to insurance coverage particularly for Medicaid and Medicare patients, applying toward additional policies for lower socioeconomic populations as to the eligibility for these services and the scope of benefits they receive.

Overall, my study will influence policy by outlining the success, shortcomings, and possible rationale for health outcomes. This could provide policymakers a unique perspective to maintain or improve the MSSP ACO program or other partnership approach programs between community organizations, healthcare delivery, and public health organizations.

Social Change

Each manuscript promotes positive social change by providing meaningful data to the public health organization and health care provider partnerships engaged in transforming healthcare from a transactional delivery system to an evidence-based system of value (Berenson et al., 2016). Manuscript 1 may improve public health and healthcare professionals' ability to influence the behaviors and health outcomes of the community members they serve and provide an evidence-based approach to determining the structure or model for programs designed to improve health outcomes. Manuscript 2 can help decrease the prevalence and disparities of CRC and by doing so reduce the economic and quality of life burden for individuals and communities suffering from the disease. Moreover, Manuscripts 2 and 3 may help to reduce disparities for CRC screening and incidence of CRC among vulnerable populations.

Overall, my study provides a foundation for population health initiatives beyond CRC related illness, thus improving the well-being of communities and increase public health emergency preparedness. Therefore, my study can improve public health and healthcare professionals' ability to influence the behaviors and health outcomes of the community members they serve. My findings can guide both public health and healthcare provider leaders on ways to train professionals better, reduce frustration, improve success, and achieve higher levels of satisfaction in their work both in routine interventions and public health emergencies.

Summary

Each manuscript explores Medicare's MSSP ACOs as one of the interventions initiated by CMS to promote collaboration, better health outcomes, and lower costs of care for patients 65 years or older (Noble et al., 2014). One component of ACOs includes preventative care (Noble et al., 2014). Public health professional and healthcare providers have mutual interest to increase appropriate CRC screening rates to reduce the incidence, economic burden, and mortality from CRC (Bachman et al., 2018; Bachrach et al., 2016). But studies suggest disparities among the population for age, sex, and ethnicity (Bachman et al., 2018). Studies also show an ongoing variance of care delivered to people with different levels and type of insurance coverage (Kiviniemi et al., 2018; Manteuffel et al., 2014). Thus, I assessed the effectiveness of meeting CRC screening guidelines based on provider size, patient characteristics variables and patient insurance type for ACO #19 measures for CRC screening.

Part 2: Manuscripts

The Relationship Between Advanced Payment Model Providers and Patient Behavior: Practice Size and Provider Influence on Patient Behavior

Harry Petaway, MPA

Walden University

Objective: This study assesses the preventative quality performance measure (ACO #19) for colon cancer screening under Medicare Shared Savings Plan ACO guidelines. I quantified the overall performance of ACO #19 based on provider practice size.

Methods: A cross-sectional quantitative study was conducted for organizations who participate as a Medicare Shared Savings Plan Accountable Care Organization. The research included secondary data analysis of the 2019 Medicare Shared Savings Plan PUF on quality performance.

Outlet for Manuscript

The *American Journal of Public Health* (AJPH) is the intended journal for this manuscript (https://ajph.aphapublications.org/). The initial submission requires a title page with the manuscript title, author name and affiliations, and full abstract and the manuscript with author and university information removed. In addition, the manuscript should contain the following elements:

- a. Title and abstract
- b. page numbers
- numbered lines (in Word, > Page Setup > Line Numbers > Continuous)
 throughout the text of the manuscript;
- d. 1.5 or double spacing with a font size of 12
- e. tables and figures embedded at the end of the manuscript, OR uploaded as separate files

Submission also requires a cover letter with concise text (maximum 150 words) that provides a description of what the paper adds to the knowledge on the topic, especially in respect to material previously published in the journal and elsewhere; includes the public health importance of the paper; and highlights the main message of the paper in one sentence. With the exception of history essays, all AJPH articles follow the AMA Manual of Style, 10th Edition. Substantive notes and footnotes are not permitted.
Abstract

Public health efforts include vaccination and screening initiatives to reduce the burden of disease. This study focused on colorectal cancer (CRC) screening behaviors of accountable care organization (ACO) patients of different population sizes. It addressed performance among organizations based on the number of primary care providers in the ACO. This study used the socioecological model and a cross-sectional quantitative design to assess data from the Medicare Shared Savings Plan public use file 2019 to expand on current literature that determined patient behavior was the primary driver to improve healthcare quality and reduce costs. ACOs with more patients generally had better CRC screening compliance. However, the results showed that ACOs with more non-White patients were less successful. Results also indicated that participating in an ACO may mediate the constraints of smaller provider practices to improve patient care, though the results found that lesser numbers of primary care providers in an ACO did not negatively influence performance. The implications for positive social change include data to reduce disparities for CRC screening and incidence of CRC among vulnerable populations and provide a foundation for population health initiatives and policies beyond CRC related illness, which can improve the well-being of communities and increase public health emergency preparedness.

Introduction

Healthcare costs in the United States are rising at an unsustainable rate and include significant disparities in health outcomes that have been attributed to social determinants of health (Foo et al., 2017; Noble et al., 2014). Physicians and public health professionals lead much of the effort to manage this public health crisis (Ingram et al., 2015). As a result, public health agencies and clinical health organizations have formed partnerships in several communities to form new public healthcare delivery models (Noble et al., 2014). These partnerships were designed to improve health by influencing individual behavior and addressing social determinants of health (Bachrach et al., 2016). For example, the Institute of Healthcare Improvement's Quadruple Aim outlined a framework to improve health outcomes, lower healthcare costs, improve patient experience, and improve clinician satisfaction (Wagner et al., 2018). This contributed to the development of experimental alternative payment delivery models (APMs) to achieve components of the Quadruple Aim, but these new designs had varying degrees of success (Noble et al., 2014). Studies have shown that population engagement was essential to guide community members toward behaviors that lead to healthier outcomes, which could reduce the overall cost of care (Grand et al., 2014); however, there was little evidence of which strategies were most successful at influencing the population's behavior.

Problem

Physicians have indicated that patient behavior is the key to improve health quality and outcomes, yet many have found it difficult to influence individual behavior

(Hibbard et al., 2015). Moreover, researchers have found disparities in patient compliance with health behavior recommendations (Kiviniemi et al., 2018; Manteuffel et al., 2014) linked to patient characteristics and provider variables like the size of provider practices (Kiviniemi et al., 2018; Manteuffel et al., 2014). Data on the patient experience are captured through performance reporting by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS, n.d.), and patient perspectives toward patient engagement have been well documented in the literature (Rowland et al., 2017). However, provider experiences, perceptions, success, and strategies to engage community members attributed to their APMs are not represented in detail in previous research (Andrealli et al., 2018; Bekmuratova et al., 2019; Berenson et al., 2016; Chen et al., 2016). Thus, there is an inability to replicate the best practices for population engagement that improve participant experiences, job satisfaction, health outcomes, and lower costs. I addressed this gap in research by focusing on the relationship of practice size and providers' influence on APM patient behavior. I explored the preventative quality performance measure for colon cancer screening ACO #19 for the Medicare Shared Savings Plan (MSSP) accountable care organization (ACO) guidelines.

Significance of the Study

APMs introduced patient engagement initiatives to lower healthcare costs in the United States with different levels of success (Noble et al., 2014). Extensive quantitative data on APM quality are captured by CMS performance reports (CMS, n.d.). The literature, however, has not shown evidence on why physicians were successful at influencing patient behavior. For example, Smiddy et al. (2015) showed that financial incentives increased the number of focus groups in the United Kingdom but found little impact on the quality of care delivered. In the current study, I explored provider experiences with managing patient populations of different sizes and ethnicities to explain to what degree they affect patient behavior compared to the measures that determine their payments and further explain the impact of provider collaboration within advanced payment models on their outcomes. My study showed that ACOs with larger patient populations were more compliant with CRC screening recommendations, and ACOs with more non-White patients were less compliant with screenings. Further, the number of providers in an ACO did not influence compliance with the measure.

Relevant Contribution to the Body of Knowledge

This manuscript is the first of three manuscripts to a cross-sectional quantitative study to explore the preventative quality performance for colon cancer screening under MSSP ACO guidelines. My broader study explores how patient demographic characteristics race, age, gender, and insurance coverage predict performance. The purpose of my study was to assess the relationship between practice size and provider effectiveness at influencing patient behavior as measured by the compliance of MSSP performance measure ACO #19. This manuscript fills a gap in research by focusing on provider practice characteristics. My cross-sectional study provides a more comprehensive assessment of physician influence on patient behavior than studies like those from CMS.

Framework

The socioecological model (SEM) guided my cross-sectional quantitative study in assessing data from the MSSP public use file (PUF). Under the SEM, provider performance is affected by factors that influence both their decision making and their effectiveness to change patient behavior (Rabarison et al., 2013). SEM posits five categorical levels which affect behavior change: the individual, interpersonal, organizational, community/environment, and society/policy levels (Lampard et al., 2013). Though the factors of the SEM are hierarchical, they are also integrated, and a change in one area could impact others (Coreil, 2009).

The positivist ontology also guided my study. Positivism implies that there is a single truth (Burkholder et al., 2016). Medicare reports ACO #19 measure attainment through a PUF; thus, these results reflect a single truth of their performance. I showed how the number of providers in an ACO and the size of the patient population correlate to their ACO #19 measure attainment. These findings are the source of truth under the positivist ontology for my study. Additionally, the definition of "provider success" is precise and supports a quantitative ontology of positivism where there is one true reality (Burkholder et al., 2016). Positivism guided my cross-sectional quantitative study to answer the question "How effective were providers at influencing patient behavior based on the performance measure ACO #19 of the Medicaid Shared Savings Plan?" I analyzed archival data from the CMS to support the positivist approach to my research question (Burkholder et al., 2016).

My study is influenced by multiple contexts. The personal contexts for my study include my knowledge and experience with advance payment models and patient engagement. The social contexts include CMS guidelines, the fluidity of US healthcare policy, political climate, geographic locations, and local healthcare delivery priorities. Lastly, interpersonal contexts include Walden University dissertation committee representatives.

Background

The first ACOs were created to reduce preventable health problems amid cost constraints have varied in United States (Noble et al., 2014). Hibbard et al. (2015) documented that compensation from similar models used in other countries influenced physician opinions on the importance of patient behavior. They further provided evidence that patient behavior was the primary driver of improving quality (Hibbard et al., 2015). Other studies showed that improvements in patient engagement lead to better health outcomes (Simmons et al., 2014; Grand et al., 2014)), and that both independent healthcare professionals and healthcare organizations committed significant investments to improve outcomes, lower costs and improve patient experiences (Nwelde et al., 2015).

Physicians in the United States agreed that patient behavior was the key determinant to improve quality and outcomes, yet, many found frustration when trying to influence individual behavior (Hibbard et al., 2015). While many providers perceived their role in the community and within population health as "medicine-based"; a growing emphasis on preventative care and the diverse characteristics of their patient attribution fostered better collaboration between healthcare providers and traditional public health organizations (Ingram et al., 2015). This was particularly true for mutual objectives such as cancer prevention (Basch et al., 2016).

Research showed that differences in the structures of provider practices influenced their capacities to provide care and influence patient behavior (Casalino & Chenven, 2017; Casalino et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2017; Pineault et al., 2016). These included financial stability, training, staff, and other key resources like health information technology (Casalino & Chenven, 2017; Casalino et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2017). However, researchers have suggested that some providers believed collaborative partnerships might mediate resource constraints tied to their practice size and geographic designation (Kim et al., 2017). Other evidence showed that the collective patient population was based partly on their practice size and was a key determinant of their success with CMS quality measurements (Greene et al., 2015).

ACOs were designed to shift the focus of healthcare services from a traditional fee for service structure to a value-based care model tied to better health outcomes (Noble et al., 2014). Nyweide et al. (2015) proved the initial performance under the Medicare ACO model lowered costs when compared to traditional Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries. The CMS measures ACO providers across four domains, which include care coordination, patient safety, patient experience, and preventative health (Mod et al., 2018). Providers are paid more for achieving multiple quality metrics outlined in their ACO contracts and for the providing care at a lower cost. as well as (Noble et al., 2014). Studies showed that many healthcare providers including those in underserved areas saw ACOs as a means to provide greater quality while improving population health (Bekmuratova et al., 2019; Berenson et al., 2016). Furthermore, some organizations perceived the goal to improve patient care, simply outweighed any financial rewards they may receive (Phipps-Taylor & Shortell, 2016). Conversely, other evidence showed that providers avoided ACO membership as they did not have the infrastructures or collaborative relationships in place to succeed (Bekmuratova et al.).

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is a leading cause of death in the United States (Lloyd, 2016). The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention estimated over 40,000 deaths attributed to colon cancer in 2016 (Bachman et al., 2018). CRC screening is a key public health focus and measurement of ACOs. The risk of CRC mortality can be reduced with early detection (Lloyd, 2016). Focused efforts to increase CRC screening led to an overall reduction of CRC related deaths in the last decade; yet, several disparities continue to exist across, socioeconomic and racial/ethnic boundaries (Bromley, May, Federer, Spiegel, & Van Oijen, 2015). Klabunde et al. (2015) reported that almost 25% of adults between 76 and 84 did not meet the U.S. Preventative Services Task Force recommendations for CRC screening before the advent of Medicare ACOs. Furthermore, the incidence of provider recommendations for appropriate CRC screening was very low (Klabunde et al., 2015). This problem was further compounded with racial disparities for non-White patients who were less likely to complete screening and had an increased prevalence of adverse health outcomes as a result (Klabunde et al.).

A growing body of evidence also documented disproportionate racial and socioeconomic disparities and highlighted the diverse needs to motivate patients toward compliance (Ashktorab et al., 2017; Bromley et al., 2015; Burnett-Hartman et al., 2016; Chablani et al., 2017). Several studies offered anecdotal patient interventions which increased patient success (Nathan et al., 2016; Singal et al., 2017; Slyne et al., 2017). Studies which focused on patient experience suggested culturally competent approaches based on different patient characteristics (Alsayid et al., 2019; Brittain & Murphy, 2015; Chen et al., 2016). Research also documented provider perceptions of barriers and provider characteristics that influenced their decision making and success (Mastrokostas et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2018). These included the basic ability to verify their patients' correct CRC status and the clinician's ability to confer with specialists (Mastrokostas et al., 2018).

For example, a provider recommendation was a primary influence on whether patients of all demographic groups participated in CRC screenings (Bian et al., 2016; Bromley et al., 2015). Some studies showed that health information technologies that shared patient information, alerted providers to the patient's CRC risk and screening status nudged providers to provide CRC screening recommendations (Kim et al., 2017b; Mankaney et al., 2019). Additionally, other studies reiterated the importance of Patient Behavior on quality performance and the need to implement systems to support patient engagement activities that influence behavior (Mishra et al., 2018). These included the concepts of, motivational interviewing, goal setting, and shared decision making (Mishra et al., 2018). However, a study conducted by Mishra and colleagues (2018) showed that while providers were aware of these concepts, they lacked the depth of understanding and practice to implement them in a meaningful way. Shapiro et al. (2018) further described provider experiences with tough to manage patients in which providers described themselves as anxious, frustrated, and uncertain with little preparation for how to handle difficult patients.

Ineffective communication and perceived provider uncertainty may influence patient decision-making process (Beverly et al., 2016). This can also be confounded by patients' expectations based on the provider's characteristics such as age, race, gender and experience (Alspach, 2018; Mast & Kadji, 2018).Fear was another influencer of compliance for all patients, but particularly among non-White patients (Basch et al., 2016; Bromley et al., 2015; Hall et al., 2016; Kiviniemi, Klasko-Foster et al., 2018; Mastrokostas et al., 2018). Fear presented in the form of fear of the findings from the procedure as well as fear of the procedure itself (Bromley et al., 2015).

Colonoscopy is the most popular form of CRC screening, and includes multiple steps like scheduling, bowel preparation, sedation, and the procedure itself; some of which contain multiple levels of compliance (Powers et al., 2018). For example, strategies such as enhanced written education, media campaigns, and videos improve compliance the bowel preparation step of colonoscopies (Andrealli et al., 2018; Cole et al., 2019; Essink-Bot et al., 2016). However, they were demonstrated as less effective to improve patient health literacy and compliance for completing the colonoscopy procedure (Clark et al., 2017; Enard et al., 2015; Mishra et al., 2018).

Medicare recognizes four methods of colonoscopy screening to demonstrate compliance with the ACO #19 measure (Prince et al., 2017). These include colonoscopy, DNA, stool testing, and fecal occult blood test. Studies suggest CRC compliance varies with the type of test offered, Thus, could impact the CRC screening recommendations that providers make to their patients (Alsayid et al., 2019; Basch et al., 2016; Bian et al., 2016; Brenner & Chen, 2017; Bromley et al., 2015; Chambers et al., 2016).

My study fills a gap in research by focusing on provider practice characteristics and the abilities of providers to influence the behavior of ACO patients to achieve compliance with CRC screening recommendations.

Research Questions and Design

The nature of the manuscript is a cross-sectional quantitative study for the following research question:

Based on the performance measures of the MSSP, what is the relationship between practice size and compliance with MSSP performance measure ACO #19?

*H*₀: There are no statistically significant differences in compliance with MSSP performance measure ACO #19 based on practice size.

 $H_{\rm a}$: There are statistically significant differences in compliance with MSSP performance measure ACO #19 based on practice size.

Cross-sectional quantitative studies are descriptive research to describe community characteristics at a single point in time. I analyzed data from the MSSP PUF from 2019. I assessed the relationship of dependent variable ACO performance for measure ACO #19 and the independent variable practice size. My research design required a way of to measure patient behavior. CMS ACO #19 is a cumulative measure based on the number of people that participated in CRC screening. Therefore, I assumed that CMS data are a valid measure of patient behavior.

Methods

Operational Definitions

ACO #19: Percentage of adults between 50–75 years of age who had appropriate screening for CRC for ACO quality reporting (CMS, 2017).

Alternative payment delivery models (APMs): Several experimental advance/APMs have been created with varying success to introduce new patient engagement initiatives to combat the United States skyrocketing healthcare costs (Noble et al., 2014).

Attribution: The patients assigned to the health care provider for which they are being measured (Noble et al., 2014).

Patient engagement: Studies show that improvements in patient engagement lead to better health outcomes (Simmons et al., 2014).

Practice size: The number of patients and the number of primary care physicians in an ACO.

Bias and Limitations

I analyzed archived data from the CMS. Therefore, the quality of this quantitative data source was beyond my control as the researcher and contingent on the data collection process for MSSP reporting (Burkholder et al., 2016). CMS (2017) allows providers to review and dispute published performance data, followed by a final CMS ruling. I used the final report issued by CMS, which included corrections to improve data quality. I could not control confounding variables that may influence provider–patient

attribution (Noble et al., 2014). These included patient comorbidities that can affect patients abilities to comply with healthcare treatment plans (DeJean et al., 2013).

Scope and Delimitations

The MSSP ACO PUF details physician performance against 32 measures across four domains (CMS, n.d.). The results are the official CMS findings and used to pay provider incentives (Noble et al., 2014). Therefore, these measures are valid representations of physician performance. The scope of my study was to evaluate physicians' performance against the CMS measurement for colon cancer screening ACO #19.

I limited my target population to the subset of organizations that had previous experience with MSSP ACOs and those who reported data for the 2019 MSSP reporting year. Excluding first-year MSSP participants improved credibility by ensuring that providers in the sample had a baseline measurement that reflected their performance better (Noble et al., 2016). Disparities in provider–patient interactions may be influenced by the factors race and patient insurance coverage (Foo et al., 2017). Therefore, a third delimitation limited the participant sample to those with a patient base with at least 10% non-White and accept both Medicaid and Medicare patients (CMS, 2017). Succesful attainment of ACO #19 was determined by a score of at least 30% (CMS, 2017). I differentiated well-performing providers from poor performing using this recognized benchmark as a fourth delimitation (CMS, 2017).

Design

Positivism guided the cross-sectional quantitative study to answer the question, "How effective are providers at influencing patient behavior based on the performance measure ACO #19 of the Medicaid Shared Savings Plan?" Archival data analysis from the CMS 2019 MSSP PUF supported the positivist approach to my research question. I used the quality performance data for healthcare providers reported in the PUF to determine their effectiveness at influencing patient behavior as it correlated to their practice size.

Instrumentation

Archival data from the MSSP PUF for 2019 was used for the data collection process. The MSSP ACO PUF was derived from a combination of provider claims and survey data. The PUF files are available for performance years 2013-2019. The PUF file included hundreds of variables, descriptions and performance measure outcomes. These included measures for six behavior related preventative measures. Performance measures were captured as a percent of the total population where a higher score means higher performance for that measure.

Provider incentives for MSSP ACOs were based on quantitative analysis of their performance against established benchmarks (Noble et al., 2014). As such the current reporting for the effectiveness of APMs is dichotomous as the providers did or did not meet their measurement objectives (CMS, n.d.). This clear determination of provider success supports a quantitative ontology of positivism in which there is one true reality (Burkholder et al., 2016). Furthermore, quantitative analysis of provider performance using MSSP public use data is an accepted practice among the healthcare community (Noble et al., 2016).

Participants

I limited the evaluation of provider performance to organizations in the United States who had previous ACO experience prior to 2019 and who reported data for the 2019 MSSP reporting year. Previous studies showed that providers treated patients differently according to sociodemographic characteristics (Foo et al., 2017; Manteuffel et al., 2014). Therefore, I restricted participants to ACOs with a patient base of at least 10% non-White and who accepted both Medicaid and Medicare patients. Furthermore, CMS set a minimum standard of 30% achievement to comply with MSSP guidelines. Therefore, participant selection was based on provider performance compared to the 30% benchmark.

Data Sources

Archival data was reviewed from the MSSP PUF for 2019. I used data for new and returning ACO participants from the 2019 MSSP PUF. I described the extent that ACOs were successful with measure ACO #19. I uploaded the entire MSSP PUF database into SPSS v25 for review, analysis and statistical testing.

Quantitative Collection and Analysis

I assessed how effective ACOs were at changing patient behavior. I described the extent that ACOs were successful at achieving colon cancer screening for measure ACO #19. I uploaded the entire 2019 MSSP PUF database into SPSS v25 for review, analysis and statistical testing. I retained the native MSSP PUF document, which was uploaded

multiple times with all statistical tests replicated to ensure integrity and reliability. I used Pearson Correlation and linear regression to determine if there was a significant relationship between ACO practice size and performance. The level of significance was set to 0.05.

Results

Research question: Based on the performance measures of the MSSP, what is the relationship between practice size and compliance with MSSP performance measure ACO #19?

 H_0 : There are no statistically significant differences in the compliance of MSSP performance measure ACO #19 based on practice size.

 H_a : There are statistically significant differences in the compliance of MSSP performance measure ACO #19 based on practice size.

Execution

I assessed archival data from the MSSP PUF (CMS, n.d.) for 2019 for 470 ACOs. I calculated an additional variable to reflect the percentage of the total population by race, age, gender, and Medicaid status in Microsoft Excel. The modified file was then entered into SPSS version 25 to organize, code, and screen data. Data for ACO #19 score and practice size were recoded to ordinal categorical data. Values were calculated including frequency counts and percentages with SPSS. Descriptive data analysis was performed for frequencies for all ACOs.

The final sample size was narrowed to 140 ACOs based on the inclusion and exclusion criteria for the study. These included previous experience in the MSSP

program and an ACO #19 score of 30 or more, an attribution that was at least 10% non-White. I performed statistical assumption tests for normal distribution, homoscedasticity, and linearity between dependent and independent variables before research question analysis. Table 1 summarizes the dependent, independent variables, and statistical analyses used to evaluate the research question.

Table 1

Variables and Statistical Tests Used to Evaluate Research Questions

Research Question	Dependent Variable	Independent Variable	Analysis
What is the relationship between practice size and compliance with MSSP performance measure ACO #19?	ACO #19 Score	Practice Size-Providers	Pearson Correlation Linear Regression
What is the relationship between practice size and compliance with MSSP performance measure ACO #19?	ACO #19 Score	Practice Size-Attribution	Pearson Correlation Linear Regression

Note. ACO = accountable care organization

Descriptive Statistics for all ACOs

Descriptive analysis for all (n = 470) ACOs and the target sample (n = 140) were conducted for ACO #19 performance. Frequencies were reviewed for practice size and characteristics of ACO attributions for age, race, gender, and insurance. Table 2 shows the ACO #19 performance with most organizations achieving between 50 and 90%. Performance for the target population aligned with the larger base with most organizations (n = 85) achieving between 70–89% followed by those between 50–69% (n = 47).

Table 2

Frequency	Percent	Frequency	Doroont
4		riequency	reicent
4	0.9		
13	2.8	4	2.9
157	33.4	47	33.6
287	61.1	85	60.7
9	1.9	4	2.9
470	100.0	140	100.0
	13 157 287 9 470	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

ACO #19 Performance Range and Frequency

Note. ACO = accountable care organization

Practice size as measured by primary care physicians ranged from 20 to 2,299.

Table 3 shows that most ACOs had less than 200 primary care providers with the

majority falling between 50–99 at roughly 22%.

Table 3

ange and Frequency of Frimary Care Fronders in ACOs							
		All ACOs		Target ACOs			
Primary Care Provi	ders Free	quency	Percent	Frequency	Percent		
0-49		72	15.3	15	10.7		
50-99	1	101	21.5	32	22.9		
100-149		74	15.7	18	12.9		
150-199		41	8.7	11	7.9		
200-249		30	6.4	9	6.4		
250-299		25	5.3	9	6.4		
300-349		15	3.2	5	3.6		
350-399		16	3.4	6	4.3		
400-499		30	6.4	8	5.7		
500-599		16	3.4	7	5.0		
600 or more		50	10.6	20	14.3		
Т	otal 4	470	100.0	140	100.0		

Range and Frequency of Primary Care Providers in ACOs

Note. ACO = accountable care organization

Table 4 shows the practice size characteristics based on patient attribution for all ACOs. ACOs that did not report a score for ACO #19 (n = 4) were removed. Of the remaining (n = 466) there was a total of 9,918,470 patients enrolled in the ACOs of which 4,275,182 (43%) were male and 5,643,285 (57%) female. Eighty-six percent of the population was white and 14% non-White. Ages ranged from 0-64 (14%), 65-74 (46%), 75-84 (28%) and 85 or older (12%). Beneficiaries with Medicaid totaled 606,989. The patient attribution for all ACOs ranged from 2,193 to 239,924 patients.

Table 4

	Minimum	Maximum	Sum	Percent
Total Patients	2,193	239,924	9,918,470	
Female	1,240	133,423	5,643,285	57%
Male	953	106,501	4,275,182	43%
Medicaid Patients	67	17,981	606,989	6%
Non-Medicaid Patients	1,346	181,135	7,917,736	80%
Total Age 0_64	262	41,238	1,369,626	14%
Total Age 65_74	817	109,019	4,607,276	46%
Total Age 75_84	619	64,190	2,799,157	28%
Total Age 85Plus	186	25,477	1,142,411	12%
White	479	219,069	8,519,870	86%
Non-White	97	24,215	1,398,600	14%

Range and Percentage of Attributions Across All ACOs

The attribution of most ACOs in the target population was under 40,000 patients.

Table five shows that over half of the ACOs carried an attribution of between 10,000 and 39,999 followed by a range of 2,193 to 9,999 (27%).

Table 5

Runge and Terceniage of Altribution						
Attribution Range	Frequency	Percent				
0-9,999	38	27.1				
10,000-39,999	77	55.0				
40,000-79,999	19	13.6				
80,000 or more	6	4.3				
Total	140	100.0				

Range and Percentage of Attribution

Tests of Assumptions

I conducted assumption tests of the dependent variable ACO #19. The data were normally distributed and follow a normal distribution curve. The skewness and kurtosis tests for normal distribution should fall between the rage of ± 2 and ± 7 respectfully. The ACO #19 score data for skewness was -.287 and kurtosis was -.692. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test for normality was insignificant at p>.05. Figure one shows the normal Q-Q plot of the data.

Figure 1

Normal Q-Q Plot for ACO #19 Performance



Inferential Statistics Manuscript 1

Previous studies define practice size as the total number of patients or the total number of primary care physicians. I found practice size as defined by the total number of primary care physicians in the ACO did not significantly influence ACO #19 performance. However, the results showed that practice size as defined by the total number of patients had a statistically significant influence on ACO #19 performance. Thus, the null hypothesis that practice size does not have a significant influence on ACO #19 performance was rejected. I used bivariate correlation to determine relationship between the dependent variable ACO #19 Performance and independent variables for practice size. There was not a significant correlation between ACO #19 performance and the number of primary care providers. However, there was a statistically significant Pearson Correlation of .214 between ACO #19 and the number of patients with p = .011. Figure two shows that as ACO #19 performance increases with the total number of patients.

Figure 2





Note. ACO = accountable care organization

Furthermore, analysis showed the number of non-White patients was not significant but the percentage of the total population size that was non-White had a negative correlation of -.416 and p < .001. See Table 6.

Table 6

					Total	
		ACO #19	Total	Primary Care	Non-	Non-White
		Performance	Patients	Physicians	White	Percentage
ACO #19	Pearson	1	.214*	0.087	0.014	416**
Performance	Correlation					
	P value		0.011	0.309	0.871	0.000
	Ν	140	140	140	140	140

Correlation Between ACC) #19	Per	formance	and	Practice	Size
-------------------------	-------	-----	----------	-----	----------	------

Note. ACO = accountable care organization. *. Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed). **. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

Linear Regression

I used linear regression to further analyze the correlations between ACO #19 Performance and the independent variables of total patients and percent of population that was non-White. The influence of total patients on performance was statistically significant (F(1,138) = 6,596, p < .05). The total number of patients attributed to the variance in positive correlation by 4.6% with an R^2 value of .046 and adjusted R^2 of .039. ACO #19 performance increased as population size increased with a coefficient of B =8.9.

The relationship between the percent of non-White patients of the total practice size and ACO #19 performance was statistically significant (F(1,138) = 28.8, p < .05). The percentage of non-White patients of the total population based attributed to the variance in negative correlation by 17.3% with an R^2 of .173 and an adjusted R^2 of .167. ACO #19 performance decreased as the Non-White population increased with a coefficient of B = -.298.

Discussion

Interpretation

My research correlates with previous research around physician influence on paitent behavior and patient compliance with physicina recommendations. For example, Klabunde et al. (2015) reported that almost 25% of adults between 76 and 84 did not meet the U.S. Preventative Services Task Force recommendations for CRC screening before the advent of Medicare ACOs. My findings showed that only four out of 470 ACOs did not meet the minimum performance score of 30 for ACO #19; however, 36% of the 140 target ACOs scored under 70%.

Other studies showed that differences in the structures of provider practices influenced their capacities to influence patient behavior (Casalino & Chenven, 2017; Casalino et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2017; Pineault et al., 2016). ACOs are comprised of a variety of specialists and facility partnerships contractually committed to supporting care delivery for ACO beneficiaries. Studies showed that providers believed collaborative partnerships might mediate resource constraints tied to their practice size (Kim et al., 2017). As such, my study supported their summation and found no statistical significance between the number of primary care providers in an ACO and their performance with ACO #19. Thus, collaboration may have mediated variances related to practice size constraints. Previous research also suggested that ACO performance flattened after the initial ACO period. This could also account for some similarities in ACO performance across the target population. My findings showed that the total number of patients in an ACO had a statistically significant correlation to ACO #19 performance. This aligned with previous research that practice size as defined by the number of patients predicted success with CMS quality measurements (Greene et al., 2015). Furthermore, previous research showed disparities across socioeconomic and racial/ethnic boundaries (Bromley et al., 2015). I found a statistically significant correlation that more non-White patients in an ACO resulted in lower performance scores. This aligned with previous studies where non-White patients were less likely to complete CRC screening (Basch et al., 2016; Bromley et al., 2015; Hall et al., 2016; Kiviniemi et al., 2018; Klabunde et al., 2015; Mastrokostas et al., 2018). Thus, the results supported a growing body of evidence that documented disproportionate racial and socioeconomic disparities for patient compliance (Ashktorab et al., 2017; Bromley et al., 2015; Burnett-Hartman et al., 2016; Chablani et al., 2017).

Interpretation in the Context of the Socioecological Model

My study was guided by the SEM. Under the SEM, provider performance is affected by factors that influence both their decision making and their effectiveness to change patient behavior (Rabarison et al., 2013). My findings showed that participation in an ACO and practice size may influence provider effectiveness to change patient behavior. Furthermore, the findings demonstrate factors related to the characteristics of their patients influences their effectiveness. Society/policy factors tied to creating ACOs and their CMS quality measurements (i.e., success defined by a score of at least 30 for ACO #19) are also influential.

Limitations

There are limitations to my study. First, I excluded new ACOs from the full analysis. Thus, the range of performance of the sample population (n = 140) may not reflect the distribution of the entire ACO base (n = 470). Nor may it reflect provider patient relationships for providers and patients that do not participate in ACOs. Caution should be used when generalizing these results for other applications. Second, the MSSP PUF file data are restricted to the variables within the data set.

The file does not provide CRC screening results at the individual level for patients or providers. Thus, my findings are limited to generalizations about ACOs based on total number of providers, total number of patients, and percentages of patients with certain characteristics. As a result, I am unable to articulate differences in ACO #19 compliance at the individual patient and rely instead solely on the ACO #19 performance score. I am also unable to articulate difference at the individual provider level. Lastly, the MSSP PUF has a one-year delay in reporting. The results were provided before the significant change in care delivery due to the COVID-19 pandemic and may influence the generalizability for future applications.

Implications

ACOs are partnerships among care providers including public health organizations. My study can improve public health and healthcare professionals' ability to influence the behaviors and health outcomes of the community members they serve. This is a vital component of current efforts to screen for COVID-19, promote adoption of behaviors to slow the spread of COVID-19 and adoption of COVID-19 vaccinations. The CMS (2012) stated that more than 70% of patients over the age of 65 have two or more chronic conditions. The management of patients with multiple chronic diseases is more difficult than in those suffering from a single condition (Wagner et al., 2013). Wang et al., observed (2020) that elderly COVID-19 patients were among the most severe to critical cases with a high rate of fatality. Thus, the results of my study apply to current efforts for high risk elderly patients, their providers, and communities

Cancer screening rates have declined due to the COVID-19 pandemic (Carethers et al., 2020). The COVID-19 pandemic disproportionality affected minority communities and further resulted in even lower screening rates for minority populations (Carethers et al.). As such, Carethers et al., posit that extended delays in cancer screening is expected to lead to increase cancer for all populations. This is expected to be elevated in minorities and lower socio-economic people. My study offers insight as to which populations may be at greater risk based on their previous experience with CRC screening before the pandemic.

My study showed that ACOs with more patients were more compliant with CRC screening recommendations. Yet, it showed that ACOs with more Black patients were less compliant than those with less. It also revealed that the number of providers in an ACO did not influence compliance with CRC screening recommendations. My findings supported previous research that showed disparities among non-White patient populations. My research helps to decrease the prevalence of CRC and by doing so reduce the economic and quality of life burden for individuals and communities affected

by the disease. Moreover, my study helps to reduce disparities for CRC screening and incidence of CRC among vulnerable populations.

My study promotes positive social change by providing a foundation for population health initiatives beyond CRC related illness Thus, improving the wellbeing of communities and increase public health emergency preparedness. It provides meaningful data to the public health and health care provider partnerships engaged in transforming healthcare from a transactional delivery system to an evidence-based system of value (Berenson et al., 2016). It will influence policies that support health and wellness initiatives in communities of color. Furthermore, it will influence policies that govern the minimum number of patients in ACOs that might influence CRC screening rates for elderly patients. Furthermore, it can influence policy related to provider patient ratios and patients aged 65 year and older ...

Lastly, my study can offer guidance to public health and healthcare provider leaders on ways to train professionals better, reduce frustration, improve success and achieve higher levels of satisfaction in their work both in routine interventions and public health emergencies.

Recommendations

Several recommendations resulted for additional research from my study. Additional analysis should be conducted for further assessment of ACO #19 performance related patient base characteristics, age, race, sex, and socio-economic status. Second, CRC screening is the most complex behavior measured for ACOs. These include a variety of tests some of which have multiple compliance steps like those with colonoscopy screening. This contrasts with dichotomous behaviors such as receiving a flu-vaccinations. I recommend future studies to compare complex behavior such as CRC with dichotomous decision like receiving an influenza vaccination.

The study should also be replicated for all 470 ACO participants. This may provide insight on differences and similarities to new and experienced ACOs. The study should also include provider feedback using tool like the primary care provider Behavioral Health Intervention Survey. The original tool was designed to assess provider perceptions of factors that influence their intention to use interventions when treating children with mental health problems and can be modified for adults (Arora et al., 2016).

Lastly the study should be replicated and expanded as a mixed methods explanatory sequential study. Mixed methods integrates open-ended qualitative data with closed-ended quantitative data from inquiry (Creswell, 2009). Mixed methods strategy is purpose-driven research to provide a more in-depth insight into how health professionals influence participant behavior (Creswell, 2009). Mixed methods can develop a more comprehensive understanding of changes needed for population engagement as well as understanding the process and outcomes of current patient engagement strategies (Creswell, 2009).

Conclusion

Health care delivery and public health have overlapping efforts like health screening activities for better health outcomes and to lower the burden of disease (Cunningham et al., 2020). Partnerships between community-based organizations, health care delivery and public health organizations improve public health outcomes. Studies showed patient behavior was the key to improve quality and health outcomes (Mogre et al., 2019).

The MSSP ACO is partnership based advanced payment model designed to curb cost and improve patient outcomes for colon cancer among other disease measures. CRC is a leading cause of death in the United States, (Loyd, 2016) and more research is needed to determine the impact of MSSP ACO providers on CRC screening.

Previous research found disparities in health behavior recommendation compliance among people based on patient base characteristics and the size of their providers' practices (Kiviniemi et al., 2018; Manteuffel et al., 2014). My study sought to determine the relationship between practice size and compliance with MSSP performance measure for colonoscopy screening ACO #19. I explored practice size as the number of primary care providers and the total number of patients. My findings correlate with previous research around physician influence on paitent behavior and patient compliance with physician recommendations. My results showed that the number of primary care physicians in an ACO did not influence their ACO #19 score. Thus, their participation and collaboratoin in an ACO may have mediated some of the contraints found in other studies based on practice that could influence ACO performance. My study found that ACOs with more patients performed better. This aligned with previous research where practice size as defined by the number of patients predicted success with CMS quality measurements. However, performance declined as the number and percentage of minority patients increased. This aligned with previous research which showed disparities exist across socioeconomic and racial/ethnic boundaries.

My study addressed the gap in research by focusing on participant behavior of ACOs with different size patient populations and the number of primary care providers in their organizations. It contributes to positive social change by providing meaningful data to public health partnerships and policy makers that determine the size and structure of ACOs. Therefore, the application of my findings can improve the ability of public health and healthcare providers to predict their influence the behaviors and health outcomes of the community members they serve.

References

Alsayid, M., Tlimat, N. M., Spigner, C., & Dimaano, C. (2019). Perceptions of colorectal cancer screening in the Arab American community: A pilot study. *Primary Health Care Research & Development, 20* (e90), 1-5. *https://doi.org/10.1017/S1463423619000161*

Alspach, J. G. (2018). Implicit bias in patient care: An endemic blight on quality care. *Critical Care Nurse*, *38*(4), 12–16. https://doi.org/10.4037/ccn2018698

- Andrealli, A., Paggi, S., Amato, A., Rondonotti, E., Imperiali, G., Lenoci, N. & Radaelli,
 F. (2018). Educational strategies for colonoscopy bowel prep overcome barriers against split-dosing: A randomized controlled trial. *United European Gastroenterology Journal*, 6(2), 283–289.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/2050640617717157
- Ashktorab, H., Kupfer, S. S., Brim, H., & Carethers, J. M. (2017). Racial disparity in gastrointestinal cancer risk. *Gastroenterology*, 153(4), 910–923. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2017.08.018
- Basch, C., Basch, C., Zybert, P., & Wolf, R. (2016). Fear as a barrier to asymptomatic colonoscopy screening in an urban minority population with health insurance. *Journal of Community Health, 41*(4), 818–824. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10900-016-0159-9
- Bekmuratova, S., Kim, J., Wang, H., Young, L., Schober, D. J., & Chen, L.-W. (2019).
 Clinic exploration of care processes to promote colorectal cancer screening in rural accountable care organization clinics: A qualitative case study. *The*

Qualitative Report, 24(6), 1442–1459.

https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol24/iss6/15

- Berenson, R. A., Burton, R. A., & McGrath, M. (2016). Do accountable care organizations (ACOs) help or hinder primary care physicians' ability to deliver high-quality care? *Healthcare*, 4(3) 155–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hjdsi.2016.02.011
- Beverly, E. A., Worley, M., Prokopakis, K., & Ivanov, N. (2016). Patient-physician communication and diabetes self-care. *Journal of Clinical Outcomes Management, 23*(11), 509–518.

https://www.mdedge.com/jcomjournal/article/146123/diabetes/patient-physiciancommunication-and-diabetes-self-care

- Bian, J., Bennett, C., Cooper, G., D'Alfonso, A., Fisher, D., Lipscomb, J., & Qian, C.-N. (2016). Assessing colorectal cancer screening adherence of medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries age 76 to 95 Years. *Journal of Oncology Practice, 12*(6), 670–680. https://doi.org/10.1200/jop.2015.009118
- Brenner, H., & Chen, H. (2017). Fecal occult blood versus DNA testing: indirect comparison in a colorectal cancer screening population. *Clinical Epidemiology*, 9, 377–384. https://doi.org/10.2147/CLEP.S136565

Brittain, K., & Murphy, V. P. (2015). Sociocultural and health correlates related to colorectal cancer screening adherence among urban African Americans. *Cancer Nursing*, 38(2), 118-124. https://doi.org/10.1097/NCC.00000000000157

Bromley, E. G., May, F. P., Federer, L., Spiegel, B. M., & Van Oijen, M. G. (2015).

Explaining persistent under-use of colonoscopic cancer screening in African Americans: A systematic review. *Preventive Medicine*, *71*, 40–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.11.022

- Burkholder, G., Cox, K., & Crawford, L. (2016). *The scholar-practitioner's guide to research design*. Laureate Publishing.
- Burnett-Hartman, A. N., Mehta, S. J., Zheng, Y., Ghai, N. R., McLerran, D. F., Chubak,
 J. & Inadomi, J. M. (2016). Racial/ethnic disparities in colorectal cancer screening across healthcare systems. *American journal of Preventive Medicine*, 51(4), 107-115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2016.02.025
- Carethers, J. M., Sengupta, R., Blakey, R., Ribas, A., & D'Souza, G. (2020). Disparities in Cancer Prevention in the COVID-19 Era. Cancer Prevention Research, *13*(11), 893–896. https://doi.org/10.1158/1940-6207.capr-20-0447

Casalino, L. P., & Chenven, N. (2017). Independent practice associations: Advantages and disadvantages of an alternative form of physician practice organization.
Paper presented at the Healthcare. 5(1), 46-52.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hjdsi.2016.08.003

- Casalino, L. P., Wu, F. M., Ryan, A. M., Copeland, K., Rittenhouse, D. R., Ramsay, P. P., & Shortell, S. M. (2013). Independent Practice Associations And Physician-Hospital Organizations Can Improve Care Management For Smaller Practices. *Health Affairs*, *32*(8), 1376-1382. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2013.0205
- Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. (n.d.). Shared Savings Program Accountable Care Organizations (ACO) PUF. Research, Statistic, Data and Systems,

https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Downloadable-Public-Use-Files/SSPACO/index.html.

- Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. (2017, December). Accountable Care Organization (ACO) Measures. Physician Compare 2016, 1-8. CMS. https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Quality-Initiatives-Patient-Assessment-Instruments/physician-compare-initiative/Downloads/PC-PY-2016-ACO-Profile-Page.pdf
- Chablani, S. V., Cohen, N., White, D., Itzkowitz, S. H., DuHamel, K., & Jandorf, L. (2017). Colorectal cancer screening preferences among Black and Latino primary care patients. *Journal of immigrant and minority health*, *19*(5), 1100-1108. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-016-0453-8
- Chambers, J. A., Callander, A. S., Grangeret, R., & O'Carroll, R. E. (2016). Attitudes towards the Faecal Occult Blood Test (FOBT) versus the Faecal Immunochemical Test (FIT) for colorectal cancer screening: perceived ease of completion and disgust. *BMC Cancer, 16*, 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-016-2133-4
- Chen, J., Mullins, C. D., Novak, P., & Thomas, S. B. (2016). Personalized Strategies to
 Activate and Empower Patients in Health Care and Reduce Health Disparities.
 Health Education & Behavior, 43(1), 25-34.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198115579415

Clark, R., McArthur, C., Papaioannou, A., Cheung, A., Laprade, J., Lee, L.& Giangregorio, L. (2017). "I do not have time. Is there a handout I can use?": combining physicians' needs and behavior change theory to put physical activity evidence into practice. *Osteoporosis International*, *28*(6), 1953-1963. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs00198-017-3975-6

- Cole, A. P., Krasnova, A., Friedlander, D. F., McNabb-Baltar, J., Melnitchouk, N., Lipsitz, S. R. & Trinh, Q.-D. (2019). Recommended Cancer Screening in Accountable Care Organizations: Trends in Colonoscopy and Mammography in the Medicare Shared Savings Program. *Journal of Oncology Practice*, 15(6), 547-559. https://doi.org/10.1200/JOP.18.00352
- Coreil, J. (2009). Social and behavioral foundation of public health (2nd ed). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Cunningham, S., Cunningham, R., Line, L., Patti, M., Bucher, M., Durnwald, C., & Srinivas, S. (2020). Safe Start Community Health Worker Program: A Multisector Partnership to Improve Perinatal Outcomes Among Low-Income Pregnant Women With Chronic Health Conditions. *American Journal of Public Health*, 110, 836-839. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2020.305630</u>
- DeJean, D., Giacomini, M., Vanstone, M. & Brundisini, F. (2013). Patient Experiences of Depression and Anxiety with Chronic Disease. A Systematic Review and Qualitative Meta-Synthesis. *Ontario Health Technology Assessment Series*. *12*(16), 1-33. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3817854/pdf/ohtas-13-33a.pdf
- D'Aunno, T., Broffman, L., Sparer, M. & Kumar, S.R. (2018), Factors That Distinguish High-Performing Accountable Care Organizations in the Medicare Shared Savings Program. *Health Serv Res*, 53(1), 120-137. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-

6773.12642

- Enard, K. R., Nevarez, L., Hernandez, M., Hovick, S. R., Moguel, M. R., Hajek, R. A.& Torres-Vigil, I. (2015). Patient navigation to increase colorectal cancer screening among Latino Medicare enrollees: a randomized controlled trial. *Cancer Causes* & *Control: CCC, 26*(9), 1351-1359. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10552-015-0620-6
- Essink-Bot, M. L., Dekker, E., Timmermans, D. R. M., Uiters, E., & Fransen, M. P. (2016). Knowledge and Informed Decision-Making about Population-Based
 Colorectal Cancer Screening Participation in Groups with Low and Adequate
 Health Literacy. *Gastroenterology Research and Practice, 2016*, 1-8.
 https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/7292369
- Foo, P. K., Frankel, R. M., McGuire, T. G., Zaslavsky, A. M., Lafata, J. E., & Tai-Seale, M. (2017). Patient and Physician Race and the Allocation of Time and Patient Engagement Efforts to Mental Health Discussions in Primary Care: An Observational Study of Audiorecorded Periodic Health Examinations. *The Journal of ambulatory care management*, 40(3), 246–256. https://doi.org/10.1097/JAC.00000000000176
- Grand, S., Faber, M., Durand, M., Thompson, R., & Elwyn, G. (2014). A classification model of patient engagement methods and assessment of their feasibility in realworld settings. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 95, 281-287. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2014.01.016
- Greene, J., Hibbard, J. H., & Overton, V. (2015). Large Performance Incentives Had The Greatest Impact On Providers Whose Quality Metrics Were Lowest At Baseline.
Health Affairs, 34(4), 673-680. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2014.0998

- Hall, N., Birt, L., Rees, C. J., Walter, F. M., Elliot, S., Ritchie, M.& Rubin, G. (2016).
 Concerns, perceived need and competing priorities: a qualitative exploration of decision-making and non-participation in a population-based flexible sigmoidoscopy screening programme to prevent colorectal cancer. *BMJ open*, 6(11), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-012304
- Hibbard, J., Green, J., Sacks, R., & Overton, V. (2015). Does compensating primary care providers to produce higher quality make them more or less patient centric? *Medical Care Research and Review*, 481-495.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1077558715586291
- Hong, Y. R., Tauscher, J., & Cardel, M. (2018). Distrust in health care and cultural factors are associated with uptake of colorectal cancer screening in Hispanic and Asian Americans. *Cancer*, 124(2), 335-345. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.31052
- Ingram, R., Scutchfield, F. D., & Costich, J. F. (2015). Public health departments and accountable care organizations: finding common ground in population health. *American Journal of Public Health*, 105(5), 840-846. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2014.302483
- Kim, J., Young, L., Bekmuratova, S., Schober, D., Wang, H., Roy, S.& CKim et al., 2017 Promoting colorectal cancer screening through a new model of delivering rural primary care in the USA: a qualitative study. *Rural & Remote Health, 17*. https://doi.org/10.22605/RRH4187

Kiviniemi, M. T., Klasko-Foster, L. B., Erwin, D. O., & Jandorf, L. (2018). Decision-

making and socioeconomic disparities in colonoscopy screening in African

Americans. Health Psychology, 37(5), 481. https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000603

- Klabunde, C. N., Shapiro, J. A., Kobrin, S., Nadel, M. R., & Zapka, J. M. (2015).
 Colorectal cancer screening in US seniors ages 76–84 Years. *Journal of Community Health*, 40(4), 769-779. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10900-015-9998-z
- Lampard, A., Jurkowski, J., Lawson, H., & Davidson, K. (2013). Family ecological predictors of physical activity parenting in low-income families. *Behavioral Medicine*, 39(4), 97–103. https://doi.org/10.1080/08964289.2013.802215
- Lewis, V. A., Fraze, T., Fisher, E. S., Shortell, S. M., & Colla, C. H. (2017). ACOs serving high proportions of racial and ethnic minorities lag in quality performance. *Health Affairs*, 36(1), 57-66. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2016.0626
- Lloyd, S. C. (2016). Novel solution to achieve "80% by 2018" Two-Man colonoscopy performed by primary care physicians with expert back-up: Compliance and capacity without diluting quality. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *34*(4_suppl), 544-544. https://doi.org/10.1200/jco.2016.34.4 suppl.544
- Mankaney, G., Rizk, M., Sarvepalli, S., Bongorno, J., Garber, A., Lopez, R.& Burke, C.
 A. (2019). Patient-Initiated Colonoscopy Scheduling Effectively Increases
 Colorectal Cancer Screening Adherence. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences*, 1-8.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10620-019-05584-9
- Manteuffel, M., Williams, S., Chen, W., Verbrugge, R., Pittman, D., & Steinkellner, A. (2014). Influence of patient sex and gender on medication use, adherence, and

prescribing alignment with guidelines. *Journal Of Women's Health*, 23(2), 112-119. https://doi.org/ 10.1089/jwh.2012.3972

- Mast, M. S., & Kadji, K. K. (2018). How female and male physicians' communication is perceived differently. *Patient education and counseling*, 101(9), 1697-1701. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2018.06.003
- Mastrokostas, A., Gavana, M., Gkrizioti, M., Smyrnakis, E., Cholongitas, E., Benos, A.,
 & Haidich, A.-B. (2018). Discrepancies and misconceptions of perceived
 colorectal cancer screening barriers between primary health professionals and
 unscreened population. A comparative study in Greece. *Perspective, 23*(1), 67-76.
 https://jbuon.com/archive/23-7-67.pdf
- Mishra, M. K., Saunders, C. H., Rodriguez, H. P., Shortell, S. M., Fisher, E., & Elwyn,
 G. (2018). How do healthcare professionals working in accountable care organisations understand patient activation and engagement? Qualitative interviews across two time points. *BMJ open*, 8(10), 1-8.
 https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-023068
- Modi, P. K., Hollenbeck, B. K., & Borza, T. (2018). Searching for the value of accountable care organizations in cancer care. *Cancer*, 124(22), 4287-4289. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.31698

Mogre, V, Johnson, N, Tzelepis, F, Paul, C.(2019). Barriers to diabetic self-care: A qualitative study of patients' and healthcare providers' perspectives *Journal of Clinical Nursing*,28, 2296–2308.https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.14835

Nathan, A. G., Marshall, I. M., Cooper, J. M., & Huang, E. S. (2016). Use of Decision

Aids with Minority Patients: a Systematic Review. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *31*(6), 663-676. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-016-3609-2

- Noble, D. J., Greenhalgh, T., & Casalino, L. P. (2014). Improving population health one person at a time? Accountable care organisations: perceptions of population health—a qualitative interview study. *BMJ open, 4*(4), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2013-004665
- Nyweide, D. J., Lee, W., Cuerdon, T. T., Pham, H. H., Cox, M., Rajkumar, R., & Conway, P. H. (2015). Association of Pioneer Accountable Care Organizations vs traditional Medicare fee for service with spending, utilization, and patient experience. *Jama*, *313*(21), 2152-2161. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2015.4930
- Phipps-Taylor, M., & Shortell, S. M. (2016). More than money: motivating physician behavior change in accountable care organizations. *The Milbank Quarterly*, 94(4), 832-861. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0009.12230
- Pineault, R., Provost, S., Borgès Da Silva, R., Breton, M., & Levesque, J.-F. (2016). Why Is Bigger Not Always Better in Primary Health Care Practices? The Role of Mediating Organizational Factors. *INQUIRY: The Journal of Health Care Organization, Provision, and Financing, 53*, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1177/0046958015626842
- Powers, J. S., & Keohane, L. M. (2018). Dual Eligibles: Challenges for Medicare and Medicaid Coordination. In *Value Driven Healthcare and Geriatric Medicine* (pp. 129-136): Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-77057-4_9

Prince, M., Lester, L., Chiniwala, R., & Berger, B. (2017). Multitarget stool DNA tests

increases colorectal cancer screening among previously noncompliant Medicare patients. *World Journal of Gastroenterology*, *23*(3), 464-471. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v23.i3.464

- Rabarison, K., Ingram, R., & Holsinger, J. (2013). Application of situational leadership to the national voluntary public health accreditation process. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 1(26), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2013.00026
- Rowland, P., McMillan, S., McGillicuddy, P., & RIchards, J. (2017). What is "the patient perspecitve" in patieint engagment programs? Implicit logics and parallels to feminist theories. *Health*, 21(1), 76-92. https://doi.org/10.1177/1363459316644494
- Shapiro, J., Rakhra, P., & Wong, A. (2018). The stories they tell: How third year medical students portray patients, family members, physicians, and themselves in difficult encounters. *Medical Teacher*, 38(10), 1033-1040. https://doi.org/10.3109/0142159X.2016.1147535
- Singal, A. G., Gupta, S., Skinner, C. S., Ahn, C., Santini, N. O., Agrawal, D.& Halm, E.
 A. (2017). Effect of Colonoscopy Outreach vs Fecal Immunochemical Test
 Outreach on Colorectal Cancer Screening Completion: A Randomized Clinical
 TrialEffect of Colonoscopy vs FIT Outreach on CRC Screening CompletionEffect
 of Colonoscopy vs FIT Outreach on CRC Screening Completion. *Jama, 318*(9),
 806-815. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2017.11389
- Slyne, T. C., Gautam, R., & King, V. (2017). Colorectal Cancer Screening: An educational intervention for nurse practitioners to increase screening awareness

and participation. *Clinical Journal of Oncology Nursing*, *21*(5) 543-546. https://doi.org/10.1188/17.CJON.543-546

- Smiddy, J., Reay, J., Peckham, S., Williams, L. & Wilson, P. (2015). Developing patient reference groups within general practice: a mixed methods study. *British Journal* of General Practice, 65(632), 177-183. https://doi.org/10.3399/bjgp15X683989
- Wagner, E., LeRoy, L., Schaefer, J., Bailit, M., Coleman, K., Zhan, C., & Meyers, D.
 (2018). How Do Innovative Primary Care Practices Achieve the Quadruple Aim? *The Journal of Ambulatory Care Management*, 41(4), 288-297. https://doi.org/10.1097/JAC.00000000000249
- Wang, H., Qiu, F., Gregg, A., Chen, B., Kim, J., Young, L.& Chen, L. W. (2018).
 Barriers and facilitators of colorectal cancer screening for patients of rural accountable care organization clinics: a multilevel analysis. *The Journal of Rural Health*, 34(2), 202-212. https://doi.org/10.1111/jrh.12248
- Wang, L., He, W., Yu, X., Hu, D., Bao, M., Liu, H., Zhou, J., & Jiang, H. (2020).
 Coronavirus disease 2019 in elderly patients: Characteristics and prognostic factors based on 4-week follow-up. *Journal of Infection*, 80(6), 639–645.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jinf.2020.03.019
- Williams, D., Wyatt, R. (2015) Racial Bias in Health Care and Health: Challenges and Opportunities. *JAMA*.;314(6):555–556. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2015.9260

Provider Influence on Patient Behavior Related the Population's Race, Age, and Gender

Harry Petaway

Walden University

Objective: This study assessed the preventative quality performance measure (ACO #19) for colon cancer screening under Medicare Shared Savings Plan ACO guidelines. I quantified the overall performance of ACO #19 based on the population's demographics of race, age and gender.

Methods: A cross-sectional quantitative study was conducted for organizations who participate as a Medicare Shared Savings Plan Accountable Care Organization. The research included secondary data analysis of the 2019 Medicare Shared Savings Plan PUF on quality performance.

Outlet for Manuscript

The *American Journal of Public Health* (AJPH) is the intended journal for this manuscript (https://ajph.aphapublications.org/). The initial submission requires a title page with the manuscript title, author name and affiliations, and full abstract and the manuscript with author and university information removed. In addition, the manuscript should contain the following elements:

- a. Title and abstract
- b. page numbers
- numbered lines (in Word, > Page Setup > Line Numbers > Continuous)
 throughout the text of the manuscript;
- d. 1.5 or double spacing with a font size of 12
- e. tables and figures embedded at the end of the manuscript, OR uploaded as separate files

Submission also requires a cover letter with concise text (maximum 150 words) that provides a description of what the paper adds to the knowledge on the topic, especially in respect to material previously published in the journal and elsewhere; includes the public health importance of the paper; and highlights the main message of the paper in one sentence. With the exception of history essays, all AJPH articles follow the AMA Manual of Style, 10th Edition. Substantive notes and footnotes are not permitted.

Abstract

Public health efforts include initiatives like vaccination and screening to reduce the burden of disease. This study used the socioecological model and a cross-sectional quantitative design to assess data from the Medicare Shared Savings Plan public use file 2019 to examine patient behavior as the primary driver to improve healthcare quality and reduce costs. This study focused on colorectal cancer (CRC) screening behaviors of accountable care organization (ACO) patients based on the age, gender, and race differences of the patient population. ACOs with more non-White patients were less successful with CRC screening, and performance was highest when more patients were between 65-85 years of age when compared to patients under 65 or over 85 years old. The implications for positive social change in this study include data for policy makers, health, and public health care professionals to reduce disparities for CRC screening and incidence of CRC among vulnerable populations. Therefore, the application of the findings can improve the ability of public health and healthcare providers to predict their influence on behavior and health outcomes of the community members they serve. Furthermore, the study supports policies and processes around cultural awareness and cultural competencies to contribute to better healthcare delivery.

Introduction

Healthcare costs in the United States are rising at an unsustainable rate (Noble et al., 2014), and significant disparities in health outcomes exist across the U.S. population attributed mainly to social determinants of health (Foo et al., 2017). As a result, public, community and clinical health professionals in several communities formed partnerships under new public healthcare delivery models designed to improve public health by addressing social determinants of health and changing individual behavior (Bachrach et al., 2016; Noble et al., 2014). For example, the Institute of Healthcare Improvement's Quadruple Aim outlined a framework to improve health outcomes, lower healthcare costs, improve patient experience, and improve clinician satisfaction (Wagner et al., 2018). In fact, experimental alternative payment delivery models (APMs) were created with varying success to achieve components of the Quadruple Aim (Noble et al., 2014). Studies have shown that improvements in population engagement led to better health outcomes (Simmons et al., 2014). Population engagement by providers is essential to guide community members toward behaviors that lead to healthier outcomes, which may reduce the overall cost of care (Grand et al., 2014). However, there was little evidence of which strategies were most successful at influencing their patients' behavior.

Problem

Physicians have suggested that patient behavior is the key to improve health quality and outcomes, yet it is difficult to influence individual behavior (Hibbard et al., 2015). Moreover, researchers have found disparities in patient compliance with health behavior recommendations (Kiviniemi et al., 2018; Manteuffel et al., 2014), which are linked to patient characteristics and provider variables like the size of provider practices (Kiviniemi et al., 2018; Manteuffel et al., 2014) Data on the patient experience are captured in performance reporting through the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS, n.d.), and patient perspectives toward patient engagement were well documented in the literature (Rowland et al., 2017). However, provider experiences, perceptions, success, and strategies to engage community members attributed to their APMs has not been represented in detail in previous research (Andrealli et al., 2018; Bekmuratova et al., 2019; Berenson et al., 2016; Chen et al., 2016). Thus, there is an inability to replicate the best practices for population engagement, that improve participant experiences, job satisfaction, health outcomes, and lower costs. To address this gap, I explored the preventative quality performance measure for colon cancer screening ACO #19 for the Medicare Shared Savings Plan (MSSP) guidelines based on race, age, and gender of the patient population.

Significance of the Study

APMs introduced patient engagement initiatives to lower the U.S. healthcare costs with different levels of success (Noble et al., 2014). Significant disparities in health outcomes exist across the U.S. population attributed mainly to social determinants of health (Foo et al., 2017). Extensive quantitative data on APM quality are captured by CMS performance reports (CMS, n.d.). The literature, however, lacks evidence as to why physicians were successful at influencing patient behavior. One study of an emerging United Kingdom healthcare model showed that the number of focus groups was increased when providers received payments to develop community-based participatory patient focus groups to improve provider care delivery, but the quality of care was not improved (Smiddy et al., 2015). In the current study, exploring provider experiences with managing patient populations of different ages, genders, and ethnicities might explain to what degree they effect patient behavior compared to the measures that determine their payments.

Relevant Contribution to the Body of Knowledge

The purpose of my study was to assess the relationship between an ACO population's demographics race, age, and provider effectiveness at influencing patient behavior as measured by the compliance of MSSP performance measure ACO #19. This manuscript addresses a gap in research by focusing on provider practice characteristics based on age, gender, and race. This manuscript is a cross-sectional quantitative study to explore the preventative quality performance for colon cancer screening under MSSP ACO guidelines based on the described social determinants of health distribution of the patient population. My cross-sectional study provides a more comprehensive assessment of physician influence on patient behavior than studies like those from CMS.

Framework

The socioecological model (SEM) guided my cross-sectional quantitative study. I assessed data from the MSSP public use file (PUF). Under the SEM, provider performance is affected by factors that influence both their decision making and their effectiveness to change patient behavior (Rabarison et al., 2013). SEM posits five categorical levels which affect behavior change: the individual, interpersonal, organizational, community/environment, and society/policy levels (Lampard et al., 2013).

While the factors of the SEM are hierarchical, they are also integrated, and a change in one area could impact others (Coreil, 2009).

The positivist ontology also guides my study. Positivism implies that there is a single truth (Burkholder et al., 2016). Medicare reports ACO #19 measure attainment through a PUF. Thus, these results reflect a single truth of their performance. My study assessed how patients' race, age, and gender predicts providers' ACO #19 measure attainment. These findings are the source of truth under the positivist ontology for my study

My research is influenced by multiple contexts. The personal contexts for my study include my knowledge and experience with advance payment models and patient engagement. The social contexts include CMS guidelines, the fluidity of US healthcare policy, political climate, geographic locations, and local healthcare delivery priorities. Lastly, interpersonal contexts include Walden University dissertation committee representatives.

The definition of "provider success" is precise and supports a quantitative ontology of positivism where there is one true reality (Burkholder et al., 2016). Positivism guided my cross-sectional quantitative study to answer the question "How effective were providers at influencing patient behavior based on the performance measure ACO #19 of the Medicaid Shared Savings Plan?" I analyzed archival data from the CMS to support the positivist approach to my research question (Burkholder et al., 2016).

Background

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is a leading cause of death in the United States (Lloyd, 2016). The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention estimated over 40,000 deaths attributed to colon cancer in 2016 (Bachman et al., 2018). The risk of CRC mortality can be reduced with early detection (Lloyd, 2016). Focused efforts to increase CRC screening led to a reduction of CRC related deaths in the last decade; yet, several disparities continue to exist across socioeconomic and racial/ethnic boundaries (Bromley et al., 2015). Klabunde et al. (2015) reported that almost 25% of adults between 76 and 84 did not meet the U.S. Preventative Services Task Force recommendations for CRC screening before the advent of Medicare ACOs.

APMs were created to fight rising health care costs in the United States (Noble et al., 2014). ACOs are one of the advanced payment models designed to shift the focus of healthcare services from a traditional fee for service structure to a value-based care model. CRC screening is a key focus and measurement of ACOs. The propensity for provider recommendations for appropriate screening based on the Preventative Services Task Force recommendations for CRC screening was very low before the advent of Medicare ACOs (Klabunde et al., 2015). This problem was further exacerbated by racial disparities where African American and Hispanic individuals were less likely to complete screening and had an increased prevalence of adverse health outcomes as a result (Klabunde et al., 2015).

A growing body of evidence among other research further documented disproportionate racial and socioeconomic disparities and highlighted the diverse cultural needs to motivate patients toward compliance (Ashktorab et al., 2017; Bromley et al., 2015; Burnett-Hartman et al., 2016; Chablani et al., 2017). Many studies offered anecdotal patient interventions that improved patient compliance (Nathan et al., 2016; Singal et al., 2017; Slyne et al., 2017). Studies that focused on patient experience reinforced culturally competent approaches based on varying patient demographics (Alsayid et al., 2019; Brittain & Murphy, 2015; Chen et al., 2016).

Fear was demonstrated to be a major influence for compliance by all patients, but particularly among blacks and Hispanics (Basch et al., 2016; Bromley et al., 2015; Hall et al., 2016; Kiviniemi et al., 2018; Mastrokostas et al., 2018). Fear emerged as fear of both fear of undergoing the procedure and fear of the procedure's findings (Bromley et al., 2015). Ineffective communication and perceived provider uncertainty also affected the patient decision-making process (Beverly et al., 2016). This was confounded by patients' expectations of the provider (Alspach, 2018; Mast & Kadji, 2018). For example, uncertainty was seen as a form of truthfulness for female providers, whereas the trait generated mistrust for male providers (Mast & Kadji, 2018). Moreover, trust was demonstrated to be a contributing factor behind non-compliance of CRC screening for many Hispanic patients (Hong et al., 2018). Studies also showed providers adherence to evidence-based treatment guidelines differed when treating men vs women (Manteuffel et al., 2014). Still more evidence reported unconscious bias by providers when treating patients of different race, age, and socioeconomic groups. (Williams et al., 2015).

Medicare recognizes four methods of colonoscopy screening to demonstrate compliance with the ACO #19 measure (Prince et al., 2017). These include colonoscopy,

DNA, stool testing, and fecal occult blood test. Studies suggest CRC compliance varies with the type of test offered, Thus, could impact the CRC screening recommendations that providers make to their patients (Alsayid et al., 2019; Basch et al., 2016; Bian et al., 2016; Brenner & Chen, 2017; Bromley et al., 2015; Chambers et al., 2016).

Colonoscopy is the most popular forms of CRC screening, and includes multiple steps like scheduling, bowel preparation, sedation and the procedure itself; some of which contain multiple levels of compliance (Powers & Keohane, 2018). Some of steps to obtain a colonoscopy contain multiple levels of compliance and complexity themselves (Powers et al., 2018). For example, strategies such as enhanced written education, media campaigns, and videos improved compliance with the bowel preparation step for colonoscopies (Andrealli et al., 2018; Cole et al., 2019; Essink-Bot et al., 2016). However, they were demonstrated as less effective to improve patient health literacy and compliance to complete a colonoscopy procedure (Clark et al., 2017; Enard et al., 2015; Mishra et al., 2018).

Success varied among the initial United States APMs (Noble et al., 2014). Hibbard et al. (2015) documented that compensation from APMs in other countries influenced physician opinions on the importance of patient behavior. They further provided evidence that patient behavior was the primary driver of improving quality (Hibbard et al., 2015). Other studies showed that improvements in patient engagement lead to better health outcomes (Grand et al., 2014; Simmons et al., 2014).

Physicians in the United States agreed that patient behavior was the key determinant to improve quality and outcomes, yet, many found frustration when they tried to influence individual behavior (Hibbard et al., 2015). While many providers perceived their role within the community and in population health as "medicine-based"; a growing emphasis on preventative care and the complex characteristics of their attributed patient base fostered better collaboration between healthcare providers and traditional public health organizations (Ingram et al., 2015). This was particularly true for mutual objectives such as cancer prevention (Basch et al., 2016).

Nyweide et al. (2015) showed the initial performance under the Medicare ACO model reduced healthcare expenditures for the attributed population base when compared to traditional Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries. The CMS measures ACO providers across four domains, which include care coordination, patient safety, patient experience, and preventative health (Modi et al., 2018). Providers are rewarded for lower cost of patient care and achieving quality metrics outlined in their ACO contracts.

Studies documented provider perceptions of barriers and provider characteristics that influenced their decision making and success (Mastrokostas et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2018). These included the basic ability to verify patient's correct CRC status and the clinician's ability to confer with specialists (Mastrokostas et al., 2018) For example, a provider recommendation was a primary influence on whether patients of all demographic groups participated in CRC screenings (Bian et al., 2016; Bromley et al., 2015). Some studies showed that health information technologies that shared patient information or alerted providers to the patient's CRC risk and screening status nudged providers to provide CRC screening recommendations (Kim et al., 2017b; Mankaney et al., 2019). Additionally, other studies reiterated the importance of Patient Behavior on quality performance and the need to implement systems to support patient engagement activities to influence behavior (Mishra et al., 2018). These included the concepts of, motivational interviewing, goal setting, and shared decision making (Mishra et al., 2018). However, Mishra and colleagues (2018) reported that providers were aware of these concepts but often lacked the depth of understanding and practice to implement them in a meaningful way. Shapiro et al. (2018) further described provider experiences with tough to manage patients in which providers described themselves as anxious, frustrated, and uncertain with little preparation for how to handle difficult patients. My study addressed a gap in research and focused on the patient attribution characteristics and provider strategies that influence the behavior of APM patients to achieve compliance with CRC screening recommendations.

Research Question and Design

The nature of the manuscript is a cross-sectional quantitative study for the following research questions:

Based on the performance measures of the MSSP, what is the relationship between the ACO population's demographics race, age, and how effective providers are at influencing patient behavior as measured by the compliance of MSSP performance measure ACO #19?

 H_0 : There are no statistically significant differences in compliance of MSSP performance measure ACO #19 based on the ACO population's demographics, race, age, and gender.

 H_a : There are statistically significant differences in compliance of MSSP performance measure ACO #19 based on the ACO population's demographics, race, age, and gender.

Cross-sectional quantitative studies are descriptive research to describe community characteristics at a single point in time. I analyzed data from the MSSP PUF from 2019. I assessed the relationship of dependent variable ACO performance for measure ACO #19 and the independent variables race, age and gender. My research design required a way of to measure patient behavior. CMS ACO #19 is a cumulative measure based on the number of people that participated in CRC screening. Therefore, I assumed that CMS data is a valid measure of patient behavior.

Methods

Operational Definitions

ACO #19: Percentage of adults between 50–75 years of age who had appropriate screening for CRC for ACO quality reporting (CMS, 2017).

Alternative payment delivery models (APMs): Several experimental advance/APMs have been created with varying success to introduce new patient engagement initiatives to combat the United States skyrocketing healthcare costs (Noble et al., 2014).

Attribution: The patients assigned to the health care provider for which they are being measured (Noble et al., 2014).

Patient engagement: Studies show that improvements in patient engagement lead to better health outcomes (Simmons et al., 2014).

Practice size: The number of patients and the number of primary care physicians in an ACO.

Bias and Limitations

I analyzed archived data from the CMS. Therefore, the quality of this quantitative data source was beyond my control as the researcher and contingent on the data collection process for MSSP reporting (Burkholder et al., 2016). CMS (2017) allows providers to review and dispute published performance data, followed by a final CMS ruling. I used the final report issued by CMS, which included corrections to improve data quality. But I could not control confounding variables that may influence provider–patient attribution (Noble et al., 2014). These included patient comorbidities that can affect patients abilities to comply with healthcare treatment plans (DeJean et al., 2013). **Scope and Delimitations**

The MSSP ACO PUF details physician performance against 32 measures across four domains (CMS, n.d.). The results are the official CMS findings and used to pay provider incentives (Noble et al., 2014). Therefore, these measures are valid representations of physician performance. The scope of my study was to evaluate physicians' performance against the CMS measurement for colon cancer screening ACO #19.

I limited my target population to the subset of organizations that had previous experience with MSSP ACOs and those who reported data for the 2019 MSSP reporting year. Excluding first-year MSSP participants improved credibility by ensuring that providers in the sample had a baseline measurement that reflected their performance better (Noble et al., 2016). Disparities in provider–patient interactions may be influenced by the factors race and patient insurance coverage (Foo et al., 2017). Therefore, a third delimitation limited the participatn sample to those with a patient base with at least 10% non-White and accept both Medicaid and Medicare patients (CMS, 2017). Succesful attainmnet of ACO #19 was detrmined by a score of at least 30% (CMS, 2017). I differentiated well-performing providers from poor performing using this recognized benchmark as a fourth delimitation (CMS, 2017).

Design

Positivism guided the cross-sectional quantitative study to answer the question, "How effective are providers at influencing patient behavior based on the performance measure ACO #19 of the Medicaid Shared Savings Plan?" Archival data analysis from the CMS 2019 MSSP PUF supported the positivist approach to my research question. I used the quality performance data for healthcare providers reported in the PUF to determine their effectiveness at influencing patient behavior as it correlated to their practice size.

Instrumentation

Archival data from the MSSP PUF for 2019 was used for the data collection process. The MSSP ACO PUF was derived from a combination of provider claims and survey data. The PUF files are available for performance years 2013-2019. The PUF file included hundreds of variables, descriptions and performance measure outcomes. These included measures for six behavior related preventative measures. Performance measures were captured as a percent of the total population where a higher score means higher performance for that measure.

Provider incentives for MSSP ACOs were based on quantitative analysis of their performance against established benchmarks (Noble et al., 2014). As such the current reporting for the effectiveness of APMs is dichotomous as the providers did or did not meet their measurement objectives (CMS, n.d.). This clear determination of provider success supports a quantitative ontology of positivism in which there is one true reality (Burkholder et al., 2016). Furthermore, quantitative analysis of provider performance using MSSP public use data is an accepted practice among the healthcare community (Noble et al., 2016).

Participants

I limited the evaluation of provider performance to organizations in the United States who had previous ACO experience prior to 2019 and who reported data for the 2019 MSSP reporting year. Previous studies showed that providers treated patients differently according to sociodemographic characteristics (Foo et al., 2017; Manteuffel et al., 2014). Therefore, I restricted participants to ACOs with a patient base of at least 10% non-White and who accepted both Medicaid and Medicare patients. Furthermore, CMS set a minimum standard of 30% achievement to comply with MSSP guidelines. Therefore, participant selection was based on provider performance compared to the 30% benchmark.

Data Sources

Archival data was reviewed from the MSSP PUF for 2019. I used data for new and returning ACO participants from the 2019 MSSP PUF. I described the extent that ACOs were successful with measure ACO #19. I uploaded the entire MSSP PUF database into SPSS v25 for review, analysis, and statistical testing.

Quantitative Collection and Analysis

I assessed how effective ACOs were at changing patient behavior. I described the extent that ACOs were successful at achieving colon cancer screening for measure ACO #19. I uploaded the entire 2019 MSSP PUF database into SPSS v25 for review, analysis and statistical testing. I retained the native MSSP PUF document, which was uploaded multiple times with all statistical tests replicated to ensure integrity and reliability. I used Pearson Correlation and linear regression to determine if there was a significant relationship between ACO practice size and performance. The level of significance was set to 0.05.

Results

Research question: Based on the performance measures of the MSSP, what is the relationship between the ACO population's demographics race, age, and gender and compliance with MSSP performance measure ACO #19?

 H_0 : There are no statistically significant differences in compliance with MSSP performance measure ACO #19 based on the ACO population's demographics, race, age, and gender.

 H_{a} : There are statistically significant differences in compliance with MSSP performance measure ACO #19 based on the ACO population's demographics, race, age, and gender.

Execution

Archival data from the MSSP PUF (CMS, n.d.) for 2019 were assessed for 470 ACOs. I calculated an additional variable to reflect the attribution percentages for race, age, gender, and Medicaid status in Microsoft Excel. The modified file was then entered into SPSS version 25 to organize, code, and screen data. Data for ACO #19 score and number of primary care providers were recoded to ordinal categorical data. Values were calculated including frequency counts and percentages with SPSS. Descriptive data analysis was performed for frequencies for all ACOs.

The final sample size was narrowed to 140 ACOs based on the inclusion and exclusion criteria for the study. These included previous experience in the MSSP program and an ACO #19 score of 30 or more, an attribution that was at least 10% non-White. I performed statistical assumption tests for normal distribution, homoscedasticity, and linearity between dependent and independent variables before research question analysis. Table 7 summarizes the dependent, independent variables, and statistical analyses used to evaluate the research questions.

Variables and Statistical Tests Used to Evaluate Resea	arch	Ouestions
--	------	-----------

Research Question	Dependent Variable	Independent Variable	Analysis
What is the relationship between practice size and compliance with MSSP performance measure ACO #19?	ACO #19 Score	Attribution Characteristics: Age Attribution Characteristics: Race Attribution Characteristics: Gender	Pearson Correlation Linear Regression

Note. ACO = accountable care organization

Descriptive Statistics for all ACOs

Descriptive analysis for all (n = 470) ACOs and the target sample (n = 140) were

conducted for ACO #19 performance. Frequencies were reviewed for practice size and

characteristics of ACO attributions for age, race, gender, and insurance. Table 8 shows

the ACO #19 performance with most organizations achieving between 50% and 90%.

Performance for the target population aligned with the larger base with most

organizations (n = 85) achieving between 70–89% followed by those between 50-69% (n

= 47).

Table 8

ACO #191 erjormance Range and Frequency								
	All AG	COs	Target A	Target ACOs				
ACO #19 Score	Frequency	Frequency Percent		Percent				
0-29	4	0.9						
30-49	13	2.8	4	2.9				
50-69	157	33.4	47	33.6				
70-89	287	61.1	85	60.7				
90 to 100	9	1.9	4	2.9				
Total	470	100.0	140	100.0				

ACO #19 Performance Range and Frequency

Note. ACO = accountable care organization

Practice size as measured by primary care physicians ranged from 20 to 2,299. Table 9 shows that most ACOs had less than 200 primary care providers with the majority falling between 50-99 at roughly 22%.

	All AG	COs	Target ACOs		
Primary Care Providers	Frequency	Percent	Frequency	Percent	
0-49	72	15.3	15	10.7	
50-99	101	21.5	32	22.9	
100-149	74	15.7	18	12.9	
150-199	41	8.7	11	7.9	
200-249	30	6.4	9	6.4	
250-299	25	5.3	9	6.4	
300-349	15	3.2	5	3.6	
350-399	16	3.4	6	4.3	
400-499	30	6.4	8	5.7	
500-599	16	3.4	7	5.0	
600 or more	50	10.6	20	14.3	
Total	470	100.0	140	100.0	

Range and Frequency of Primary Care Providers in ACOs

Note. ACO = accountable care organization

Table 10 shows the practice size characteristics based on patient attribution for all ACOs. ACOs that did not report a score for ACO #19 (n = 4) were removed. Of the remaining (n = 466) there was a total of 9,918,470 patients enrolled in the ACOs of which 4,275,182 (43%) were male and 5,643,285 (57%) female. Eighty-six percent of the population was white and 14% non-White. Ages ranged from 0-64 (14%), 65-74 (46%), 75-84 (28%) and 85 or older (12%). Beneficiaries with Medicaid totaled 606,989. The patient attribution for all ACOs ranged from 2,193 to 239,924 patients.

	Minimum	Maximum	Sum	Percent
Total Patients	2,193	239,924	9,918,470	
Female	1,240	133,423	5,643,285	57%
Male	953	106,501	4,275,182	43%
Medicaid Patients	67	17,981	606,989	6%
Non-Medicaid Patients	1,346	181,135	7,917,736	80%
Total Age 0_64	262	41,238	1,369,626	14%
Total Age 65_74	817	109,019	4,607,276	46%
Total Age 75_84	619	64,190	2,799,157	28%
Total Age 85Plus	186	25,477	1,142,411	12%
White	479	219,069	8,519,870	86%
Non-White	97	24,215	1,398,600	14%

Range and Percentage of Attributions Across all ACOs

Note. ACO = accountable care organization

The attribution of most ACOs in the target population was under 40,000 patients.

Table 11 shows that over half of the ACOs carried an attribution of between 10,000 and

39,999 followed by a range of 2,193 to 9,999 (27%).

Table 11

Range and Percentage of Attribution

Attribution Range	Frequency	Percent
0-9,999	38	27.1
10,000-39,999	77	55.0
40,000-79,999	19	13.6
80,000 or more	6	4.3
Total	140	100.0

Tests of Assumptions

I conducted assumption tests of the dependent variable ACO #19. The data were normally distributed and follow a normal distribution curve. The skewness and kurtosis tests for normal distribution should fall between the rage of ± 2 and ± 7 respectfully. The ACO #19 score data for skewness was -.287 and kurtosis was -.692. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test for normality was insignificant at .058. Figure three shows the normal Q-Q plot of the data.

Figure 3

Normal Q-Q Plot for ACO #19 Performance



Note. ACO = accountable care organization

Inferential Statistics Manuscript 2

I found that age and race characteristics of patients in an ACO had a statistically significant influence on ACO #19 performance. Thus, the null hypothesis that age and race do not have a significant influence on ACO #19 performance was rejected. Gender did not significantly influence ACO #19 performance. The null hypothesis that gender does not influence ACO #19 performance was accepted. I used bivariate correlation to determine the relationship between the dependent variable ACO #19 performance and independent variables for age, gender and race.

Age

Table 12 shows the correlations between age and ACO #19 performance. The total number of patients in an ACO that were between 0-64 years old was not a significant influence on ACO #19 performance. The total number of patients between the

age of 65-74 was statistically significant with a positive correlation of .228 and p = .007. The total number of patients between the age of 75-84 also had a positive correlation of .240 and p = .004. The total number of patients over the age of 85 had a positive correlation of .211 and p = .012.

The percentage of patients between 0-64 had a negative correlation of -.472 which was statistically significant at p < .001. The percent of patients between 65-74 had a positive correlation of .341 with p < .001. The percent of patients between 75-84 had a positive correlation of .448 with p < .001. The percent of patients 85 and over was not a significant influence on ACO #19 performance.

Table 12

		Attribution		Age	Age	Age
		Total	Age 0_64	65_74	75_84	85Plus
ACO #19	Pearson		0.045	.228**	.240**	.211*
Performance	Correlation					
	P value		0.598	0.007	0.004	0.012
	Ν		140	140	140	140
		Attribution		Age	Age	Age
		Percentage	Age 0_64	65 74	75 84	85Plus
	Pearson		472**	.341**	.448**	0.087
	Correlation					
	P value		0.000	0.000	0.000	0.307
	Ν		140	140	140	140

Correlation Between Attribution Age and Performance

Gender

Both the total number of male and the total number of female patients showed a positive correlation that was statistically significant. However, this measure correlates to the total number of patients in an ACO which was found to be statistically significant in a

previous study. Alternatively, the percentages of male and female patients did not show a statistically significant correlation on ACO #19 performance.

Race

Table 13 shows the correlations between race and ACO #19 performance. The results showed statistically significant correlations for ACO #19 performance and total number of white patients in an ACO. The total of white patients in an ACO had a positive correlation of .244 with p = .244. The total of patients in an ACO that were a race other than, White, Black, Asian, Hispanic or Native American also had a positive correlation with ACO #19 performance of .167 and p=0.049.

The percent of the total patients in an ACO that were white had a positive correlation with ACO #19 performance of .416 and p=0.00. The percent of Black and Hispanic patient in the ACO had negative correlations with ACO #19 performance. The percent of black patients had a negative correlation of -.365 and p = .00. The percent of Hispanic patients had a negative correlation of -.222 and p = .008.

					Native		Non-
Attribution Total	White	Black	Asian	Hispanic	American	Other Race	White
Pearson	.244**	-0.027	-0.047	-0.004	0.012	.167*	0.014
Correlation							
P value	0.004	0.756	0.578	0.967	0.887	0.049	0.871
Ν	140	140	140	140	140	140	140
Attribution	Percent	Percent	Percent	Percent	Percent Native	Percent	Non-
Percentage	White	Black	Asian	Hispanic	American	Other Race	White
Pearson	.416**	365**	-0.134	222**	-0.136	-0.069	416**
Correlation							
P value	0.000	0.000	0.114	0.008	0.109	0.420	0.000
Ν	140	140	140	140	140	140	140

Correlation Between Attribution Race and CRC Screening

Note. CRC = colorectal cancer

Linear Regression

I used linear regression to further analyze the correlations between ACO #19 performance and the number of patients in an ACO for each age category. The relationship was statistically significant (F(4,135) = 5.84, p < .05). The total patients in each age group attributed to the variance in ACO #19 performance by 14.8% with an R^2 value of .148 and an adjusted R^2 of .122.

ACO #19 score increased slightly as the total number of patients between the age of 75-84 increased with a coefficient of B = .002. Scores also increased with a coefficient of B = 7.11 as the number of patients between the age of 65-74 increased. There was a slight decrease in performance with B = -.002 as the total number of patients between 0-64 years old and over 85 years old increased.

The relationship between the percent of patients in each age group and ACO #19 performance was statistically significant (F(3,136) = 16,650,p < .05). These percentages had a higher influence of 26.9% of the variance with an R^2 of .269 and an adjusted R^2 of .252. ACO performance increased B = .311 as the percent of patients in the ACO

increased between the ages of 65-74 years old. Performance also increased B = 1.27 as the percent of patients increased between the age of 75-84 years of age. However, Performance decreased B = -.509 as the percent of patients 85 or older increased.

I used linear regression to further analyze the correlations between ACO #19 Performance and race. The relationship was statistically significant (F(11,128), p<.05). Race attributed to the variance in performance by 27.2 % with an R^2 value of .272 and an adjusted R^2 of .210. ACO #19 performance improved with B = 6.4 as the number of White patients increased. Performance decreased slightly B = -.001 as the number of patients categorized as "Other" increased. Performance decreased B = -.804 and B = -.420 as the percentage of Hispanic and Black patients increased respectively.

Discussion

Interpretation

Almost 25% of adults between 76 and 84 did not meet the U.S. Preventative Services Task Force recommendations for CRC screening before the advent of Medicare ACOs (Klabunde et al., 2015). My findings showed that only four out of 470 ACOs did not meet the minimum performance score of 30 for ACO #19. However, 36% of the 140 target ACOs scored under 70%.

My overarching study showed the size of the ACO attribution had a statistically significant correlation to ACO #19 performance. This aligned with previous research that practice size as defined by the number of patients predicted success with CMS quality measurements (Greene et al., 2015). Results also supported compliance disparities between races (Ashktorab et al., 2017; Bromley et al., 2015; Burnett-Hartman et al.,

2016; Chablani et al., 2017), as I found a statistically significant correlation that more Black and Hispanic patients in an ACO resulted in lower performance scores. This aligned with previous studies where non-White patients were less likely to complete CRC screening (Basch et al., 2016; Bromley et al., 2015; Hall et al., 2016; Kiviniemi et al., 2018; Klabunde et al., 2015; Mastrokostas et al., 2018). Thus, ACOs that serve high numbers of minority patients experience lower quality performance than others (Lewis et al., 2017). This may correlate to research that showed lack of trust to be a contributing factor behind non-compliance of CRC screening for many Hispanic patients (Hong et al., 2018).

In addition to race, my study found statistically significant differences for ACOs with different age categories. This further supports findings of unconscious bias by providers when treating patients of different race, age and socioeconomic groups. (Williams et al., 2015). Other studies, however, found no relation to these characteristics and provider decisions (Haider et al., 2015). My study did not show a difference in ACO #19 performance based on gender. However, caution should be made when generalizing these results as they were not calculated at the individual patient or provider level.

Interpretation in the Context of the Socioecological Model

My study was guided by the SEM. Under the SEM, provider performance is affected by factors that influence both their decision making and their effectiveness to change patient behavior (Rabarison et al., 2013). My study showed that participation in an ACO and practice size as total patients and number of minorities may influence provider effectiveness to change patient behavior. Furthermore, factors related to the characteristics of their patients may influence their effectiveness. Society/policy factors tied to creating ACOs and their CMS quality measurements (i.e., success defined by a score of at least 30 for ACO #19) are also influential. My research did not report findings related to socioeconomic make up. However, my overarching research demonstrated that a high percentage of patients with lower socioeconomic status negatively influence provider effectiveness.

Limitations

There are limitations to my study. First, I excluded new ACOs from the full analysis. Thus, the range of performance of the sample population (n = 140) may not reflect the distribution of the entire ACO base (n = 470). Nor may it reflect provider patient relationships for providers and patients that do not participate in ACOs. Caution should be used when generalizing these results for other applications. Second, the MSSP PUF file data are restricted to the variables within the data set. The file does not provide CRC screening results at the individual level for patients or providers. Thus, my findings are limited to generalizations about ACOs based on total number of providers, total number of patients, and percentages of patients with certain characteristics. As a result, I am unable to articulate differences in ACO #19 compliance at the individual patient and rely instead solely on the ACO #19 performance score. I am also unable to articulate difference at the individual provider level. Lastly, the MSSP PUF has a one-year delay in reporting. The results were provided before the significant change in care delivery due to the COVID-19 pandemic and may influence the generalizability for future applications.

Implications

Cancer screening rates have declined due to the COVID-19 pandemic (Carethers et al., 2020). The COVID-19 pandemic disproportionality affected minority communities and further resulted in even lower screening rates for minority populations (Carethers et al.). As such, Carethers et al., posit that extended delays in cancer screening is expected to lead to increase cancer for all populations. This is expected to be elevated in minorities and lower socio-economic people. My study offers insight as to which populations may be at greater risk based on their previous experience with CRC screening before the pandemic.

My findings supported previous research that showed disparities among non-White patient populations. It further demonstrated a lack of compliance with CRC screening where more patients in the population were either under 65 or over 85 years old. My research helps to decrease the prevalence of CRC and by doing so reduce the economic and quality of life burden for individuals and communities affected by the disease. Moreover, my study helps to reduce disparities for CRC screening and incidence of CRC among vulnerable populations.

My study promotes positive social change by providing a foundation for population health initiatives beyond CRC related illness Thus, improving the wellbeing of communities and increase public health emergency preparedness. It provides meaningful data to the public health and health care provider partnerships engaged in transforming healthcare from a transactional delivery system to an evidence-based system of value (Berenson et al., 2016). It will influence policies that support health and wellness initiatives in communities of color and patients aged 65 year and older. ACOs are partnerships among care providers including public health organizations. My study can improve public health and healthcare professionals' ability to influence the behaviors and health outcomes of the community members they serve. This is a vital component of current efforts to screen for COVID-19, promote adoption of behaviors to slow the spread of COVID-19 and adoption of COVID-19 vaccinations. The CMS (2012) stated that more than 70% of patients over the age of 65 have two or more chronic conditions. The management of patients with multiple chronic diseases is more difficult than in those suffering from a single condition (Wagner et al., 2013). Wang et al., observed (2020) that elderly COVID-19 patients were among the most severe to critical cases with a high rate of fatality. Thus, the results of my study apply to current efforts for high risk elderly patients, their providers and communities.

Lastly, my study can offer guidance to public health and healthcare provider leaders on ways to train professionals better, reduce frustration, improve success and achieve higher levels of satisfaction in their work both in routine interventions and public health emergencies.

Recommendations

Several recommendations resulted for additional research from my study. Additional analysis should be conducted for further assessment of ACO #19 performance based the size of the ACO population and the number of providers participating in an ACO. The influence of insurance coverage particularly for lower socio-economic patients with Medicaid should be explored. Next, some CRC screenings are complex. These
include tests some which have multiple compliance steps like those with colonoscopy screening. This contrasts with dichotomous behaviors like receiving a flu-vaccination. I recommend future studies to compare complex behaviors such as CRC screening with dichotomous decisions like receiving an influenza vaccination.

The study should also be replicated for all 470 ACO participants. This may provide insight on differences and similarities to new and experienced ACOs. Future research could include provider feedback using tools like the primary care provider Behavioral Health Intervention Survey. The original tool was designed to assess provider perceptions of factors that influence their intention to use interventions when treating children with mental health problems and can be modified for adults (Arora et al., 2016).

Lastly the study could be replicated and expanded as a mixed methods explanatory sequential study. Mixed methods integrates open-ended qualitative data with closed-ended quantitative data from inquiry (Creswell, 2009). Mixed methods strategy is purpose-driven research to provide a more in-depth insight into how health professionals influence participant behavior (Creswell, 2009). Mixed methods can develop a more comprehensive understanding of changes needed for population engagement as well as understanding the process and outcomes of current patient engagement strategies (Creswell, 2009).

Conclusion

Health care delivery and public health have overlapping efforts like health screening activities for better health outcomes and to lower the burden of disease (Cunningham et al., 2020). Partnerships between community-based organizations, health care delivery and public health organizations improve public health outcomes. Studies showed patient behavior was the key to improve quality and health outcomes (Mogre et al., 2019).

The MSSP ACO is partnership based advanced payment model designed to curb cost and improve patient outcomes for colon cancer among other disease measures. CRC is a leading cause of death in the United States, (Loyd, 2016) and more research is needed to determine the impact of MSSP ACO providers on CRC screening. Previous research found disparities in health behavior recommendation compliance among people based on patient base characteristics race, age and gender.

My quantitative study of 140 ACO participants sought to determine the relationship between these patient characteristics and compliance with MSSP performance measure for colonoscopy screening ACO #19. My findings correlate with previous research around physician influence on paitent behavior and patient compliance with physician recommendations. My findings showed differences in performance based on age and race but not for gender. Performance increased for ACOs with more patients between the age of 65-85 years old. However, performance declined as the number and percentage of non-White patients increased. This aligned with previous research which showed disparities exist across socioeconomic and racial/ethnic boundaries. The results did not show a difference in performance based on the gender makeup of the ACO population.

My study addressed the gap in research and focused on participant behavior of ACOs based on the racial, gender and age distribution of their patient populations. It

contributes to positive social change by providing meaningful data to public health partnerships and policy makers as to how these social determinants of health impact outcomes. Therefore, the application of my findings can improve the ability of public health and healthcare providers to predict their influence on behavior and health outcomes of the community members they serve. Furthermore, it supports policies and processes around cultural awareness and cultural competencies to contribute to better healthcare delivery.

References

Alsayid, M., Tlimat, N. M., Spigner, C., & Dimaano, C. (2019). Perceptions of colorectal cancer screening in the Arab American community: A pilot study. *Primary Health Care Research & Development, 20* (e90), 1-5. *https://doi.org/10.1017/S1463423619000161*

Alspach, J. G. (2018). Implicit bias in patient care: An endemic blight on quality care. *Critical Care Nurse*, *38*(4), 12–16. https://doi.org/10.4037/ccn2018698

- Andrealli, A., Paggi, S., Amato, A., Rondonotti, E., Imperiali, G., Lenoci, N. & Radaelli,
 F. (2018). Educational strategies for colonoscopy bowel prep overcome barriers against split-dosing: A randomized controlled trial. *United European Gastroenterology Journal*, 6(2), 283–289.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/2050640617717157
- Ashktorab, H., Kupfer, S. S., Brim, H., & Carethers, J. M. (2017). Racial disparity in gastrointestinal cancer risk. *Gastroenterology*, 153(4), 910–923. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2017.08.018
- Bachman, A., Cohen, E., Collins, T., Hatcher, J., Crosby, R., & Vanderpool, R. (2018).
 Identifying communication barriers to colorectal cancer screening adherence among Appalacian Kentuckians. *Health Communication*, *33*(10), 1284-1292.
 https://10.1080/10410236.2017.1351274
- Bachrach, D., Bernstein, W., Augenstein, J., & Lipson, M. (2016, April). Implementing New York's DSRIP Program. *The Common Wealth Fund*, 1–34. https://www.commonwealthfund.org/sites/default/files/documents/___media_files

_publications_fund_report_2016_apr_1871_bachrach_implementing_new_york_ dsrip_v4.pdf

- Basch, C., Basch, C., Zybert, P., & Wolf, R. (2016). Fear as a barrier to asymptomatic colonoscopy screening in an urban minority population with health insurance. *Journal of Community Health*, *41*(4), 818–824. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10900-016-0159-9
- Bekmuratova, S., Kim, J., Wang, H., Young, L., Schober, D. J., & Chen, L.-W. (2019).
 Clinic exploration of care processes to promote colorectal cancer screening in rural accountable care organization clinics: A qualitative case study. *The Qualitative Report, 24*(6), 1442–1459.https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol24/iss6/15
- Berenson, R. A., Burton, R. A., & McGrath, M. (2016). Do accountable care organizations (ACOs) help or hinder primary care physicians' ability to deliver high-quality care? *Healthcare*, 4(3) 155–159.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hjdsi.2016.02.011
- Beverly, E. A., Worley, M., Prokopakis, K., & Ivanov, N. (2016). Patient-physician communication and diabetes self-care. *Journal of Clinical Outcomes Management, 23*(11), 509–518. https://www.mdedge.com/jcomjournal/article/146123/diabetes/patient-physician-

communication-and-diabetes-self-care

Bian, J., Bennett, C., Cooper, G., D'Alfonso, A., Fisher, D., Lipscomb, J., & Qian, C.-N.
(2016). Assessing colorectal cancer screening adherence of medicare fee-forservice beneficiaries age 76 to 95 years. *Journal of Oncology Practice*, *12*(6), 670-680. https://doi.org/10.1200/jop.2015.009118

- Brenner, H., & Chen, H. (2017). Fecal occult blood versus DNA testing: indirect comparison in a colorectal cancer screening population. *Clinical Epidemiology*, 9, 377–384. https://doi.org/10.2147/CLEP.S136565
- Brittain, K., & Murphy, V. P. (2015). Sociocultural and health correlates related to colorectal cancer screening adherence among urban African Americans. *Cancer Nursing*, 38(2), 118-124. https://doi.org/10.1097/NCC.00000000000157
- Bromley, E. G., May, F. P., Federer, L., Spiegel, B. M., & Van Oijen, M. G. (2015). Explaining persistent under-use of colonoscopic cancer screening in African Americans: A systematic review. *Preventive Medicine*, 71, 40–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.11.022
- Burkholder, G., Cox, K., & Crawford, L. (2016). *The scholar-practitioner's guide to research design*. Laureate Publishing.
- Burnett-Hartman, A. N., Mehta, S. J., Zheng, Y., Ghai, N. R., McLerran, D. F., Chubak,
 J. & Inadomi, J. M. (2016). Racial/ethnic disparities in colorectal cancer screening across healthcare systems. *American journal of Preventive Medicine*, *51*(4), 107-115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2016.02.025
- Carethers, J. M., Sengupta, R., Blakey, R., Ribas, A., & D'Souza, G. (2020). Disparities in Cancer Prevention in the COVID-19 Era. Cancer Prevention Research, 13(11), 893–896. https://doi.org/10.1158/1940-6207.capr-20-0447
- Casalino, L. P., & Chenven, N. (2017). *Independent practice associations: Advantages* and disadvantages of an alternative form of physician practice organization. 5(1),

46-52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hjdsi.2016.08.003

- Casalino, L. P., Wu, F. M., Ryan, A. M., Copeland, K., Rittenhouse, D. R., Ramsay, P. P., & Shortell, S. M. (2013). Independent Practice Associations And Physician-Hospital Organizations Can Improve Care Management For Smaller Practices. *Health Affairs*, *32*(8), 1376-1382. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2013.0205
- Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. (n.d.). Shared Savings Program Accountable Care Organizations (ACO) PUF. Research, Statistic, Data and Systems, https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Downloadable-Public-Use-Files/SSPACO/index.html.
- Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. (2017, December). Accountable Care Organization (ACO) Measures. Physician Compare 2016, 1-8. CMS. https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Quality-Initiatives-Patient-Assessment-Instruments/physician-compare-initiative/Downloads/PC-PY-2016-ACO-Profile-Page.pdf
- Chablani, S. V., Cohen, N., White, D., Itzkowitz, S. H., DuHamel, K., & Jandorf, L. (2017). Colorectal cancer screening preferences among Black and Latino primary care patients. *Journal of immigrant and minority health*, *19*(5), 1100-1108. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-016-0453-8
- Chambers, J. A., Callander, A. S., Grangeret, R., & O'Carroll, R. E. (2016). Attitudes towards the Faecal Occult Blood Test (FOBT) versus the Faecal Immunochemical Test (FIT) for colorectal cancer screening: perceived ease of completion and disgust. *BMC Cancer, 16*, 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-016-2133-4

 Chen, J., Mullins, C. D., Novak, P., & Thomas, S. B. (2016). Personalized Strategies to Activate and Empower Patients in Health Care and Reduce Health Disparities. *Health Education & Behavior, 43*(1), 25-34. https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198115579415

Clark, R., McArthur, C., Papaioannou, A., Cheung, A., Laprade, J., Lee, L.&
Giangregorio, L. (2017). "I do not have time. Is there a handout I can use?":
combining physicians' needs and behavior change theory to put physical activity
evidence into practice. *Osteoporosis International, 28*(6), 1953-1963.
https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs00198-017-3975-6

- Cole, A. P., Krasnova, A., Friedlander, D. F., McNabb-Baltar, J., Melnitchouk, N., Lipsitz, S. R. & Trinh, Q.-D. (2019). Recommended Cancer Screening in Accountable Care Organizations: Trends in Colonoscopy and Mammography in the Medicare Shared Savings Program. *Journal of Oncology Practice*, 15(6), 547-559. https://doi.org/10.1200/JOP.18.00352
- Coreil, J. (2009). Social and behavioral foundation of public health (2nd ed). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage

Cunningham, S., Cunningham, R., Line, L., Patti, M., Bucher, M., Durnwald, C., & Srinivas, S. (2020). Safe Start Community Health Worker Program: A Multisector Partnership to Improve Perinatal Outcomes Among Low-Income Pregnant Women With Chronic Health Conditions. *American Journal of Public Health*, 110, 836-839. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2020.305630

DeJean, D., Giacomini, M., Vanstone, M. & Brundisini, F. (2013). Patient Experiences of

Depression and Anxiety with Chronic Disease. A Systematic Review and Qualitative Meta-Synthesis. *Ontario Health Technology Assessment Series*. *12*(16), 1-33. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3817854/pdf/ohtas-13-33a.pdf

- Enard, K. R., Nevarez, L., Hernandez, M., Hovick, S. R., Moguel, M. R., Hajek, R. A.& Torres-Vigil, I. (2015). Patient navigation to increase colorectal cancer screening among Latino Medicare enrollees: a randomized controlled trial. *Cancer Causes* & *Control: CCC, 26*(9), 1351-1359. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10552-015-0620-6
- Essink-Bot, M. L., Dekker, E., Timmermans, D. R. M., Uiters, E., & Fransen, M. P. (2016). Knowledge and Informed Decision-Making about Population-Based
 Colorectal Cancer Screening Participation in Groups with Low and Adequate
 Health Literacy. *Gastroenterology Research and Practice, 2016*, 1-8.
 https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/7292369
- Foo, P. K., Frankel, R. M., McGuire, T. G., Zaslavsky, A. M., Lafata, J. E., & Tai-Seale, M. (2017). Patient and Physician Race and the Allocation of Time and Patient Engagement Efforts to Mental Health Discussions in Primary Care: An Observational Study of Audiorecorded Periodic Health Examinations. *The Journal of ambulatory care management*, 40(3), 246–256. https://doi.org/10.1097/JAC.00000000000176
- Grand, S., Faber, M., Durand, M., Thompson, R., & Elwyn, G. (2014). A classification model of patient engagement methods and assessment of their feasibility in realworld settings. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 95, 281-287.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2014.01.016

- Greene, J., Hibbard, J. H., & Overton, V. (2015). Large Performance Incentives Had The Greatest Impact On Providers Whose Quality Metrics Were Lowest At Baseline. *Health Affairs*, 34(4), 673-680. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2014.0998
- Haider, A. H., Schneider, E. B., Sriram, N., Dossick, D. S., Scott, V. K., Swoboda, S. M.,
 , Freischlag, J. A. (2015). Unconscious race and social class bias among acute care surgical clinicians and clinical treatment. *Journal of American Medical Association Surgery*, *150*(5), 457-464. https://doi.org/10.1001/Journal of American Medical Associationsurg.2014.4038
- Hall, N., Birt, L., Rees, C. J., Walter, F. M., Elliot, S., Ritchie, M.& Rubin, G. (2016).
 Concerns, perceived need and competing priorities: a qualitative exploration of decision-making and non-participation in a population-based flexible sigmoidoscopy screening programme to prevent colorectal cancer. *BMJ open*, 6(11), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-012304
- Hibbard, J., Green, J., Sacks, R., & Overton, V. (2015). Does compensating primary care providers to produce higher quality make them more or less patient centric? *Medical Care Research and Review*, 481-495.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1077558715586291
- Hong, Y. R., Tauscher, J., & Cardel, M. (2018). Distrust in health care and cultural factors are associated with uptake of colorectal cancer screening in Hispanic and Asian Americans. *Cancer*, 124(2), 335-345. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.31052

Ingram, R., Scutchfield, F. D., & Costich, J. F. (2015). Public health departments and

accountable care organizations: finding common ground in population health. *American Journal of Public Health, 105*(5), 840-846. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2014.302483

Kim, J., Young, L., Bekmuratova, S., Schober, D. J., Wang, H., Roy, S.& Chen, L.-W. (2017b). Promoting colorectal cancer screening through a new model of delivering rural primary care in the USA: a qualitative study. *Rural and Remote Health*, 17(1), 4187-4187. https://doi.org/10.22605/RRH4187

- Kiviniemi, M. T., Klasko-Foster, L. B., Erwin, D. O., & Jandorf, L. (2018). Decisionmaking and socioeconomic disparities in colonoscopy screening in African Americans. *Health Psychology*, 37(5), 481. https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000603
- Klabunde, C. N., Shapiro, J. A., Kobrin, S., Nadel, M. R., & Zapka, J. M. (2015).
 Colorectal cancer screening in US seniors ages 76–84 Years. *Journal of Community Health, 40*(4), 769-779. https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000603
- Lampard, A., Jurkowski, J., Lawson, H., & Davidson, K. (2013). Family ecological predictors of physical activity parenting in low-income families. *Behavioral Medicine*, 39(4), 97–103. https://doi.org/10.1080/08964289.2013.802215
- Lewis, V. A., Fraze, T., Fisher, E. S., Shortell, S. M., & Colla, C. H. (2017). ACOs serving high proportions of racial and ethnic minorities lag in quality performance. *Health Affairs*, 36(1), 57-66. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2016.0626
- Lloyd, S. C. (2016). Novel solution to achieve "80% by 2018" Two-Man colonoscopy performed by primary care physicians with expert back-up: Compliance and capacity without diluting quality. *Journal of Clinical Oncology, 34*(4_suppl), 544-

544. https://doi.org/10.1200/jco.2016.34.4 suppl.544

- Mankaney, G., Rizk, M., Sarvepalli, S., Bongorno, J., Garber, A., Lopez, R.& Burke, C.
 A. (2019). Patient-Initiated Colonoscopy Scheduling Effectively Increases
 Colorectal Cancer Screening Adherence. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences*, 1-8.
 https://doi.org/ https://doi.org/10.1007/s10620-019-05584-9
- Manteuffel, M., Williams, S., Chen, W., Verbrugge, R., Pittman, D., & Steinkellner, A. (2014). Influence of patient sex and gender on medication use, adherence, and prescribing alignment with guidelines. *Journal Of Women's Health*, 23(2), 112-119. https://doi.org/ 10.1089/jwh.2012.3972
- Mast, M. S., & Kadji, K. K. (2018). How female and male physicians' communication is perceived differently. *Patient education and counseling*, 101(9), 1697-1701. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2018.06.003
- Mastrokostas, A., Gavana, M., Gkrizioti, M., Smyrnakis, E., Cholongitas, E., Benos, A., & Haidich, A.-B. (2018). Discrepancies and misconceptions of perceived colorectal cancer screening barriers between primary health professionals and unscreened population. A comparative study in Greece. *Perspective, 23*(1), 67-76. https://jbuon.com/archive/23-7-67.pdf
- Mishra, M. K., Saunders, C. H., Rodriguez, H. P., Shortell, S. M., Fisher, E., & Elwyn, G. (2018). How do healthcare professionals working in accountable care organisations understand patient activation and engagement? Qualitative interviews across two time points. *BMJ open*, 8(10), 1-8.
 https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-023068

- Modi, P. K., Hollenbeck, B. K., & Borza, T. (2018). Searching for the value of accountable care organizations in cancer care. *Cancer*, 124(22), 4287-4289. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.31698
- Mogre, V, Johnson, N, Tzelepis, F, Paul, C.(2019). Barriers to diabetic self-care: A qualitative study of patients' and healthcare providers' perspectives *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 28, 2296–2308.https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.14835
- Nathan, A. G., Marshall, I. M., Cooper, J. M., & Huang, E. S. (2016). Use of Decision Aids with Minority Patients: a Systematic Review. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 31(6), 663-676. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-016-3609-2
- Noble, D. J., Greenhalgh, T., & Casalino, L. P. (2014). Improving population health one person at a time? Accountable care organisations: perceptions of population health—a qualitative interview study. *BMJ open, 4*(4), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2013-004665
- Nyweide, D. J., Lee, W., Cuerdon, T. T., Pham, H. H., Cox, M., Rajkumar, R., & Conway, P. H. (2015). Association of Pioneer Accountable Care Organizations vs traditional Medicare fee for service with spending, utilization, and patient experience. *Jama, 313*(21), 2152-2161. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2015.4930
- Phipps-Taylor, M., & Shortell, S. M. (2016). More than money: motivating physician behavior change in accountable care organizations. *The Milbank Quarterly*, 94(4), 832-861. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0009.12230
- Pineault, R., Provost, S., Borgès Da Silva, R., Breton, M., & Levesque, J.-F. (2016). Why Is Bigger Not Always Better in Primary Health Care Practices? The Role of

Mediating Organizational Factors. *INQUIRY: The Journal of Health Care Organization, Provision, and Financing, 53*, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1177/0046958015626842

- Powers, J. S., & Keohane, L. M. (2018). Dual Eligibles: Challenges for Medicare and Medicaid Coordination. In *Value Driven Healthcare and Geriatric Medicine* (pp. 129-136): Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-77057-4_9
- Prince, M., Lester, L., Chiniwala, R., & Berger, B. (2017). Multitarget stool DNA tests increases colorectal cancer screening among previously noncompliant Medicare patients. *World Journal of Gastroenterology*, 23(3), 464-471. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v23.i3.464
- Rabarison, K., Ingram, R., & Holsinger, J. (2013). Application of situational leadership to the national voluntary public health accreditation process. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 1(26), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2013.00026

Rowland, P., McMillan, S., McGillicuddy, P., & Richards, J. (2017). What is "the patient perspecitve" in patieint engagment programs? Implicit logics and parallels to feminist theories. *Health*, *21*(1), 76-92.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1363459316644494

Simmons, L., Wolever, R., Bechard, E., & Snyderman, R. (2014). Patient engagement as a risk factor in personalized health care: a systematic review of the literature on chronic disease. *Behavioral Medicine*, 6(16), 199-218. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/gm53

Rowland, P., McMillan, S., McGillicuddy, P., & RIchards, J. (2017). What is "the patient

perspecitve" in patieint engagment programs? Implicit logics and parallels to feminist theories. *Health*, *21*(1), 76-92.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1363459316644494

Shapiro, J., Rakhra, P., & Wong, A. (2018). The stories they tell: How third year medical students portray patients, family members, physicians, and themselves in difficult encounters. *Medical Teacher*, 38(10), 1033-1040. https://doi.org/10.3109/0142159X.2016.1147535

- Singal, A. G., Gupta, S., Skinner, C. S., Ahn, C., Santini, N. O., Agrawal, D.& Halm, E.
 A. (2017). Effect of Colonoscopy Outreach vs Fecal Immunochemical Test
 Outreach on Colorectal Cancer Screening Completion: A Randomized Clinical
 TrialEffect of Colonoscopy vs FIT Outreach on CRC Screening CompletionEffect
 of Colonoscopy vs FIT Outreach on CRC Screening Completion. *Jama, 318*(9),
 806-815. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2017.11389
- Slyne, T. C., Gautam, R., & King, V. (2017). Colorectal Cancer Screening: An educational intervention for nurse practitioners to increase screening awareness and participation. *Clinical Journal of Oncology Nursing*, 21(5), 543-546. https://doi.org/10.1188/17.CJON.543-546
- Smiddy, J., Reay, J., Peckham, S., Williams, L. & Wilson, P. (2015). Developing patient reference groups within general practice: a mixed methods study. *British Journal* of General Practice, 65(632), 177-183. https://doi.org/10.3399/bjgp15X683989
- Wagner, E., LeRoy, L., Schaefer, J., Bailit, M., Coleman, K., Zhan, C., & Meyers, D.(2018). How Do Innovative Primary Care Practices Achieve the Quadruple Aim?

The Journal of Ambulatory Care Management, 41(4), 288-297.

https://doi.org/10.1097/JAC.00000000000249

- Wang, H., Qiu, F., Gregg, A., Chen, B., Kim, J., Young, L.& Chen, L. W. (2018).
 Barriers and facilitators of colorectal cancer screening for patients of rural accountable care organization clinics: a multilevel analysis. *The Journal of Rural Health*, 34(2), 202-212. https://doi.org/10.1111/jrh.12248
- Wang, L., He, W., Yu, X., Hu, D., Bao, M., Liu, H., Zhou, J., & Jiang, H. (2020).
 Coronavirus disease 2019 in elderly patients: Characteristics and prognostic factors based on 4-week follow-up. *Journal of Infection*, 80(6), 639–645.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jinf.2020.03.019
- Williams, D., Wyatt, R. (2015) Racial Bias in Health Care and Health: Challenges and Opportunities.*JAMA*.;*314*(6):555–556. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2015.9260

Provider Influence on Patient Behavior Related to Population Insurance Coverage

Harry Petaway

Walden University

Objective: This study assesses the preventative quality performance measure (ACO #19) for colon cancer screening under Medicare Shared Savings Plan ACO guidelines. I quantified the overall performance of ACO #19 based on the population's demographics of race, age, and gender.

Methods: A cross-sectional quantitative study was conducted for organizations who participate as a Medicare Shared Savings Plan Accountable Care Organization. The research included secondary data analysis of the 2019 Medicare Shared Savings Plan PUF on quality performance.

Outlet for Manuscript

The *American Journal of Public Health* (AJPH) is the intended journal for this manuscript (https://ajph.aphapublications.org/). The initial submission requires a title page with the manuscript title, author name and affiliations, and full abstract and the manuscript with author and university information removed. In addition, the manuscript should contain the following elements:

- a. Title and abstract
- b. page numbers
- numbered lines (in Word, > Page Setup > Line Numbers > Continuous)
 throughout the text of the manuscript;
- d. 1.5 or double spacing with a font size of 12
- e. tables and figures embedded at the end of the manuscript, OR uploaded as separate files

Submission also requires a cover letter with concise text (maximum 150 words) that provides a description of what the paper adds to the knowledge on the topic, especially in respect to material previously published in the journal and elsewhere; includes the public health importance of the paper; and highlights the main message of the paper in one sentence. With the exception of history essays, all AJPH articles follow the AMA Manual of Style, 10th Edition. Substantive notes and footnotes are not permitted.

Abstract

Public health efforts to improve health include vaccination and screening initiatives to reduce the burden of disease. This study focused on colorectal cancer (CRC) screening behaviors of accountable care organization (ACO) patients with Medicaid and providers' ability to comply with the Medicare Shared Savings Plan (MSSP) quality measure ACO #19. This study used the socioecological model and a cross-sectional quantitative design to assess data from the MSSP public use file 2019 to expand on current literature that determined Medicaid patients experienced bias and obstacles while pursuing CRC screening. Furthermore, it supported previous research that patient behavior was the primary driver to improve healthcare quality and reduce costs. This study found ACOs with more Medicaid patients were also less successful with less Medicaid distribution. Success with CRC screening is influenced by factors like policies, funding sources, and external demands that guide decisions. Moreover, rising costs of the United States Healthcare system is a public health threat. This study contributes to positive social change by providing meaningful data to public health partnerships and policies that impact community health outcomes for lower socio-economic patients. The implications for positive social change in this study include data for policy makers, health, and public health care professionals to reduce disparities for CRC screening and incidence of CRC among vulnerable populations. Therefore, the application of my findings can improve the ability of public health and healthcare providers to predict their influence on behavior and health outcomes of the Medicaid beneficiaries they serve. The data also supports population health initiatives beyond CRC-related illness.

Introduction

Healthcare costs in the United States are rising at an unsustainable rate and include significant disparities in health outcomes attributed to social determinants (Foo et al., 2017; Noble et al., 2014). Public health agencies and clinical health organizations formed partnerships in several communities to form new public healthcare delivery models (Noble et al., 2014). These partnerships were designed to improve their population's health by influencing individual behavior and addressing social determinants of health (Bachrach et al., 2016; Noble et al., 2014). For example, the Institute of Healthcare Improvement's Quadruple Aim outlined a framework to improve health outcomes, lower healthcare costs, improve patient experience, and improve clinician satisfaction (Wagner et al., 2018). This contributed to the development of experimental alternative payment delivery models (APMs) to achieve components of the Quadruple Aim; however, these new designs have had varying degrees of success (Noble et al., 2014). Studies have shown that population engagement is essential to guide community members toward behaviors that lead to healthier outcomes, which could reduce the overall cost of care (Grand et al., 2014). However, there was little evidence of which strategies were most successful at influencing the population's behavior.

Problem

Patient behavior is the key to improve health quality and outcomes, yet many physicians have found it difficult to influence individual behavior (Hibbard et al., 2015). Moreover, researchers have found disparities in patient compliance with health behavior recommendations (Kiviniemi et al., 2018; Manteuffel et al., 2014) linked to patient characteristics and provider variables like the size of provider practices (Kiviniemi et al., 2018; Manteuffel et al., 2014). Data on the patient experience are captured in performance reporting through the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS, n.d.). Furthermore, patient perspectives toward patient engagement are well documented in the literature (Rowland et al., 2017). However, provider experiences, perceptions, success, and strategies to engage community members attributed to their APMs have not been represented in previous research (Andrealli et al., 2018; Bekmuratova et al., 2019; Berenson et al., 2016; Chen et al., 2016). Thus, there is an inability to replicate the best practices for population engagement, that improve participant experiences, job satisfaction, health outcomes, and lower costs. This manuscript addressed a gap in research and focused on the relationship of the population demographics race, age and gender and providers' influence on APM patient behavior. I explored the preventative quality performance measure for colon cancer screening ACO #19 for the Medicare Shared Savings Plan (MSSP) ACO guidelines.

Significance of the Study

ACOs introduced patient engagement initiatives to lower the U.S. healthcare costs with different levels of success (Noble et al., 2014). Some ACO populations include underserved and vulnerable patients who are covered by both Medicare and Medicaid (Powers & Keohane, 2018). Abundant data on health care quality are captured by CMS performance reports (CMS, n.d.). The literature, however, has not shown evidence as to why providers were successful at influencing patient behavior. Disparities for preventiative care and health outcomes exist for people with different insurance types (Kiviniemi et al., 2018). Davis et al. (2017), demonstrated that lower socioeconomic patients and Medicaid patients experienced bias when they pursued CRC screening. However, provider perceptions and their experience of engaging patients attributed to their APMs have not been explored in detail (Hibbard et al., 2015). One application of this rationale was shown in a study of an emerging United Kingdom healthcare model in which providers were paid incentives to develop patient focus groups with the intention of a community-based participatory approach to improve provider care delivery (Smiddy et al., 2014). Smiddy et al., (2015) proved that financial incentives increased the number of focus groups but found little impact on the quality of care delivered. Smiddy's model (2015) applies to my study as exploring provider experiences managing patient populations with Medicaid or lower socio-economic status might explain to what degree they effect patient behavior compared to the measures that determine their payments. My study found that ACOs with higher numbers of Medicaid patients had lower CRC screening rates.

Relevant Contribution to the Body of Knowledge

This manuscript is the first of three manuscripts to a cross-sectional quantitative study to explore the preventative quality performance for colon cancer screening under MSSP ACO guidelines. My broader study explores how patient demographic characteristics race, age, gender, and insurance coverage predict performance. This manuscript fills a gap in research by focusing on provider practice characteristics. My cross-sectional study provides a more comprehensive assessment of physician influence on patient behavior than studies like those from CMS. The purpose of my study was to assess the relationship between patients' insurance coverage and provider effectiveness at influencing patient behavior as measured by the compliance of MSSP performance measure ACO #19.

Framework

The socioecological model (SEM) guides my cross-sectional quantitative study. I assessed data from the MSSP public use file (PUF). Under the SEM, provider performance is affected by factors that influence both their decision making and their effectiveness to change patient behavior (Rabarison et al., 2013). SEM posits five categorical levels which affect behavior change (Lampard et al., 2013). These levels include the individual, interpersonal, organizational, community/environment, and society/policy levels (Lampard et al., 2013). While the factors of the SEM are hierarchical, they are also integrated, and a change in one area could impact others (Coreil, 2009).

The positivist ontology also guides my study. Positivism implies that there is a single truth (Burkholder et al., 2016). Medicare reports ACO #19 measure attainment through a PUF. Thus, these results reflect a single truth of their performance. My study assessed how insurance coverage predicts how effective providers are at achieving ACO #19 measure attainment. My findings are the source of truth under the positivist ontology for my study

My study is influenced by multiple contexts. The personal contexts for my study include my knowledge and experience with advance payment models and patient engagement. The social contexts include CMS guidelines, the fluidity of US healthcare policy, political climate, geographic locations, and local healthcare delivery priorities. Lastly, interpersonal contexts include Walden University dissertation committee representatives.

The definition of "provider success" is precise and supports a quantitative ontology of positivism where there is one true reality (Burkholder et al., 2016). Positivism guided my cross-sectional quantitative study to answer the question; "How effective were providers at influencing patient behavior based on the performance measure ACO #19 of the Medicaid Shared Savings Plan?". I analyzed archival data from the CMS to support the positivist approach to my research question (Burkholder et al., 2016).

Background

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is a leading cause of death in the United States (Lloyd, 2016). The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention estimated over 40,000 deaths attributed to colon cancer in 2016 (Bachman et al., 2018). The risk of CRC mortality can be reduced with early detection (Lloyd, 2016). Focused efforts to increase CRC screening led to a reduction of CRC related deaths in the last decade; yet, several disparities continue to exist across socioeconomic and racial/ethnic boundaries (Bromley et al., 2015). Klabunde et al. (2015) reported that almost 25% of adults between 76 and 84 did not meet the U.S. Preventative Services Task Force recommendations for CRC screening before the advent of Medicare ACOs.

APMs were created to fight rising health care costs in the United States (Noble et al., 2014). ACOs are one of the advanced payment models designed to shift the focus of

healthcare services from a traditional fee for service structure to a value-based care model. CRC screening is a key focus and measurement of ACOs. The propensity for provider recommendations for appropriate screening based on the Preventative Services Task Force recommendations for CRC screening was very low before the advent of Medicare ACOs (Klabunde et al., 2015). Studies showed that socioeconomic status was a patient characteristic and determinant of CRC screening completion (Farrukh & Mayberry, 2019).

Some ACO populations include underserved and vulnerable patients who are covered by Medicaid in addition to their Medicare coverage (Powers & Keohane, 2018). Researchers found that Medicaid patients experienced bias when they pursued CRC screening (Davis et al., 2017). For example, Nymo, Aabakken, and Lassen (2018) reported that Medicaid patients experienced longer wait times when they scheduled CRC screening procedures whereas more affluent patients were prioritized to enhance their patient experience and satisfaction. Thus, providers must be aware of both intentional and unintended bias when working with patients from different cultures and socioeconomic groups (Alspach, 2018). Other studies, however, suggested Medicaid patients received more opportunities for CRC screening as care coordination improved for dual eligible patients (Craver et al., 2018). In fact, Davis and colleagues (2019) found evidence that CRC screening increased for Oregon Medicaid patients who were enrolled in an ACO. However, their research observed an ACO structure designed exclusively for Medicaid patients (Davis et al., 2019). Evidence also showed that more ACOs were more likely to have formal partnerships with public health agencies where there were large numbers of

Medicaid patients and where residents were eligible for both Medicare and Medicaid (Costich, Scutchfield, & Ingram, 2015)

Research further documented disproportionate racial and socioeconomic disparities and highlighted the diverse cultural requirements needed to influence patient behavior (Ashktorab et al., 2017; Bromley et al., 2015; Burnett-Hartman et al., 2016; Chablani et al., 2017). Many studies offered anecdotal patient interventions for patients not enrolled in APMs (Nathan et al., 2016; Singal et al., 2017; Slyne et al., 2017). Additionally, studies that focused on non-APM patient experiences reinforced culturally competent approaches based on diverse patient demographics (Alsayid et al., 2019; Brittain & Murphy, 2015; Chen et al., 2016).

Fear was demonstrated to be a major influence for compliance by all patients, but particularly among blacks and Hispanics (Basch et al., 2016; Bromley et al., 2015; Hall et al., 2016; Kiviniemi et al., 2018; Mastrokostas et al., 2018). Fear emerged as fear of both fear of undergoing the procedure and fear of the procedure's findings (Bromley et al., 2015). Ineffective communication and perceived provider uncertainty also affected the patient decision-making process (Beverly et al., 2016). This was confounded by patients' expectations of the provider (Alspach, 2018; Mast & Kadji, 2018). For example, patients with different socio-economic backgrounds had different expectations of the quality of care they should receive from providers (Mast & Kadji, 2018). As such, trust was demonstrated to be a contributing factor behind non-compliance of CRC screening for Hispanic patients and patients of lower socio-economic status (Hong et al., 2018). Studies also showed unconscious bias by providers when treating patients of different demographics and socioeconomic status (Williams et al., 2015).

Medicare recognizes four methods of colonoscopy screening to demonstrate compliance with the ACO #19 measure (Prince et al., 2017). These include colonoscopy, DNA, stool testing, and fecal occult blood test. Studies suggest CRC compliance varies with the type of test offered, Thus, could impact the CRC screening recommendations that providers make to their patients (Alsayid et al., 2019; Basch et al., 2016; Bian et al., 2016; Brenner & Chen, 2017; Bromley et al., 2015; Chambers et al., 2016).

Colonoscopy is the most popular forms of CRC screening, and includes multiple steps like scheduling, bowel preparation, sedation, and the procedure itself; some of which contain multiple levels of compliance (Powers et al., 2018). For example, strategies such as enhanced written education, media campaigns, and videos improve compliance with the bowel preparation step (Andrealli et al., 2018; Cole et al., 2019; Essink-Bot et al., 2016). However, they were demonstrated as less effective to improve patient health literacy and compliance for completing a colonoscopy procedure (Clark et al., 2017; Enard et al., 2015; Mishra et al., 2018).

Success varied among the experimental APMs in the United States (Noble et al., 2014). Hibbard et al. (2015) documented that compensation from APMs in other countries influenced physician opinions on the importance of patient behavior. They further provided evidence that patient behavior was the primary driver of improving quality (Hibbard et al., 2015). Other studies showed that improvements in patient engagement lead to better health outcomes (Simmons et al., 2014; Grand et al., 2014).

Physicians in the United States agreed that patient behavior was the key determinant to improve quality and outcomes, yet, many found frustration when they tried to influence individual behavior (Hibbard et al., 2015). While many providers perceived their role within the community and in population health as "medicine-based"; a growing emphasis on preventative care and the diverse characteristics of their attributed patient base fostered better collaboration between healthcare providers and traditional public health organizations (Ingram et al., 2015). This was particularly true for mutual objectives like cancer prevention or serving a large number of Medicaid patients (Basch et al., 2016; Ingram et al., 2015).

Nywelde et al. (2015) showed the initial performance under the Medicare ACO model reduced healthcare expenditures within the attributed population base when compared to traditional Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries. The CMS measures ACO providers across four domains, which include care coordination, patient safety, patient experience, and preventative health (Modi et al., 2018). Providers are rewarded for the decreased cost of patient care as well as achieving various quality metrics outlined in their ACO contracts.

Studies documented provider perceptions of barriers and provider characteristics that influenced their decision making and level success (Mastrokostas et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2018). These included the basic ability to verify patient's correct CRC status and the clinician's ability to confer with specialists (Mastrokostas et al., 2018) For example, a provider recommendation is a primary influence on whether patients of all demographic groups participate in CRC screenings (Bian et al., 2016; Bromley et al., 2015). Some

studies showed that health information technologies that shared patient information, insurance information and alerted providers to the patient's CRC risk or screening status nudged providers to provide CRC screening recommendations (Kim et al., 2017b; Mankaney et al., 2019). Additionally, other studies reiterated the importance of Patient Behavior on quality performance and the need to implement systems to support patient engagement activities to influence behavior (Mishra et al., 2018). These included the concepts of, motivational interviewing, goal setting, and shared decision making (Mishra et al., 2018). However, Mishra et al. (2018) reported that providers were aware of these concepts but often lacked the depth of understanding and practice to implement them in a meaningful way. Shapiro et al. (2018) further described provider experiences with tough to manage patients in which providers described themselves as anxious, frustrated, and uncertain with little preparation for how to handle difficult patients. My study fills a gap in research by focusing on the patient insurance coverage to achieve compliance with CRC screening recommendations.

Research Question and Design

The nature of the manuscript is a cross-sectional quantitative study for the following research question:

Based on the performance measures of the MSSP, what is the relationship between insurance and compliance of MSSP performance measure ACO #19?

 H_0 : There are no statistically significant differences in behavior as measured by the compliance of MSSP performance measure ACO #19 based on insurance coverage.

 H_a : There are statistically significant differences in behavior as measured by the compliance of MSSP performance measure ACO #19 based on insurance coverage.

The rationale for these research questions are based on a series of assumptions. First, there are outcomes related to patient behavior that are reported by CMS. Second, there are outcomes related to patient behavior that are perceived by physicians (Ravitch et al., 2016). Third, success can be measured through CMS reporting (CMS, 2017).

Cross-sectional quantitative studies are descriptive research to describe community characteristics at a single point in time. I analyzed data from the MSSP PUF from 2019. I assessed the relationship of dependent variable ACO performance for measure ACO #19 and the independent variable patient insurance.

Methods

Operational Definitions

ACO #19: Percentage of adults between 50–75 years of age who had appropriate screening for CRC for ACO quality reporting (CMS, 2017).

Alternative payment delivery models: Several experimental advance/APMs have been created with varying success to introduce new patient engagement initiatives to combat higher U.S. healthcare costs (Noble et al., 2014).

Attribution: The patients assigned to the health care provider for which they are being measured (Noble et al., 2014).

Patient engagement: Studies show that improvements in patient engagement lead to better health outcomes (Simmons et al., 2014).

Practice size: The number of patients and the number of primary care physicians in an ACO.

Bias and Limitations

I analyzed archived data from the CMS; therefore, the quality of this quantitative data source was beyond my control as the researcher and contingent on the data collection process for MSSP reporting (Burkholder et al., 2016). CMS (2017) allows providers to review and dispute published performance data, followed by a final CMS ruling. I used the final report issued by CMS which included corrections to improve data quality. I coalso uld not control confounding variables that may influence provider-patient attribution (Noble et al., 2014). These included patient comorbidities that can affect patients abilities to comply with healthcare treatment plans (DeJean et al., 2013). **Scope and Delimitations**

The MSSP ACO PUF details physician performance against 32 measures across four domains (CMS, n.d.). The results are the official CMS findings and used to pay provider incentives (Noble et al., 2014). Therefore, these measures are valid representations of physician performance. The scope of my study was to evaluate physicians' performance against the CMS measurement for colon cancer screening "ACO #19".

I limited my target population to the subset of organizations that had previous experience with MSSP ACOs and those who reported data for the 2019 MSSP reporting year. Excluding first-year MSSP participants improved credibility by ensuring that providers in the sample had a baseline measurement that reflected their performance better (Noble et al., 2016). Foo et al. (2017) showed disparities in provider-patient interactions may be influenced by the factors race and patient insurance coverage. Therefore, a third delimitation limited the participatn sample to those with a patient base with at least 10% non-White and accept both Medicaid and Medicare patients (CMS, 2017). Succesful attainmnet of ACO #19 was detrmined by a score of at least 30% (CMS, 2017). I differentiated well-performing providers from poor performing using this recognized benchmark as a fourth delimitation (CMS, 2017).

Design

Positivism guided the cross-sectional quantitative study to answer the question, "How effective are providers at influencing patient behavior based on the performance measure ACO #19 of the Medicaid Shared Savings Plan?" Archival data analysis from the CMS 2019 MSSP PUF supported the positivist approach to my research question. I used the quality performance data for healthcare providers reported in the PUF to determine their effectiveness at influencing patient behavior as it correlated to their practice size.

Instrumentation

Archival data from the MSSP PUF for 2019 was used for the data collection process. The MSSP ACO PUF was derived from a combination of provider claims and survey data. The PUF files are available for performance years 2013-2019. The PUF file included hundreds of variables, descriptions and performance measure outcomes. These included measures for six behavior related preventative measures. Performance measures were captured as a percent of the total population where a higher score means higher performance for that measure.

Provider incentives for MSSP ACOs were based on quantitative analysis of their performance against established benchmarks (Noble et al., 2014). As such the current reporting for the effectiveness of APMs is dichotomous as the providers did or did not meet their measurement objectives (CMS, n.d.). This clear determination of provider success supports a quantitative ontology of positivism in which there is one true reality (Burkholder et al., 2016). Furthermore, quantitative analysis of provider performance using MSSP public use data is an accepted practice among the healthcare community (Noble et al., 2016).

Participants

I limited the evaluation of provider performance to organizations in the United States who had previous ACO experience prior to 2019 and who reported data for the 2019 MSSP reporting year. Previous studies showed that providers treated patients differently according to sociodemographic characteristics (Foo et al., 2017; Manteuffel et al., 2014). Therefore, I restricted participants to ACOs with a patient base of at least 10% non-White and who accepted both Medicaid and Medicare patients. Furthermore, CMS set a minimum standard of 30% achievement to comply with MSSP guidelines. Therefore, participant selection was based on provider performance compared to the 30% benchmark.

Data Sources

Archival data was reviewed from the MSSP PUF for 2019. I used data for new and returning ACO participants from the 2019 MSSP PUF. I described the extent that ACOs were successful with measure ACO #19. I uploaded the entire MSSP PUF database into SPSS v25 for review, analysis, and statistical testing.

Quantitative Collection and Analysis

I assessed how effective ACOs were at changing patient behavior. I described the extent that ACOs were successful at achieving colon cancer screening for measure ACO #19. I uploaded the entire 2019 MSSP PUF database into SPSS v25 for review, analysis, and statistical testing. I retained the native MSSP PUF document, which was uploaded multiple times with all statistical tests replicated to ensure integrity and reliability. I used Pearson Correlation and linear regression to determine if there was a significant relationship between ACO practice size and performance. The level of significance was set to 0.05.

Results

Based on the performance measures of the MSSP, what is the relationship between insurance coverage and compliance with MSSP performance measure ACO #19?

*H*₀: There are no statistically significant differences in compliance with MSSP performance measure ACO #19 based on insurance coverage.

 $H_{\rm a}$: There are statistically significant differences in compliance with MSSP performance measure ACO #19 based on insurance coverage.

Execution

Archival data from the MSSP PUF (CMS, n.d.) for 2019 were assessed for 470 ACOs. I calculated an additional variable to reflect the percentage of the total population by race, age, gender, and Medicaid status in Microsoft Excel. The modified file was then entered into SPSS version 25 to organize, code, and screen data. Data for ACO #19 score and practice size were recoded to ordinal categorical data. Values were calculated including frequency counts and percentages with SPSS. Descriptive data analysis was performed for frequencies for all ACOs.

The final sample size was narrowed to 140 ACOs based on the inclusion and exclusion criteria for the study. These included previous experience in the MSSP program and an ACO #19 score of 30 or more, an attribution that was at least 10% non-White. I performed statistical assumption tests for normal distribution, homoscedasticity, and linearity between dependent and independent variables before research question analysis. Table 14 summarizes the dependent, independent variables, and statistical analyses used to evaluate the research questions.

Table 14

Research Question	Variable	Independent Variable	Analysis
What is the relationship between insurance and compliance with MSSP performance measure ACO #19?	ACO #19 Score	Number of Medicaid Patients Percent of Medicaid Patients	Pearson Correlation Linear Regression

Variables and Statistical Tests Used to Evaluate Research Questions

Note. ACO = accountable care organization

Descriptive Statistics for all ACOs

Descriptive analysis for all (n = 470) ACOs and the target sample (n = 140) were conducted for ACO #19 performance and insurance. Table 15 shows the ACO #19 performance with most organizations achieving between 50% and 90%. Performance for the target population aligned with the larger base with most organizations (n = 85)achieving between 70–89% followed by those between 50–69% (n = 47).

Table 15

ACO #191 erjormance Range and Frequency										
	All A	COs	Target A	Target ACOs						
ACO #19 Sc	ore Frequency	Percent	Frequency	Percent						
0-29	4	0.9								
30-49	13	2.8	4	2.9						
50-69	157	33.4	47	33.6						
70-89	287	61.1	85	60.7						
90 to 100	9	1.9	4	2.9						
Total	470	100.0	140	100.0						
11 1 0 0			• •							

ACO #19 Performance Range and Frequency

Note. ACO = accountable care organization

Most ACOs had less than 200 primary care providers with the majority falling between 50–99 at roughly 22%. ACOs that did not report a score for ACO #19 (n = 4) were removed. Of the remaining (n = 466) there was a total of 9,918,470 patients. Table 16 shows beneficiaries with Medicaid totaled 606,989 or six percent of total patients. The number of patients with Medicaid ranged from 67-17,981.

Table 16

Range and Percentage of Attribution Across all ACOs

	Minimum	Maximum	Sum	Percent				
Total Patients	2,193	239,924	9,918,470					
Medicaid Patients	67	17,981	606,989	6%				
Non-Medicaid Patients	1,346	181,135	7,917,736	80%				
Non-Medicaid Patients	1,346	181,135	7,917,736	80%				
The attribution of most ACOs in the target population was under 40,000 patients. Table 17 shows that over half of the ACOs carried an attribution of between 10,000 and 39,999 followed by a range of 2,193 to 9,999 (27%).

Table 17

Range and Percentage of Attribution Attribution Range Frequency Percent 0-9,999 38 27.1 10,000-39,999 77 55.0 40,000-79,999 19 13.6 80,000 or more 4.3 6 Total 140 100.0

Tests of Assumptions

I conducted assumption tests of the dependent variable ACO #19. The data were normally distributed and follow a normal distribution curve. The skewness and kurtosis tests for normal distribution should fall between the rage of ± 2 and ± 7 respectfully. The ACO #19 score data for skewness was -.287 and kurtosis was -.692. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test for normality was insignificant at .058. Figure 5 shows the normal Q-Q plot of the data.

Figure 4

Normal Q-Q Plot for ACO #19 Performance



Note. ACO = accountable care organization

Inferential Statistics

The Medicaid.gov website (2021) defines Medicaid as insurance coverage provided by states according to federal requirements for eligible low-income patients and people with disabilities. I found that insurance coverage of patients in an ACO statically influenced ACO #19 performance. Therefore, the null hypothesis that there was no relationship between insurance and ACO #19 performance was rejected. I used bivariate correlation to assess the relationship between the dependent variable ACO #19 Performance and independent variables for insurance (Medicaid). These included the total of Medicaid patients and the percentage of Medicaid patients of the total population. Table 18 shows the number of non-Medicaid patients in an ACO had a positive correlation of .247 that was statistically significant with p = .003. The percentage of

patients in the ACO had negative correlation of -.357 that was statistically significant

with *p*<0.05.

Table 18

Correlation Between Medicaid and ACO #19 Performance

			Medicaid	Non-Medicaid	Medicaid
			Patients	Patients	Percent
ACO #19	Pearson	1	-0.096	.247**	357**
Performance	Correlation				
	P value		0.259	0.003	0.000
	Ν	140	140	140	140
	(11	• ,•	** 0	1	1 0.01

Note. ACO = accountable care organization. **. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

Medicaid only accounted for six percent of the total (n = 466) of the total

population. However, figure six shows ACOs in the target sample (n = 140) with higher

percentages of Medicaid patients performed lower than those with less.

Figure 5

ACO #19 Score and percent of Medicaid



Note. ACO = accountable care organization

Linear Regression

I used linear regression to further analyze the correlations between ACO #19 Performance and levels of insurance coverage within the ACO population. The relationship was statistically significant (F(3,136) = 8.12, p < .05). Insurance accounted for a 15.2% variance in ACO performance and an adjusted R^2 of .133. ACO performance decreased B = -.001 as the number of Medicaid Patients in increased. Performance decreased by B = -.228 as the percent of Medicaid patients in the ACO increased.

Discussion

Interpretation

My research correlates with previous research around physician influence on paitent behavior and patient compliance with physicina recommendations. For example, Klabunde et al. (2015) reported that almost 25% of adults between 76 and 84 did not meet the U.S. Preventative Services Task Force recommendations for CRC screening before the advent of Medicare ACOs. My findings showed that only four out of 470 ACOs did not meet the minimum performance score of 30 for ACO #19. However, 36% of the 140 target ACOs scored under 70%.

The first ACOs showed an increase in CRC screening for patients 65 years or older when compared to non-ACO patients or the start of the ACO model (Preston et al., 2018); however, significant disparities for screening rates were found between White and Black or Hispanic ACO members (Bromley et al., 2015). Additionally, the trend to improve quality measures has not applied to ACOs in underserved communities nor among racial disparities (Bromley et al., 2015). My overarching study found that ACOs with more Black and Hispanic patients did not perform as well for ACO #19. Other researchers have also found disparities in compliance among people with health behavior recommendations based on factors including insurance coverage (Kiviniemi et al., 2018; Manteuffel et al., 2014).

Additionally, I found that higher numbers and percentages of Medicaid patients negatively affected ACO #19 performance. Medicaid is insurance coverage for eligible low-income patients. Thus, high number of Medicaid patients could indicate lower socioeconomic status of the ACO attribution. But caution should be made when generalizing these results as they were not calculated at the individual patient or provider level.

Interpretation in the Context of the Socioecological Model

My study was guided by the SEM. Under the SEM, provider performance is affected by factors that influence both their decision making and their effectiveness to change patient behavior (Rabarison et al., 2013). My study showed that participation in an ACO and practice size as total patients and number of minorities may influence provider effectiveness to change patient behavior. Furthermore, results demonstrated that factors related to the characteristics of their patients influences their effectiveness. Society/policy factors tied to creating ACOs and their CMS quality measurements (i.e., success defined by a score of at least 30 for ACO #19) are also influential. My study did not report findings related to race. However, my overarching research demonstrated that high percentage of minorities negatively influenced provider effectiveness.

Limitations

There are limitations to my study. First, I excluded new ACOs from the full analysis. Thus, the range of performance of the sample population (n = 140) may not reflect the distribution of the entire ACO base (n = 470). Nor may it reflect provider patient relationships for providers and patients that do not participate in ACOs. Caution should be used when generalizing these results for other applications. Second, the MSSP PUF file data are restricted to the variables within the data set. The file does not provide CRC screening results at the individual level for patients or providers. Thus, my findings are limited to generalizations about ACOs based on total number of providers, total number of patients, and percentages of patients with certain characteristics. As a result, I am unable to articulate differences in ACO #19 compliance at the individual patient and rely instead solely on the ACO #19 performance score. I am also unable to articulate difference at the individual provider level. Lastly, the MSSP PUF has a one-year delay in reporting. The results were provided before the significant change in care delivery due to the COVID-19 pandemic and may influence the generalizability for future applications.

Implications

My study supported previous research that showed the characteristics of the providers' patient population affected their ability to influence patient behavior. It further demonstrated disparities among poor patient populations. It also supports evidence which suggested that lower socioeconomic patients and Medicaid patients experienced bias when they pursued CRC screening (Davis et al., 2017). This may call for a focus on cultural competency strategies to mediate intentional and unintended bias when working

with patients from lower socioeconomic groups (Alspach, 2018). ACOs are partnerships among care providers including public health organizations. Thus, ACOs should consider their care delivery strategies and policies for lower socioeconomic populations as to the eligibility for enrollment and the scope of benefits they receive.

My study promotes positive social change by providing meaningful data to the public health and health care provider partnerships engaged in transforming healthcare from a transactional delivery system to an evidence-based system of value (Berenson et al., 2016). My study helps to decrease the prevalence of CRC and by doing so reduce the economic and quality of life burden for individuals suffering from the disease. Moreover, my study may help to reduce disparities for CRC screening and incidence of CRC among poor populations. It provides a foundation for population health initiatives beyond CRC related illness Thus, improving the wellbeing of communities and increase public health emergency preparedness. Thus, my study can improve public health and healthcare professionals' ability to influence the behaviors and health outcomes of the community members they serve. This is a vital component of current efforts to screen for COVID-19, promote adoption of behaviors to slow the spread of COVID-19 and adoption of COVID-19 vaccinations.

The CMS (2012) stated that more than 70% of patients over the age of 65 have two or more chronic conditions. The management of patients with multiple chronic diseases is more difficult than in those suffering from a single condition (Wagner et al., 2013). Wang et al., observed (2020) that elderly COVID-19 patients were among the most severe to critical cases with a high rate of fatality. Thus, the results of my study apply to current efforts for high risk elderly patients, their providers, and communities.

Cancer screening rates have declined due to the COVID-19 pandemic (Carethers et al., 2020). The COVID-19 pandemic disproportionality affected poor and minority communities (Carethers et al.). As such, Carethers et al., posit that extended delays in cancer screening is expected to lead to increase cancer for all populations. This is expected to be elevated in minorities and lower socio-economic people. My findings offer insight as to which populations may be at greater risk based on their previous experience with CRC screening before the pandemic.

Lastly, my study may offer guidance to public health and healthcare provider leaders on ways to train professionals better, reduce frustration, improve success and achieve higher levels of satisfaction in their work both in routine interventions and public health emergencies.

Recommendations

Several recommendations resulted for additional research from my study. Additional analysis should be conducted for further assessment of ACO #19 performance based on additional patient characteristics such as age, race and gender. Second, CRC screening is the most complex behavior measured for ACOs which include a variety of tests with multiple steps like colonoscopy screening. This contrasts with dichotomous behaviors like receiving a flu-vaccinations. I recommend future studies compare complex behaviors like CRC with dichotomous decision like influenza vaccination. The study should also be replicated for all 470 ACO participants. This may provide insight on differences and similarities to new and experienced ACOs. The study should also include provider feedback using the Primary Care Provider Behavioral Health Intervention Survey. The original tool was designed to assess provider perceptions of factors that influence their intention to use interventions when treating children with mental health problems and can be modified for adults (Arora et al., 2016).

Lastly the study should be replicated and expanded as a mixed methods explanatory sequential study. Mixed methods integrates open-ended qualitative data with closed-ended quantitative data from inquiry (Creswell, 2009). Mixed methods strategy is purpose-driven research to provide a more in-depth insight into how health professionals influence participant behavior (Creswell, 2009). Mixed methods can develop a more comprehensive understanding of changes needed for population engagement as well as understanding the process and outcomes of current patient engagement strategies (Creswell, 2009).

Conclusion

Health care delivery and public health have overlapping efforts like health screening activities for better health outcomes and to lower the burden of disease (Cunningham, et al., 2020). Partnerships between community-based organizations, health care delivery and public health organizations improve public health outcomes. Studies showed patient behavior was the key to improve quality and health outcomes (Mogre et al., 2019). The MSSP ACO is partnership based advanced payment model designed to curb cost and improve patient outcomes for colon cancer among other disease measures. CRC is a leading cause of death in the United States, (Loyd, 2016) and more research is needed to determine the impact of MSSP ACO providers on CRC screening.

Previous research found disparities in health behavior recommendation compliance among people based on insurance and socio-economic status. My quantitative study of 140 ACO participants sought to determine the relationship between Medicaid coverage and compliance with MSSP performance measure for colonoscopy screening ACO #19.

My study supported previous research that showed the characteristics of the providers' patient population affected their ability to influence patient behavior. It further demonstrated disparities among minority and poor patient populations. My study showed differences in performance based on the number and percentage of patients with Medicaid. Performance decreased as the number and percentage of patients increased. This aligned with previous research which showed ACOs in underserved or lower socioeconomic areas did not perform as well as their peers in other areas.

My study addressed the gap in research and focused on the distribution of Medicaid patients in ACO patient populations. It contributes to positive social change by providing meaningful data to public health partnerships and policies that impact community health outcomes for lower socio-economic patients. Therefore, the application of my findings can improve the ability of public health and healthcare providers to predict their influence on behavior and health outcomes of the community members they serve.

References

Alsayid, M., Tlimat, N. M., Spigner, C., & Dimaano, C. (2019). Perceptions of colorectal cancer screening in the Arab American community: A pilot study. *Primary Health Care Research & Development, 20* (e90), 1-5. *https://doi.org/10.1017/S1463423619000161*

Alspach, J. G. (2018). Implicit bias in patient care: An endemic blight on quality care. *Critical Care Nurse*, *38*(4), 12–16. https://doi.org/10.4037/ccn2018698

- Andrealli, A., Paggi, S., Amato, A., Rondonotti, E., Imperiali, G., Lenoci, N. & Radaelli,
 F. (2018). Educational strategies for colonoscopy bowel prep overcome barriers against split-dosing: A randomized controlled trial. *United European Gastroenterology Journal*, 6(2), 283–289.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/2050640617717157
- Ashktorab, H., Kupfer, S. S., Brim, H., & Carethers, J. M. (2017). Racial disparity in gastrointestinal cancer risk. *Gastroenterology*, 153(4), 910–923. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2017.08.018
- Bachman, A., Cohen, E., Collins, T., Hatcher, J., Crosby, R., & Vanderpool, R. (2018).
 Identifying communication barriers to colorectal cancer screening adherence among Appalacian Kentuckians. *Health Communication*, *33*(10), 1284-1292.
 https://10.1080/10410236.2017.1351274
- Bachrach, D., Bernstein, W., Augenstein, J., & Lipson, M. (2016, April). Implementing New York's DSRIP Program. *The Common Wealth Fund*, 1–34. https://www.commonwealthfund.org/sites/default/files/documents/___media_files

_publications_fund_report_2016_apr_1871_bachrach_implementing_new_york_ dsrip_v4.pdf

- Basch, C., Basch, C., Zybert, P., & Wolf, R. (2016). Fear as a Barrier to Asymptomatic
 Colonoscopy Screening in an Urban Minority Population with Health Insurance.
 Journal of Community Health, 41(4), 818–824. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10900016-0159-9
- Bekmuratova, S., Kim, J., Wang, H., Young, L., Schober, D. J., & Chen, L.-W. (2019).
 Clinic exploration of care processes to promote colorectal cancer screening in rural accountable care organization clinics: A qualitative case study. *The Qualitative Report, 24*(6), 1442–1459.https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol24/iss6/15
- Berenson, R. A., Burton, R. A., & McGrath, M. (2016). Do accountable care organizations (ACOs) help or hinder primary care physicians' ability to deliver high-quality care? *Healthcare*, 4(3) 155–159.

 Beverly, E. A., Worley, M., Prokopakis, K., & Ivanov, N. (2016). Patient-physician communication and diabetes self-care. *Journal of Clinical Outcomes Management, 23*(11), 509–518. https://www.mdedge.com/jcomjournal/article/146123/diabetes/patient-physician-

communication-and-diabetes-self-care

Bian, J., Bennett, C., Cooper, G., D'Alfonso, A., Fisher, D., Lipscomb, J., & Qian, C.-N.
(2016). Assessing colorectal cancer screening adherence of medicare fee-forservice beneficiaries age 76 to 95 years. *Journal of Oncology Practice, 12*(6), 670–680. https://doi.org/10.1200/jop.2015.009118

- Brenner, H., & Chen, H. (2017). Fecal occult blood versus DNA testing: indirect comparison in a colorectal cancer screening population. *Clinical Epidemiology*, 9, 377–384. https://doi.org/10.2147/CLEP.S136565
- Brittain, K., & Murphy, V. P. (2015). Sociocultural and health correlates related to colorectal cancer screening adherence among urban African Americans. *Cancer Nursing*, 38(2), 118-124. https://doi.org/10.1097/NCC.000000000000157 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4233019/pdf/nihms-593009.pdf
- Bromley, E. G., May, F. P., Federer, L., Spiegel, B. M., & Van Oijen, M. G. (2015). Explaining persistent under-use of colonoscopic cancer screening in African Americans: a systematic review. *Preventive Medicine*, 71, 40–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.11.022
- Burnett-Hartman, A. N., Mehta, S. J., Zheng, Y., Ghai, N. R., McLerran, D. F., Chubak, J., & Inadomi, J. M. (2016). Racial/ethnic disparities in colorectal cancer screening across healthcare systems. *American journal of Preventive Medicine*, 51(4), e107–e115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2016.02.025
- Carethers, J. M., Sengupta, R., Blakey, R., Ribas, A., & D'Souza, G. (2020). Disparities in cancer prevention in the COVID-19 era. *Cancer Prevention Research*, 13(11), 893–896. https://doi.org/10.1158/1940-6207.capr-20-0447
- Casalino, L. P., & Chenven, N. (2017). Independent practice associations: Advantages and disadvantages of an alternative form of physician practice organization.
 Healthcare, 5(1–2), 46–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hjdsi.2016.08.003

Casalino, L. P., Wu, F. M., Ryan, A. M., Copeland, K., Rittenhouse, D. R., Ramsay, P.

P., & Shortell, S. M. (2013). Independent practice associations and physician-hospital organizations can improve care management for smaller practices. *Health Affairs, 32*(8), 1376–1382. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2013.0205

Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. (n.d.). Shared Savings Program Accountable Care Organizations (ACO) PUF. Research, Statistic, Data and Systems, https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Downloadable-Public-Use-Files/SSPACO/index.html.

- Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. (2017, December). Accountable Care Organization (ACO) Measures. Physician Compare 2016, 1-8. CMS. https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Quality-Initiatives-Patient-Assessment-Instruments/physician-compare-initiative/Downloads/PC-PY-2016-ACO-Profile-Page.pdf
- Chablani, S. V., Cohen, N., White, D., Itzkowitz, S. H., DuHamel, K., & Jandorf, L. (2017). Colorectal cancer screening preferences among Black and Latino primary care patients. *Journal of immigrant and minority health*, *19*(5), 1100–1108. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-016-0453-8
- Chambers, J. A., Callander, A. S., Grangeret, R., & O'Carroll, R. E. (2016). Attitudes towards the faecal occult blood test (FOBT) versus the faecal immunochemical test (FIT) for colorectal cancer screening: perceived ease of completion and disgust. *BMC Cancer*, *16*, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-016-2133-4
- Chen, J., Mullins, C. D., Novak, P., & Thomas, S. B. (2016). Personalized Strategies to Activate and Empower Patients in Health Care and Reduce Health Disparities.

Health Education & Behavior, 43(1), 25-34. https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198115579415

Clark, R., McArthur, C., Papaioannou, A., Cheung, A., Laprade, J., Lee, L.&
Giangregorio, L. (2017). "I do not have time. Is there a handout I can use?":
combining physicians' needs and behavior change theory to put physical activity
evidence into practice. *Osteoporosis International, 28*(6), 1953-1963.
https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs00198-017-3975-6

Cole, A. P., Krasnova, A., Friedlander, D. F., McNabb-Baltar, J., Melnitchouk, N., Lipsitz, S. R. & Trinh, Q.-D. (2019). Recommended Cancer Screening in Accountable Care Organizations: Trends in Colonoscopy and Mammography in the Medicare Shared Savings Program. *Journal of Oncology Practice*, 15(6), 547-559. https://doi.org/10.1200/JOP.18.00352

Coreil, J. (2009). Social and behavioral foundation of public health (2nd ed). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage DeJean, D., Giacomini, M., Vanstone, M. & Brundisini, F. (2013). Patient Experiences of Depression and Anxiety with Chronic Disease. A Systematic Review and Qualitative Meta-Synthesis. Ontario Health Technology Assessment Series. 12(16), 1-33.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3817854/pdf/ohtas-13-33a.pdf

Craver, G. A., Gimm, G., & Hill, K. E. V. (2018). Understanding care coordination experiences in a state Medicare Medicaid Financial Alignment Demonstration. *Journal of Health and Human Services Administration*, 41(2), 196-236. https://jhhsa.spaef.org/article/1840/Understanding-Care-Coordination-

Experiences-in-a-State-Medicare-Medicaid-Financial-Alignment-Demonstration

- Cunningham, S., Cunningham, R., Line, L., Patti, M., Bucher, M., Durnwald, C., & Srinivas, S. (2020). Safe Start Community Health Worker Program: A Multisector Partnership to Improve Perinatal Outcomes Among Low-Income Pregnant Women With Chronic Health Conditions. *American Journal of Public Health*, 110, 836-839. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2020.305630
- Enard, K. R., Nevarez, L., Hernandez, M., Hovick, S. R., Moguel, M. R., Hajek, R. A., & Torres-Vigil, I. (2015). Patient navigation to increase colorectal cancer screening among Latino Medicare enrollees: a randomized controlled trial. *Cancer Causes & Control: CCC, 26*(9), 1351-1359. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10552-015-0620-6
- Essink-Bot, M. L., Dekker, E., Timmermans, D. R. M., Uiters, E., & Fransen, M. P. (2016). Knowledge and Informed Decision-Making about Population-Based
 Colorectal Cancer Screening Participation in Groups with Low and Adequate
 Health Literacy. *Gastroenterology Research and Practice, 2016*, 1-8.
 https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/7292369
- Foo, P. K., Frankel, R. M., McGuire, T. G., Zaslavsky, A. M., Lafata, J. E., & Tai-Seale, M. (2017). Patient and Physician Race and the Allocation of Time and Patient Engagement Efforts to Mental Health Discussions in Primary Care: An Observational Study of Audiorecorded Periodic Health Examinations. *The Journal of ambulatory care management*, 40(3), 246–256. https://doi.org/10.1097/JAC.00000000000176

- Greene, J., Hibbard, J. H., & Overton, V. (2015). Large Performance Incentives Had The Greatest Impact On Providers Whose Quality Metrics Were Lowest At Baseline. *Health Affairs*, 34(4), 673-680. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2014.0998
- Hall, N., Birt, L., Rees, C. J., Walter, F. M., Elliot, S., Ritchie, M.& Rubin, G. (2016).
 Concerns, perceived need and competing priorities: a qualitative exploration of decision-making and non-participation in a population-based flexible sigmoidoscopy screening programme to prevent colorectal cancer. *BMJ open*, 6(11), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-012304
- Hibbard, J., Green, J., Sacks, R., & Overton, V. (2015). Does compensating primary care providers to produce higher quality make them more or less patient centric? *Medical Care Research and Review*, 481-495.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1077558715586291
- Hong, Y. R., Tauscher, J., & Cardel, M. (2018). Distrust in health care and cultural factors are associated with uptake of colorectal cancer screening in Hispanic and Asian Americans. *Cancer*, 124(2), 335-345. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.31052
- Ingram, R., Scutchfield, F. D., & Costich, J. F. (2015). Public health departments and accountable care organizations: finding common ground in population health. *American Journal of Public Health*, 105(5), 840-846. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2014.302483
- Kim, J., Young, L., Bekmuratova, S., Schober, D. J., Wang, H., Roy, S.& Chen, L.-W. (2017b). Promoting colorectal cancer screening through a new model of delivering rural primary care in the USA: a qualitative study. *Rural and Remote*

Health, 17(1), 4187-4187. https://doi.org/10.22605/RRH4187

- Kiviniemi, M. T., Klasko-Foster, L. B., Erwin, D. O., & Jandorf, L. (2018). Decisionmaking and socioeconomic disparities in colonoscopy screening in African Americans. *Health Psychology*, 37(5), 481. https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000603
- Klabunde, C. N., Shapiro, J. A., Kobrin, S., Nadel, M. R., & Zapka, J. M. (2015).
 Colorectal cancer screening in US seniors ages 76–84 Years. *Journal of Community Health*, 40(4), 769-779. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10900-015-9998-z
- Lampard, A., Jurkowski, J., Lawson, H., & Davidson, K. (2013). Family ecological predictors of physical activity parenting in low-income families. *Behavioral Medicine*, 39(4), 97–103. https://doi.org/10.1080/08964289.2013.802215
- Lewis, V. A., Fraze, T., Fisher, E. S., Shortell, S. M., & Colla, C. H. (2017). ACOs serving high proportions of racial and ethnic minorities lag in quality performance. *Health Affairs*, 36(1), 57-66. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2016.0626
- Lloyd, S. C. (2016). Novel solution to achieve "80% by 2018" Two-Man colonoscopy performed by primary care physicians with expert back-up: Compliance and capacity without diluting quality. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *34*(4), 544-544. https://doi.org/10.1200/jco.2016.34.4_suppl.544
- Mankaney, G., Rizk, M., Sarvepalli, S., Bongorno, J., Garber, A., Lopez, R.& Burke, C.
 A. (2019). Patient-Initiated Colonoscopy Scheduling Effectively Increases
 Colorectal Cancer Screening Adherence. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences*, 1-8.
 https://doi.org/ https://doi.org/10.1007/s10620-019-05584-9

- Manteuffel, M., Williams, S., Chen, W., Verbrugge, R., Pittman, D., & Steinkellner, A. (2014). Influence of patient sex and gender on medication use, adherence, and prescribing alignment with guidelines. *Journal Of Women's Health*, 23(2), 112-119. https://doi.org/ 10.1089/jwh.2012.3972
- Mast, M. S., & Kadji, K. K. (2018). How female and male physicians' communication is perceived differently. *Patient education and counseling*, 101(9), 1697-1701. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2018.06.003
- Mastrokostas, A., Gavana, M., Gkrizioti, M., Smyrnakis, E., Cholongitas, E., Benos, A.,
 & Haidich, A.-B. (2018). Discrepancies and misconceptions of perceived
 colorectal cancer screening barriers between primary health professionals and
 unscreened population. A comparative study in Greece. *Perspective, 23*(1), 67-76.
 https://jbuon.com/archive/23-7-67.pdf
- Mishra, M. K., Saunders, C. H., Rodriguez, H. P., Shortell, S. M., Fisher, E., & Elwyn, G. (2018). How do healthcare professionals working in accountable care organisations understand patient activation and engagement? Qualitative interviews across two time points. *BMJ open*, 8(10), 1-8.
 https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-023068
- Modi, P. K., Hollenbeck, B. K., & Borza, T. (2018). Searching for the value of accountable care organizations in cancer care. *Cancer*, 124(22), 4287-4289. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.31698
- Mogre, V, Johnson, N, Tzelepis, F, Paul, C. (2019). Barriers to diabetic self-care: A qualitative study of patients' and healthcare providers' perspectives *Journal of*

Clinical Nursing, 28, 2296–2308. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.14835

- Nathan, A. G., Marshall, I. M., Cooper, J. M., & Huang, E. S. (2016). Use of Decision Aids with Minority Patients: a Systematic Review. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 31(6), 663-676. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-016-3609-2
- Noble, D. J., Greenhalgh, T., & Casalino, L. P. (2014). Improving population health one person at a time? Accountable care organisations: perceptions of population health—a qualitative interview study. *BMJ open, 4*(4), 1-7. https://doi.org/ 10.1136/bmjopen-2013-004665
- Nyweide, D. J., Lee, W., Cuerdon, T. T., Pham, H. H., Cox, M., Rajkumar, R., & Conway, P. H. (2015). Association of Pioneer Accountable Care Organizations vs traditional Medicare fee for service with spending, utilization, and patient experience. *Jama*, *313*(21), 2152-2161. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2015.4930
- Phipps-Taylor, M., & Shortell, S. M. (2016). More than money: motivating physician behavior change in accountable care organizations. *The Milbank Quarterly*, 94(4), 832-861. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0009.12230
- Pineault, R., Provost, S., Borgès Da Silva, R., Breton, M., & Levesque, J.-F. (2016). Why Is Bigger Not Always Better in Primary Health Care Practices? The Role of Mediating Organizational Factors. *INQUIRY: The Journal of Health Care Organization, Provision, and Financing, 53*, 0046958015626842. https://doi.org/10.1177/0046958015626842
- Powers, J. S., & Keohane, L. M. (2018). Dual Eligibles: Challenges for Medicare and Medicaid Coordination. In *Value Driven Healthcare and Geriatric Medicine* (pp.

129-136): Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-77057-4 9

- Prince, M., Lester, L., Chiniwala, R., & Berger, B. (2017). Multitarget stool DNA tests increases colorectal cancer screening among previously noncompliant Medicare patients. *World Journal of Gastroenterology*, 23(3), 464-471. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v23.i3.464
- Rabarison, K., Ingram, R., & Holsinger, J. (2013). Application of situational leadership to the national voluntary public health accreditation process. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 1(26), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2013.00026
- Rowland, P., McMillan, S., McGillicuddy, P., & Richards, J. (2017). What is "the patient perspecitve" in patieint engagment programs? Implicit logics and parallels to feminist theories. *Health*, *21*(1), 76-92.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1363459316644494

- Shapiro, J., Rakhra, P., & Wong, A. (2018). The stories they tell: How third year medical students portray patients, family members, physicians, and themselves in difficult encounters. *Medical Teacher*, 38(10), 1033-1040. https://doi.org/10.3109/0142159X.2016.1147535
- Simmons, L., Wolever, R., Bechard, E., & Snyderman, R. (2014). Patient engagement as a risk factor in personalized health care: a systematic review of the literature on chronic disease. *Behavioral Medicine*, 6(16), 199-218. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/gm53
- Rowland, P., McMillan, S., McGillicuddy, P., & RIchards, J. (2017). What is "the patient perspecitve" in patieint engagment programs? Implicit logics and parallels to

feminist theories. *Health*, 21(1), 76-92.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1363459316644494

- Singal, A. G., Gupta, S., Skinner, C. S., Ahn, C., Santini, N. O., Agrawal, D.& Halm, E.
 A. (2017). Effect of Colonoscopy Outreach vs Fecal Immunochemical Test
 Outreach on Colorectal Cancer Screening Completion: A Randomized Clinical
 TrialEffect of Colonoscopy vs FIT Outreach on CRC Screening CompletionEffect
 of Colonoscopy vs FIT Outreach on CRC Screening Completion. *Jama, 318*(9),
 806-815. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2017.11389
- Slyne, T. C., Gautam, R., & King, V. (2017). Colorectal Cancer Screening: An educational intervention for nurse practitioners to increase screening awareness and participation. *Clinical Journal of Oncology Nursing*, 21(5), 543-546. https://doi.org/10.1188/17.CJON.543-546
- Wagner, E., LeRoy, L., Schaefer, J., Bailit, M., Coleman, K., Zhan, C., & Meyers, D.
 (2018). How Do Innovative Primary Care Practices Achieve the Quadruple Aim? *The Journal of Ambulatory Care Management*, 41(4), 288-297. https://doi.org/10.1097/JAC.00000000000249
- Wang, H., Qiu, F., Gregg, A., Chen, B., Kim, J., Young, L.& Chen, L. W. (2018).
 Barriers and facilitators of colorectal cancer screening for patients of rural accountable care organization clinics: a multilevel analysis. *The Journal of Rural Health*, 34(2), 202-212. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jrh.12248</u>
- Wang, L., He, W., Yu, X., Hu, D., Bao, M., Liu, H., Zhou, J., & Jiang, H. (2020). Coronavirus disease 2019 in elderly patients: Characteristics and prognostic

factors based on 4-week follow-up.*Journal of Infection*,80(6), 639–645. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jinf.2020.03.019+

Williams, D., Wyatt, R. (2015) Racial Bias in Health Care and Health: Challenges and Opportunities. *JAMA*.;314(6):555–556. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2015.9260

Part 3: Summary

Integration of the Studies

My three studies incorporated different social determinants of health as independent variables toward the same dependent variable-ACO success for CRC screening. Collectively, these studies provide a picture of how ACO structures and the characteristics of their attribution contribute to patient behavior. For instance, previous researchers have found disparities in compliance among people with health behavior recommendations based on age, race, gender, insurance coverage and the size of their providers' practices (Kiviniemi et al., 2018; Manteuffel et al., 2014). My results also found disparities based on age, race, insurance coverage, and practice size as defined by the number of patients. Additionally, the results showed that the number of providers may not affect provider influence due to the collaborative nature of ACOs. Gender did not influence performance in my study. However, the nature of my data was beyond individual patients and warrants further exploration at the individual level. One observation was that the number of patients in an ACO had a positive correlation to ACO #19 performance. A quantitative follow up with primary care physicians may provide more rationale for this phenomenon.

Broadly, the factors of my studies relate to the community and organizational levels of the SEM. This is in part because the MSSP public use file provided attribution level data rather than individual patient data. The policy level is nested in the rules and guidelines of ACO formation, participation in the MSSP ACO program, and other factors. As such, I recommend that future studies explore behavior and decision making at the individual level for patients and providers. This may provide more depth of understanding of the provider and patient relationship. Furthermore, exploring the specific strategies to influence behavior can also provide meaningful data for anyone engaged in influencing behaviors related to public health. Provider experiences to engage community members in their ACO attribution with varying social determinants of health has not been fully explored. Thus, there is an inability to replicate best practices for population engagement, which could improve health outcomes, participant experiences, lower costs, and improve job satisfaction.

The social change contributions for my studies may offer meaningful data to public health organization and health care provider partnerships. They may help decrease the prevalence of CRC and by doing so reduce the economic and quality of life burden for individuals suffering from the disease. Moreover, my studies may help to reduce disparities for CRC screening, incidence of CRC, and other poor health outcomes among vulnerable populations, thus improving the well-being of communities and increasing public health emergency preparedness. My studies may also offer guidance to both public health and healthcare provider leaders on ways to train professionals better, reduce frustration, improve success, and achieve higher levels of satisfaction in their work both in routine interventions and public health emergencies.

Conclusion

Health care delivery and public health have overlapping efforts like health screening activities for better health outcomes and lowering the burden of disease (Cunningham et al., 2020). Partnerships between community-based organizations, health care delivery, and public health organizations improve public health outcomes. The MSSP ACO is a partnership-based advanced payment model designed to curb cost and improve patient outcomes for colon cancer among other disease measures. However, more research is needed to determine the impact of MSSP ACO providers on CRC screening. Additionally, studies have also shown that patient behavior is the key to improve quality and health outcomes (Mogre et al., 2019).

My quantitative study of 140 ACO participants sought to determine the relationship between patient attribution and provider characteristics with performance measure for colonoscopy screening ACO #19 compliance. My findings correlate with previous research. My results showed that the number of primary care physicians in an ACO did not influence their ACO #19 score. Thus, primary care provider participation and collaboratoin in an ACO may mediate some of the contraints found in other studies on practice size and ACO performance. I found that ACOs with more patients performed better. However, performance declined as the number and percentage of non-White patients increased. This aligned with previous research that showed disparities across socioeconomic and racial/ethnic groups. I found further differences in performance based on age. Performance increased for ACOs with more patients between the age of 65-85 years old and declined with higher numbers of patients below 65 years old and over 85.

My study also found that performance decreased as the number and percentage of Medicaid patients increased. This aligned with previous research that showed ACOs in underserved or lower socioeconomic areas did not perform as well as their peers in other areas. My results did not show a difference in performance based on the gender of the ACO population.

My study addressed the gap in research and focused on providers' abilities to influence APM participant behavior. The research contributes to positive social change by providing meaningful data to public health partnerships that impact community health outcomes. Thus, the application of my findings can improve the ability of public health and healthcare providers to influence the behaviors and health outcomes of the community members they serve.

References

Alsayid, M., Tlimat, N. M., Spigner, C., & Dimaano, C. (2019). Perceptions of colorectal cancer screening in the Arab American community: A pilot study. *Primary Health Care Research & Development, 20* (e90), 1-5. *https://doi.org/10.1017/S1463423619000161*

Alspach, J. G. (2018). Implicit bias in patient care: An endemic blight on quality care. *Critical Care Nurse*, *38*(4), 12–16. https://doi.org/10.4037/ccn2018698

- Andrealli, A., Paggi, S., Amato, A., Rondonotti, E., Imperiali, G., Lenoci, N. & Radaelli,
 F. (2018). Educational strategies for colonoscopy bowel prep overcome barriers against split-dosing: A randomized controlled trial. *United European Gastroenterology Journal*, 6(2), 283–289.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/2050640617717157
- Ashktorab, H., Kupfer, S. S., Brim, H., & Carethers, J. M. (2017). Racial disparity in gastrointestinal cancer risk. *Gastroenterology*, 153(4), 910–923. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2017.08.018
- Bachman, A., Cohen, E., Collins, T., Hatcher, J., Crosby, R., & Vanderpool, R. (2018).
 Identifying communication barriers to colorectal cancer screening adherence among Appalacian Kentuckians. *Health Communication*, *33*(10), 1284-1292.
 https://10.1080/10410236.2017.1351274
- Bachrach, D., Bernstein, W., Augenstein, J., & Lipson, M. (2016, April). Implementing New York's DSRIP Program. *The Common Wealth Fund*, 1–34. https://www.commonwealthfund.org/sites/default/files/documents/___media_files

_publications_fund_report_2016_apr_1871_bachrach_implementing_new_york_ dsrip_v4.pdf

- Basch, C., Basch, C., Zybert, P., & Wolf, R. (2016). Fear as a Barrier to Asymptomatic
 Colonoscopy Screening in an Urban Minority Population with Health Insurance.
 Journal of Community Health, 41(4), 818–824. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10900016-0159-9
- Bekmuratova, S., Kim, J., Wang, H., Young, L., Schober, D. J., & Chen, L.-W. (2019).
 Clinic exploration of care processes to promote colorectal cancer screening in rural accountable care organization clinics: A qualitative case study. *The Qualitative Report, 24*(6), 1442–1459.https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol24/iss6/15
- Berenson, R. A., Burton, R. A., & McGrath, M. (2016). Do accountable care organizations (ACOs) help or hinder primary care physicians' ability to deliver high-quality care? *Healthcare*, 4(3) 155–159.

 Beverly, E. A., Worley, M., Prokopakis, K., & Ivanov, N. (2016). Patient-physician communication and diabetes self-care. *Journal of Clinical Outcomes Management, 23*(11), 509–518. https://www.mdedge.com/jcomjournal/article/146123/diabetes/patient-physician-

communication-and-diabetes-self-care

Bian, J., Bennett, C., Cooper, G., D'Alfonso, A., Fisher, D., Lipscomb, J., & Qian, C.-N.
(2016). Assessing colorectal cancer screening adherence of medicare fee-forservice beneficiaries age 76 to 95 years. *Journal of Oncology Practice, 12*(6), 670–680. https://doi.org/10.1200/jop.2015.009118

- Brenner, H., & Chen, H. (2017). Fecal occult blood versus DNA testing: indirect comparison in a colorectal cancer screening population. *Clinical Epidemiology*, 9, 377–384. https://doi.org/10.2147/CLEP.S136565
- Brittain, K., & Murphy, V. P. (2015). Sociocultural and health correlates related to colorectal cancer screening adherence among urban African Americans. *Cancer Nursing*, 38(2), 118-124. https://doi.org/10.1097/NCC.000000000000157 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4233019/pdf/nihms-593009.pdf
- Bromley, E. G., May, F. P., Federer, L., Spiegel, B. M., & Van Oijen, M. G. (2015). Explaining persistent under-use of colonoscopic cancer screening in African Americans: a systematic review. *Preventive Medicine*, 71, 40–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.11.022
- Burnett-Hartman, A. N., Mehta, S. J., Zheng, Y., Ghai, N. R., McLerran, D. F., Chubak, J., & Inadomi, J. M. (2016). Racial/ethnic disparities in colorectal cancer screening across healthcare systems. *American journal of Preventive Medicine*, 51(4), e107–e115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2016.02.025
- Carethers, J. M., Sengupta, R., Blakey, R., Ribas, A., & D'Souza, G. (2020). Disparities in cancer prevention in the COVID-19 era. *Cancer Prevention Research*, 13(11), 893–896. https://doi.org/10.1158/1940-6207.capr-20-0447
- Casalino, L. P., & Chenven, N. (2017). Independent practice associations: Advantages and disadvantages of an alternative form of physician practice organization.
 Healthcare, 5(1–2), 46–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hjdsi.2016.08.003

Casalino, L. P., Wu, F. M., Ryan, A. M., Copeland, K., Rittenhouse, D. R., Ramsay, P.

P., & Shortell, S. M. (2013). Independent practice associations and physician-hospital organizations can improve care management for smaller practices. *Health Affairs, 32*(8), 1376–1382. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2013.0205

Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. (n.d.). Shared Savings Program Accountable Care Organizations (ACO) PUF. Research, Statistic, Data and Systems, https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Downloadable-Public-Use-Files/SSPACO/index.html.

- Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. (2017, December). Accountable Care Organization (ACO) Measures. Physician Compare 2016, 1-8. CMS. https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Quality-Initiatives-Patient-Assessment-Instruments/physician-compare-initiative/Downloads/PC-PY-2016-ACO-Profile-Page.pdf
- Chablani, S. V., Cohen, N., White, D., Itzkowitz, S. H., DuHamel, K., & Jandorf, L. (2017). Colorectal cancer screening preferences among Black and Latino primary care patients. *Journal of immigrant and minority health*, *19*(5), 1100–1108. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-016-0453-8
- Chambers, J. A., Callander, A. S., Grangeret, R., & O'Carroll, R. E. (2016). Attitudes towards the faecal occult blood test (FOBT) versus the faecal immunochemical test (FIT) for colorectal cancer screening: perceived ease of completion and disgust. *BMC Cancer*, *16*, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-016-2133-4
- Chen, J., Mullins, C. D., Novak, P., & Thomas, S. B. (2016). Personalized Strategies to Activate and Empower Patients in Health Care and Reduce Health Disparities.

Health Education & Behavior, 43(1), 25-34. https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198115579415

Clark, R., McArthur, C., Papaioannou, A., Cheung, A., Laprade, J., Lee, L.& Giangregorio, L. (2017). "I do not have time. Is there a handout I can use?": combining physicians' needs and behavior change theory to put physical activity evidence into practice. *Osteoporosis International, 28*(6), 1953-1963. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs00198-017-3975-6

- Cole, A. P., Krasnova, A., Friedlander, D. F., McNabb-Baltar, J., Melnitchouk, N., Lipsitz, S. R. & Trinh, Q.-D. (2019). Recommended Cancer Screening in Accountable Care Organizations: Trends in Colonoscopy and Mammography in the Medicare Shared Savings Program. *Journal of Oncology Practice*, 15(6), 547-559. https://doi.org/10.1200/JOP.18.00352
- Coreil, J. (2009). Social and behavioral foundation of public health (2nd ed). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Craver, G. A., Gimm, G., & Hill, K. E. V. (2018). Understanding care coordination experiences in a state Medicare Medicaid Financial Alignment Demonstration. *Journal of Health and Human Services Administration*, 41(2), 196-236. https://jhhsa.spaef.org/article/1840/Understanding-Care-Coordination-Experiences-in-a-State-Medicare-Medicaid-Financial-Alignment-Demonstration
- Cunningham, S., Cunningham, R., Line, L., Patti, M., Bucher, M., Durnwald, C., & Srinivas, S. (2020). Safe Start Community Health Worker Program: A Multisector Partnership to Improve Perinatal Outcomes Among Low-Income Pregnant

Women With Chronic Health Conditions. *American Journal of Public Health*, 110, 836-839. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2020.305630

- DeJean, D., Giacomini, M., Vanstone, M. & Brundisini, F. (2013). Patient Experiences of Depression and Anxiety with Chronic Disease. A Systematic Review and Qualitative Meta-Synthesis. *Ontario Health Technology Assessment Series*. *12*(16), 1-33. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3817854/pdf/ohtas-13-33a.pdf
- Enard, K. R., Nevarez, L., Hernandez, M., Hovick, S. R., Moguel, M. R., Hajek, R. A., & Torres-Vigil, I. (2015). Patient navigation to increase colorectal cancer screening among Latino Medicare enrollees: a randomized controlled trial. *Cancer Causes & Control: CCC, 26*(9), 1351-1359. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10552-015-0620-6
- Essink-Bot, M. L., Dekker, E., Timmermans, D. R. M., Uiters, E., & Fransen, M. P. (2016). Knowledge and Informed Decision-Making about Population-Based
 Colorectal Cancer Screening Participation in Groups with Low and Adequate
 Health Literacy. *Gastroenterology Research and Practice, 2016*, 1-8.
 https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/7292369
- Foo, P. K., Frankel, R. M., McGuire, T. G., Zaslavsky, A. M., Lafata, J. E., & Tai-Seale, M. (2017). Patient and Physician Race and the Allocation of Time and Patient Engagement Efforts to Mental Health Discussions in Primary Care: An Observational Study of Audiorecorded Periodic Health Examinations. *The Journal of ambulatory care management*, 40(3), 246–256. https://doi.org/10.1097/JAC.00000000000176

Greene, J., Hibbard, J. H., & Overton, V. (2015). Large Performance Incentives Had The Greatest Impact On Providers Whose Quality Metrics Were Lowest At Baseline. *Health Affairs*, 34(4), 673-680. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2014.0998

Haider, A. H., Schneider, E. B., Sriram, N., Dossick, D. S., Scott, V. K., Swoboda, S. M., Freischlag, J. A. (2015). Unconscious race and social class bias among acute care surgical clinicians and clinical treatment. *Journal of American Medical Association Surgery*, *150*(5), 457-464. https://doi.org/10.1001/Journal of American Medical Associationsurg.2014.4038

Hall, N., Birt, L., Rees, C. J., Walter, F. M., Elliot, S., Ritchie, M.& Rubin, G. (2016).
Concerns, perceived need and competing priorities: a qualitative exploration of decision-making and non-participation in a population-based flexible sigmoidoscopy screening programme to prevent colorectal cancer. *BMJ open*, 6(11), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-012304

Hibbard, J., Green, J., Sacks, R., & Overton, V. (2015). Does compensating primary care providers to produce higher quality make them more or less patient centric? *Medical Care Research and Review*, 481-495.
https://doi.org/10.1177/1077558715586291

Hong, Y. R., Tauscher, J., & Cardel, M. (2018). Distrust in health care and cultural factors are associated with uptake of colorectal cancer screening in Hispanic and Asian Americans. *Cancer*, 124(2), 335-345. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.31052

Ingram, R., Scutchfield, F. D., & Costich, J. F. (2015). Public health departments and accountable care organizations: finding common ground in population health.

American Journal of Public Health, 105(5), 840-846.

https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2014.302483

- Kim, J., Young, L., Bekmuratova, S., Schober, D. J., Wang, H., Roy, S.& Chen, L.-W. (2017b). Promoting colorectal cancer screening through a new model of delivering rural primary care in the USA: a qualitative study. *Rural and Remote Health*, *17*(1), 4187-4187. https://doi.org/10.22605/RRH4187
- Kiviniemi, M. T., Klasko-Foster, L. B., Erwin, D. O., & Jandorf, L. (2018). Decisionmaking and socioeconomic disparities in colonoscopy screening in African Americans. *Health Psychology*, 37(5), 481. https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000603
- Klabunde, C. N., Shapiro, J. A., Kobrin, S., Nadel, M. R., & Zapka, J. M. (2015).
 Colorectal cancer screening in US seniors ages 76–84 Years. *Journal of Community Health*, 40(4), 769-779. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10900-015-9998-z
- Lampard, A., Jurkowski, J., Lawson, H., & Davidson, K. (2013). Family ecological predictors of physical activity parenting in low-income families. *Behavioral Medicine*, 39(4), 97–103. https://doi.org/10.1080/08964289.2013.802215
- Lewis, V. A., Fraze, T., Fisher, E. S., Shortell, S. M., & Colla, C. H. (2017). ACOs serving high proportions of racial and ethnic minorities lag in quality performance. *Health Affairs*, 36(1), 57-66. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2016.0626
- Lloyd, S. C. (2016). Novel solution to achieve "80% by 2018" Two-Man colonoscopy performed by primary care physicians with expert back-up: Compliance and capacity without diluting quality. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 34(4), 544-544. https://doi.org/10.1200/jco.2016.34.4_suppl.544
- Mankaney, G., Rizk, M., Sarvepalli, S., Bongorno, J., Garber, A., Lopez, R.& Burke, C.
 A. (2019). Patient-Initiated Colonoscopy Scheduling Effectively Increases
 Colorectal Cancer Screening Adherence. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences*, 1-8.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10620-019-05584-9
- Manteuffel, M., Williams, S., Chen, W., Verbrugge, R., Pittman, D., & Steinkellner, A. (2014). Influence of patient sex and gender on medication use, adherence, and prescribing alignment with guidelines. *Journal Of Women's Health*, 23(2), 112-119. https://doi.org/ 10.1089/jwh.2012.3972
- Mast, M. S., & Kadji, K. K. (2018). How female and male physicians' communication is perceived differently. *Patient education and counseling*, 101(9), 1697-1701. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2018.06.003
- Mastrokostas, A., Gavana, M., Gkrizioti, M., Smyrnakis, E., Cholongitas, E., Benos, A., & Haidich, A.-B. (2018). Discrepancies and misconceptions of perceived colorectal cancer screening barriers between primary health professionals and unscreened population. A comparative study in Greece. *Perspective, 23*(1), 67-76. https://jbuon.com/archive/23-7-67.pdf
- Mishra, M. K., Saunders, C. H., Rodriguez, H. P., Shortell, S. M., Fisher, E., & Elwyn,
 G. (2018). How do healthcare professionals working in accountable care organisations understand patient activation and engagement? Qualitative interviews across two time points. *BMJ open, 8*(10), 1-8.
 https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-023068

Modi, P. K., Hollenbeck, B. K., & Borza, T. (2018). Searching for the value of

accountable care organizations in cancer care. *Cancer*, 124(22), 4287-4289. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.31698

- Mogre, V, Johnson, N, Tzelepis, F, Paul, C.(2019). Barriers to diabetic self-care: A qualitative study of patients' and healthcare providers' perspectives *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 28, 2296–2308.https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.14835
- Nathan, A. G., Marshall, I. M., Cooper, J. M., & Huang, E. S. (2016). Use of Decision Aids with Minority Patients: a Systematic Review. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 31(6), 663-676. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-016-3609-2
- Noble, D. J., Greenhalgh, T., & Casalino, L. P. (2014). Improving population health one person at a time? Accountable care organisations: perceptions of population health—a qualitative interview study. *BMJ open, 4*(4), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2013-004665
- Nymo, L. S., Aabakken, L., & Lassen, K. (2018). Priority and prejudice: does low socioeconomic status bias waiting time for endoscopy? A blinded, randomized survey. Scandinavian journal of gastroenterology, 53(5), 621-625. https://doi.org 10.1080/00365521.2017.1402207
- Nyweide, D. J., Lee, W., Cuerdon, T. T., Pham, H. H., Cox, M., Rajkumar, R., & Conway, P. H. (2015). Association of Pioneer Accountable Care Organizations vs traditional Medicare fee for service with spending, utilization, and patient experience. *Jama*, *313*(21), 2152-2161. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2015.4930
- Phipps-Taylor, M., & Shortell, S. M. (2016). More than money: motivating physician behavior change in accountable care organizations. *The Milbank Quarterly*, 94(4),

832-861. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0009.12230

- Pineault, R., Provost, S., Borgès Da Silva, R., Breton, M., & Levesque, J.-F. (2016). Why Is Bigger Not Always Better in Primary Health Care Practices? The Role of Mediating Organizational Factors. *INQUIRY: The Journal of Health Care Organization, Provision, and Financing, 53*, 0046958015626842.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0046958015626842
- Powers, J. S., & Keohane, L. M. (2018). Dual Eligibles: Challenges for Medicare and Medicaid Coordination. In *Value Driven Healthcare and Geriatric Medicine* (pp. 129-136): Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-77057-4_9
- Prince, M., Lester, L., Chiniwala, R., & Berger, B. (2017). Multitarget stool DNA tests increases colorectal cancer screening among previously noncompliant Medicare patients. *World Journal of Gastroenterology*, 23(3), 464-471. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v23.i3.464
- Rabarison, K., Ingram, R., & Holsinger, J. (2013). Application of situational leadership to the national voluntary public health accreditation process. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 1(26), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2013.00026
- Rowland, P., McMillan, S., McGillicuddy, P., & Richards, J. (2017). What is "the patient perspecitve" in patieint engagment programs? Implicit logics and parallels to feminist theories. *Health*, *21*(1), 76-92.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1363459316644494

Shapiro, J., Rakhra, P., & Wong, A. (2018). The stories they tell: How third year medical students portray patients, family members, physicians, and themselves in difficult

encounters. Medical Teacher, 38(10), 1033-1040.

https://doi.org/10.3109/0142159X.2016.1147535

- Simmons, L., Wolever, R., Bechard, E., & Snyderman, R. (2014). Patient engagement as a risk factor in personalized health care: a systematic review of the literature on chronic disease. *Behavioral Medicine*, 6(16), 199-218. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/gm53
- Singal, A. G., Gupta, S., Skinner, C. S., Ahn, C., Santini, N. O., Agrawal, D.& Halm, E.
 A. (2017). Effect of Colonoscopy Outreach vs Fecal Immunochemical Test
 Outreach on Colorectal Cancer Screening Completion: A Randomized Clinical
 TrialEffect of Colonoscopy vs FIT Outreach on CRC Screening CompletionEffect
 of Colonoscopy vs FIT Outreach on CRC Screening Completion. *Jama, 318*(9),
 806-815. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2017.11389
- Slyne, T. C., Gautam, R., & King, V. (2017). Colorectal Cancer Screening: An educational intervention for nurse practitioners to increase screening awareness and participation. *Clinical Journal of Oncology Nursing*, 21(5), 543-546. https://doi.org/10.1188/17.CJON.543-546
- Wagner, E., LeRoy, L., Schaefer, J., Bailit, M., Coleman, K., Zhan, C., & Meyers, D.
 (2018). How Do Innovative Primary Care Practices Achieve the Quadruple Aim? *The Journal of Ambulatory Care Management*, 41(4), 288-297. https://doi.org/10.1097/JAC.00000000000249
- Wang, H., Qiu, F., Gregg, A., Chen, B., Kim, J., Young, L.& Chen, L. W. (2018).Barriers and facilitators of colorectal cancer screening for patients of rural

accountable care organization clinics: a multilevel analysis. *The Journal of Rural Health, 34*(2), 202-212. https://doi.org/10.1111/jrh.12248

- Wang, L., He, W., Yu, X., Hu, D., Bao, M., Liu, H., Zhou, J., & Jiang, H. (2020).
 Coronavirus disease 2019 in elderly patients: Characteristics and prognostic factors based on 4-week follow-up. *Journal of Infection*, 80(6), 639–645.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jinf.2020.03.019+
- Williams, D., Wyatt, R. (2015) Racial Bias in Health Care and Health: Challenges and Opportunities. *JAMA*.;314(6):555–556. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2015.9260